CHELTENHAM

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Notice of a meeting of
Audit Committee

Thursday, 29 January 2015
5.00 pm
Pittville Room - Municipal Offices

Membership

Councillors:

Colin Hay (Chair), Chris Nelson (Vice-Chair), Matt Babbage, Flo Clucas,

Dan Murch, David Prince and Pat Thornton

The Council has a substitution process and any substitutions will be announced at the

meeting
Agenda
1. APOLOGIES
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS
These must be received no later than 12 noon on the fourth
working day before the date of the meeting and must relate
to the specific matter for which this meeting has been
convened
4, UPDATE ON AUDIT WORK IN RELATION TO THE (Pages
WILSON ART GALLERY AND MUSEUM EXTENSION 1-124)
PROJECT
Report of the Chief Executive
5. ANY OTHER ITEM THE CHAIRMAN DETERMINES TO
BE URGENT AND REQUIRES A DECISION
6. DATE OF NEXT MEETING
25 March 2015

Contact Officer: Saira Malin, Democracy Officer, 01242 775153

Email: democratic.services@cheltenham.gov.uk




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 4
Page 1

Cheltenham Borough Council
Audit Committee — 29 January 2015

Update on audit work in relation to the Wilson Art Gallery and
Museum Extension Project

Relevant Cabinet Cabinet Member, Healthy Lifestyles — Clir. Rowena Hay and Cabinet
portfolio holder Member, Finance — Clir. John Rawson.

Accountable officer Andrew North, Chief Executive

Ward(s) affected All

Key Decision No

Executive summary At the Audit Committee meeting on 11 December 2014 it was reported that

the findings of a review into the overspend on the Art gallery and Museum
Extension project from forensic auditors at Grant Thornton was being
delayed because new information relating to expenditure on the project had
recently been brought to the attention of the Chief Executive.

It was resolved at the meeting that additional audit work be carried out to
investigate the new information to accurately determine the extent of the
project overspend and to explore any failures which led to its late reporting.

It was resolved that authority be delegated to the Director Resources to
consider what further work should be undertaken by Grant Thornton and/or
by Audit Cotswolds and to enter into contracts accordingly.

It was also agreed that the findings by Grant Thornton and Audit Cotswolds
be reported to Audit Committee as soon as possible.

Recommendations The Committee is recommended to:

1. To consider the Grant Thornton report (Appendix 2) including
their recommendations, to approve the CBC management
response and to make any additional recommendations that it
feels necessary

2. To consider the Audit Cotswolds draft scoping document
(Appendix 3) for their follow up review and to make any
additional recommendations that it feels necessary.




Page 2

Financial implications

The council has previously agreed budgetary provision to fund its share of
the Art Gallery and Museum Development project including the overspend
identified and reported to Cabinet and Council in February 2014.

The additional overspend has been validated and is included within the
Grant Thornton report

The Cabinet and Council will need to agree a budget to fund the
overspend and it is anticipated that this will be complete and incorporated
in the final budget proposal for 2015/16 to be agreed in February 2015.

Contact officer: Mark Sheldon,
Email: mark.sheldon@cheltenham.gov.uk,

Tel: 01242 264123

Legal implications

There are no legal implications arising directly from the report
Contact officer: Sara Freckleton
Email:sara.freckleton @tewkesbury.gov.uk,

Tel: 01242 295010

HR implications
(including learning and
organisational
development)

There are no direct HR implications to be resolved at this time.

Any HR implications arising from the completed supplementary review will
be reported to Audit Committee and where applicable addressed under the
appropriate existing HR operational policies.

Contact officer: Julie McCarthy
EMAIL: julie.mccarthy@cheltenham.gov.uk,
Tel: 01242 264355

Key risks

See risk template

Corporate and
community plan
Implications

The Art Gallery and Museum redevelopment project was identified in the
Corporate Strategy Action Plans in both 2012-13 and 2013-14 as an
improvement action to deliver the Council’s outcome “Arts and culture are
used as a means to strengthen communities, strengthen the economy and
enhance and protect our environment”.




1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

Page 3
Background

For many years the council retained the vision of an extended Art Gallery and Museum with high
quality display spaces to show off the council’s own superb collections and enable the town to
attract world class exhibitions and displays.

Prior to seeking tenders for construction the estimated cost of the project was £6.3m and full
Council agreed to underwrite costs to this level. However, when a contract was awarded to the
construction company, ISG, the budget was revised downwards to £5.6m owing to the apparently
keen tender price received. The outturn cost was eventually calculated at just under £6.7m,
£1.1m more than the revised budget and around £0.4m more than the originally anticipated cost.

Completion of the project was also considerably delayed; from an initial completion date of
September 2012 to the actual completion in October 2013.

This project should nevertheless be seen as a success, despite the outturn cost being more than
expected, because the overspend was largely due to unforeseen and unavoidable work in
developing the adjacencies between a heritage building and a contemporary building (this was
always a risk the council had to carry). The project also faced challenges which added time and
cost, such as the structural engineering contractor going into liquidation early in the life of the
contract, mistakes with concrete pouring which required removal and replacement and frequent
changes of key personnel within ISG. Though these are contractor risk items, the reality with a
large and complex project which involved over 1000 change requests during its lifetime is that the
burden is shared.

However, notwithstanding the well-publicised successes that The Wilson has achieved since
opening we do need to be very concerned that the arrangements for control and reporting of the
budget and of project timescales proved inadequate so that councillors (including the Cabinet)
and senior officers were taken by surprise on key issues; thus opportunities to take action to
recover time or reduce the overspend were missed.

Grant Thornton’s forensic auditors were asked to review the project and to report its findings; this
was due to happen at the Audit Committee meeting on the 11 December. Unfortunately the
publication of the report had to be postponed because new information on additional expenditure
had come to light at the last minute resulting in it not being complete for publication.

It is clearly unacceptable for an additional overspend to have been discovered at a late stage
which required additional investigation and explanation.

Following the December Audit Committee meeting GOSS Finance were asked to complete its
work on the accounts to determine the value of any outstanding financial commitments in relation
to the project . This additional expenditure amounts to £89,783.00, the GOSS finance team also
confirmed that this information had not been available in February partly because the Purchase
Order management system had not been used and some of the expenditure had been incorrectly
coded.

The Corporate Governance Group met with Grant Thornton on the 17 December and discussed
their report and the new findings. It was agreed that;

° Grant Thornton would be provided with a copy of the December Audit Committee report
and draft minutes so that they could consider the comments made by Members

o Grant Thornton would be provided with any additional information that they required to
complete the report, including data relating to the additional expenditure to enable them to
complete their review, once complete the report would be circulated to the AG&M Project
Teams Key Officers for sign off and comment before submission to Audit Committee

o Audit Cotswolds our Internal Auditors would carry out a further supplementary review based



Page 4

upon Grant Thornton’s findings and recommendations. The draft scope of the review is
attached and Members are asked to consider if they require any additional lines of enquiry
(Appendix 3).

. When their supplementary review is complete the findings and recommendations will be
reported to Audit Committee.

1.10 Grant Thornton completed their report on the 14 January which was circulated to the key project
team members for factual accuracy and comment. Any further information produced or brought to
the attention of Grant Thornton or the Council will be considered by Audit Cotswolds as part of
their supplementary report.

2.  Alternative options considered

21 Internal Audit could have undertaken the review and prepared a report but it was considered that
an external independent report would be more appropriate.

3. Consultation and feedback

3.1 The Grant Thornton report has, to date; included working with those involved with the project to
ensure accuracy and has been the subject of senior officer discussions and recent briefings. The
proposed further audit work will similarly involve appropriate consultations.

4. Performance management — monitoring and review

4.1 The proposed additional audit work will enable report back to this committee on all relevant
matters.

4.2  In due course the Council will need to set aside further budget to fund any additional overspend
not covered by the decision made on 14 February 2014.

Report author Contact officer: Corporate Governance Risk and Compliance officer
Email; bryan.parsons @cheltenham.gov.uk,

Tel; 01242 264189

Appendices 1. Risk Assessment

2. Grant Thornton’s review report into the Cheltenham Art Gallery and
& Museum project

3. Internal Audits Scoping Document

Background information 1. Report to and minutes of the meeting of full Council held on
14 February 2014

2. Report to and minutes of the Audit Committee meeting on the
11 December 2014




Risk Assessment Appendix 1
The risk Original risk score Managing risk
(impact x likelihood)
Risk ref. Risk description Risk Date raised Impact | Likeli- | Score Control Action Deadline Responsible | Transferred
Owner 1-5 hood officer to risk
1-6 register
If the council Chief 02/12/2014 | 2 4 8 reduce Identify and 29/01/2015 | Mark
does Executive agree the Sheldon
not fully identify final costs in
and relation to the
report any AG&M project
additional and to provide
costs on the Art a progress
Gallery report to Audit
and Museum Committee on
project (The the 29/01/2015
Wilson) then and report fully
there could to Council as
be a significant soon as
unidentified possible.
financial impact
If the council Chief 02/12/2014 | 4 4 16 reduce Identify and 29/01/2015 | Mark
does Executive agree the Sheldon
not fully identify final costs in

and

report any
additional
costs on the Art
Gallery

and Museum
project (The
Wilson) then
there could

be a significant
reputational
risk.

relation to the
AG&M project
and to provide
a progress
report to Audit
Committee on
the 29/01/2015
and report fully
to Council as
soon as
possible.

G abed



Explanatory notes
Impact — an assessment of the impact if the risk occurs on a scale of 1-5 (1 being least impact and 5 being major or critical)

Likelihood — how likely is it that the risk will occur on a scale of 1-6
(1 being almost impossible, 2 is very low, 3 is low, 4 significant, 5 high and 6 a very high probability)
Control - Either: Reduce / Accept / Transfer to 3rd party / Close

g abed



Page 7

° GrantThornton

Review of Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum project
dated 19 January 2015

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery &
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or
staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



Page 8

CONTENTS

1 Introduction 1
2 Executive summary 5
3 Background 14
4 Initial project budget 22
5 Appointment of contractor 25
6 Project progression and reporting 30
7 Financial reporting 43
8 Recommendations summary 63
© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



Page 9

APPENDICES

1 Reporting of project progression

2 Reporting of financial aspect of construction costs provided by Davis
Langdon

3 Summary of financial information contained within Davis Langdon cost

reports

4 List of documents provided

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



Page 10

EXHIBITS

1 Extracts of Davis Langdon reports showing the breakdown of project

costs
2 Unsigned final account agreement letter addressed to ISG from AECOM

3 Redacted Cheltenham Art Gallery and Museum Redevelopment - Project

Initiation Document (PID)

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageIUiElIM PROJECT 1

INTRODUCTION

INSTRUCTIONS

Grant Thornton UK LLP (Grant Thornton/we) have been instructed by Cheltenham Borough
Council (CBC/the Council), to prepate a report on the repotting of the financial aspects and
overspend relating to the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum (AG&M). Our work under these

instructions has fallen into the following areas:

1.1.1  a brief background in order to set out our understanding of events and provide readers

of the report with a context for the project (Section 3);
1.1.2  the initial project budget (Section 4);
1.1.3  the appointment of the contractor (Section 5);

1.1.4  how the project timeline progressed and how this was reported within CBC (Section 06);

and
1.1.5  the project's financial reporting within CBC (Section 7).

Recommendations are included throughout the report and are summarised in Section 8. Our

work is summarised in an executive summary in Section 2.

This report, has been confirmed as being factually accurate by the Project Sponsor and Project
Manager. We have not been able to obtain confirmation from the Project Senior User.
However, if further information is produced and brought to our attention after setvice of this

report, we reserve the right to revise our opinions as appropriate.
This work does not constitute an audit performed in accordance with Auditing Standards.

Except to the extent set out in this report, we have relied upon the documents and information
provided to us as being accurate and genuine. To the extent that any statements we have relied

upon are not established as accurate, it may be necessary to review our conclusions.

The report has been prepared using Microsoft Word and Microsoft Excel. The report may

contain minor rounding adjustments due to the use of computers for preparing certain

calculations.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP

Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



1.7

1.8

1.9

1.10

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@JS:EQVI PROJECT 2

RESTRICTION ON CIRCULATION
This report has been prepared for CBC and is confidential and should not be used, reproduced
or circulated for any other purpose, in whole or in part, without our prior written consent. Such

consent will only be given after full consideration of all the citcumstances at the time.
No responsibility is accepted to anyone other than CBC.

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REQUESTS

Whete a request is made to CBC ("You") under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 ("the
Act") or other legislation (including but not limited to the Environmental Information
Regulations 2004 ("the Regulations") which requites the disclosure of any information contained
in this report ("the Report"), it is agreed that You will promptly notify Grant Thornton, in
writing, of the request and consult with Grant Thornton prior to disclosing such information.
You also agree to pay due regard to any representations made by Grant Thornton and any
relevant exemptions which may exist under the Act or Regulations applicable to the information.
If subsequent to the above the information is disclosed in whole or in part the Authority agrees
that it will ensure that any disclaimer which Grant Thotnton has included or may subsequently

wish to include in the information disclosed is reproduced in full and in all copies disclosed.

DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Grant Thornton are external auditors to CBC. The audit engagement is led by Mr Peter Barber.
This review has been undertaken by the Forensic and Investigation Services team at Grant
Thornton who have been engaged with CBC under separate cover. No members of the external
audit team have been involved in the detailed work of this review or in the preparation of this

report.

To the best of our knowledge, we have no further connection with any of the parties involved

that would represent a conflict.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



1.12

1.13

1.14

1.15

1.16

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageIUi@M PROJECT 3

LIMITATIONS OF SCOPE
Our work is performed in our capacity as accountants. We do not opine on costing aspects

relevant to the role of a quantity surveyor.

We have not been instructed to review the tender process involved in the awarding of the
construction contract. This was a process undertaken by Davis Langdon, who were engaged by
CBC as quantity surveyors which included performing the tender process to appoint a

construction contractot.

There are gaps in the evidence provided to us which has limited our ability to opine on certain

areas. These include:

1.14.1 a signed copy of a tender acceptance form for the awarding of the construction contract

to ISG Pearce (ISG);
1.14.2 a copy of the Davis Langdon contracts with CBC;

1.14.3 a difference between CBC's and Davis Langdon's view of the impact of the appointment

of a new structural engineer (see paragraphs 6.20 and 6.21);

1.14.4 we have only been provided with copies of CBC Cabinet meeting minutes which were

specifically provided by CBC due to them containing reference to the AG&M project;

1.14.5 the Executive Sponsor retired from CBC on 28 March 2014. We had one phone

conversation the day ptior to his retirement;

1.14.6 the most recent external project manager from Davis Langdon has also retired. We were

able to have some email contact with this individual prior to their retirement; and

1.14.7 we have comments provided to CBC on our report from the Project Senior User but
have not been able to obtain formal confirmation of factual accuracy due to time

constraints.

We have not been instructed to review the additional works carried out on the AG&M relating

to the café and commercial spaces as this was commissioned separately to the main project.

Our work did not involve a comprehensive interview process with all members of the Council's

Project Team or those individuals within Davis Langdon who were involved in the project.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



1.17

1.18

1.19

1.20

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@JS:E@II PROJECT 4

Details of the individuals we have communicated with are set out at paragraph 1.17 and 1.19

below.

INFORMATION SOURCES
In producing this report, we have considered the documentation set out at Appendix 4. We
have also held conversations with individuals within CBC who were appointed to the following

roles:

1.17.1 Project Sponsor;

1.17.2 Senior User;

1.17.3 Finance representative;

1.17.4 Project Manager; and

1.17.5 Executive Sponsor (note that this individual retired from CBC on 28 March 2014).

The above roles are those as set out in the Project Initiation Document (PID) dated 11 August
2011. Itis noted that there was a suggestion in the Senior Leadership Team (SLT) meeting of 19
July 2011 that the Executive Sponsor should be listed as the Project Sponsor and the Project
Sponsor should in fact be the Senior User. This change has not been reflected in the PID. We
have therefore referred to roles throughout this report as per those set out in the PID provided

to us.

We have also held conversations with three individuals from Davis Langdon, the most recent
Project Manager (now retired), an Assistant Quantity Surveyor on the Project and a Director

from the cost management team.

FORMS OF REPORT

For your convenience, this report may have been made available to recipients in electronic as
well as hard copy format. Multiple copies and versions of this report may therefore exist in
different media and in the case of any discrepancy the final sighed hard copy should be regarded

as definitive.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



21

2.2

23

2.4

25

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageIUiBIM PROJECT 5

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Background to the AG&M project

A detailed background is set out in Section 3. We are informed by the Senior User that the
renovation of the AG&M was originally agreed at a budget of £6.3m with an anticipated
completion date of 27 September 2012. Following the award of the construction tender to ISG,

the cost was revised downwards to £5.6m.

The project was completed just over one year after the anticipated completion date and the
AG&M was reopened on 5 October 2013. The expected final cost of the project as at February
2014 was [6.7m, a total of £1.1m more than the revised cost of £5.6m. In November 2014, a
final account review was carried out including costs relating to the Design Phase and the
'Additional Works' on the commercial parts of the AG&M. This identified a further £89,000 of
unbudgeted expenditure on the total cost. We are advised by CBC that this additional costs will

be subject to a separate review by Internal Audit.

Project budget

Sections 3 and 4 outline the development of the project budget from March 2006 to the time
that ISG were awarded the construction contract. The project was initially outlined as a £4m
scheme (March 20006). This grew to £5m (April 2008) and then £6.3m (October 2010).
Following a tender process for the awarding of the construction element, the cost was revised
downwards to £5.0m in July 2011. This did not result in a discussion at the Project Team
meeting to formally reduce the budget of £6.3m. The reduction in expected cost was reported to
SLT in the Operational Programme board (OPB) programme highlight report in December 2011
but there is no record of a discussion of a budget reduction. The cost reduction was not

formally reported to Cabinet at this time.

The Project Team did discuss the impact of costs being below budget on HLF grant funding and
a risk was created in the risk register. A consideration of the HLF grant funding is outside the

scope of this review.

Davis Langdon undertook a number of cost variations to the project throughout the design stage
(see paragraph 4.3). We have seen no evidence that these variations were reported to and agreed

by Cabinet prior to a contract being awarded.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10

211

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@JS:EBVI PROJECT 6

Contract award

The tender process for the appointment of the construction contractor was undertaken by Davis
Langdon. Following the initial tender review, members of CBC and Davis Langdon attended
meetings with the shortlisted contractors and following these meetings we are informed by the
Senior User that the contract was awarded, by the then Cabinet Member for Culture and Sport,
to ISG. We are informed by the Senior User that this was a verbal process although we note
that Davis Langdon supported the decision to award the contract to ISG. The contract was

worth [4.3m (being the £3.7m quoted price plus a £600k contingency fund).

We have seen no evidence that, prior to the award of the contract, the decision to award the
contract to ISG was discussed and agreed within an SL'T' or Cabinet meeting. Neither have we
seen evidence of delegated authority being given to the Cabinet Member of Culture and Sport to

make this decision.

Discussion with the current CBC Procurement Officer noted that a tender acceptance form
should have been completed by CBC prior to a contract being set up. We were further informed
that as Davis Langdon undertook the tender process, the actual tender award report was
produced by Davis Langdon and it is therefore this document which required signature from
CBC. Therefore a CBC tender acceptance form was not required. We have been provided with
a copy of the Davis Langdon tender award report. However, the copy we have been provided

with has only been signed by Davis Langdon and has not been signed by representatives of CBC.

It is apparent that CBC's current contract rules do not set out the procedure requirements for
when a third party undertakes a tender exercise on behalf of the Council although we were

informed by the Procurement Officer that the contract rules are due for review.

Project timeline
Details of the timeline of the project are set out in Section 6. From an early stage, the project
encountered delays due to the removal of asbestos, the discovery of unknown basements and a

wall which was in poor condition. These items set the project back by around two weeks.

The project then encountered further delays due to the weather, a change in structural engineer

(following the collapse of Dewhurst Macfatlane), issues with concrete pouring and other on-site

issues.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP

Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



212

213

2.14

2.15

2.16

2.17

2.18

2.19

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageIUiEPM PROJECT 7

By April 2012, Davis Langdon were reporting that there was a concerning level of delay to the
project and by August 2012, Davis Langdon were reporting a delay of around 14 and a half

weeks.

Davis Langdon continued to report delays to the project until their last formal report was
completed in May 2013. The project was eventually completed in time for the opening on 5
October 2013.

Despite the various updates given by Davis Langdon on the timeline of the project, accurate and
precise information on the movement of the project deadline were not always reported in a

timely manner to the Project Team or SLT.

The Davis Langdon project manager sat on the Project Team and provided an update at each
meeting. The formal Davis Langdon reports which contained information regarding time details
and project finances were made available to the Senior User and the CBC Property Officer. The
Project Manager advised that the project update reports that they prepared for the Operational
Programmes Board (part of the SL'T) were based on the discussions which took place within the
Project Team meetings. These project update reports, once discussed with the Senior User and
approved by the Project Sponsor, were provided to and informed the SLT during their meetings.
The Project Manager advised that they were not aware that Davis Langdon were providing

written reports to the Council.

Project delays were not reported by the Project Sponsor or Executive Sponsor in any context to

the CBC Cabinet or Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Therefore the Cabinet Members of CBC were not fully informed of the project time delays

impacting the project and the reasons behind them.

Financial aspects of the project

Full details of the financial aspects of the project are set out in Section 7.

There are two elements to the financials of the project; the construction costs (being ISG's costs)

and the non-construction costs such as professional fees, fixtures and fittings etc.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



2.20

2.21

222

2.23

2.24

2.25

2.26

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@JS_EBVI PROJECT 8

Construction costs

Constructions costs were reported monthly by Davis Langdon as part of their formal project
update report. These reports continued until May 2013. It is noted that from September 2011
to December 2011, Davis Langdon also reported on the non-construction costs but this ceased

after December 2011.

In December 2011, Davis Langdon reported an increase in the total expected cost of £70,000.
This was due to an increase in professional fees and survey costs. This was not a use of

contingency but a fixed increase in expected costs.

In June 2012, Davis Langdon reported that the construction contingency budget was being used
at a rate in excess of what was anticipated and that, if the use of the contingency continued in

such a manner, it would be used before the project was due to finish.

Between February 2013 and May 2013, Davis Langdon reported that expected costs had further
increased and that by May 2013, ISG were predicting a final account of £5.17m. Davis Langdon

advised that CBC should make provisions to cover that expected amount.

It is noted that the Senior User emailed the Project Sponsor in both March 2013 and May 2013
with details of the overspend. We have seen no evidence that this information was
communicated further although note that the Project Sponsor informed us that at this time they
were heavily involved in the development of a new Charitable Leisure & Culture Trust and were

therefore less involved in the AG&M project.

The Davis Langdon reports were produced following discussion at the Construction Progress
Meetings (which were run by Davis Langdon) and were circulated to the attendees of those
Construction Progress Meetings. It is noted that the Senior User and the CBC Property Officer
for the project attended the Construction Progress Meetings and were therefore provided with
copies of the reports produced by Davis Langdon. The Senior User and CBC Property Officer

were both part of the Project Team.

Minutes of the Project Team meetings show that verbal updates wetre provided by the Davis
Langdon Project Manager. The Davis Langdon reports were not circulated at the Project Team
meetings. CBC's Project Manager provided SLT with an update based on discussions in the
Project Team meetings. None of the construction financial issues set out within the reports of
Davis Langdon as detailed within Section 7 of this report were found to be reported to the SLT,

Cabinet or Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



2.27

2.28

2.29

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageIUigM PROJECT 9

The Senior User informed us that they understood that a claim could have been made against
ISG for extension of time on the project which would have recouped some of the additional
spending. However, the potential for a claim was not reported to Cabinet or Overview and
Scrutiny Committee. There was mention in the Project Team meeting of 13 June 2012 that "7
ISG are at fault for the delay, CBC are entitled to predefined damages”. Mention of a possible claim was
also presented in an update report to the SLT at their meeting of 19 June 2012 but this was the

only occurrence and the claim was not further discussed.

At a meeting of the Executive Board of 18 July 2013, the Senior User notes a potential claim for
extension of time of £160k with the potential for a further amount of £100k. This is the only

financial reporting evidence we have been provided with in relation to extension of time claims.

The final account with ISG was agreed at £4.78m and no claim was made against them for
liquidated damages. This was following input from CBC's legal team who advised that the likely
success of a claim would be minimal and that in pursuing a claim, ISG would also have likely
made a claim for extension of time costs. Had ISG been successful in their claim, the CBC legal
department advised that the cost to CBC would outweigh any potential recovery under a claim

made by CBC against ISG.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of

This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015
staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



2.30

231

2.32

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%@II PROJECT 10

Non-construction costs

In addition to the construction costs, the non-construction costs were overspent by some £594k

as follows:

Budget' Actual®  Variance
£'000 £'000 £'000
Architect fees 308 393 85
AECOM® 206 365 158
Dewhurst Macfarlane* 96 93 (3)
Buro Happold® 191 213 22
Other project management fees 72 99 27
873 1,163 289
Surveys 27 65 38
Fixtures, fittings and equipment 255 259 4
De/re-canting collection 150 211 61
432 535 103

Forecast additional costs
Prolongation fees - 17 17
Up-lift fees - 100 100
Re-canting expenditure - 85 85
- 201 201
TOTAL 1,305 1,899 594

We are informed by the Senior User that professional fees increased due to the appointment of a
new structural engineer and due to extension of time on the project. The de/re-canting costs
increased due to the pressute on CBC to re-open the AG&M on the agreed date of 5 October
2013.

The Project Manager informs us that it is unclear who had responsibility for the reporting and
monitoring of non-construction costs. The Project Manager notes that Davis Langdon initially
included information about non-construction costs in its reports, but that this ceased in
December 2011. We have not been provided with a copy of the contract with Davis Langdon
and the Project Sponsor and Senior User both inform us that it was not Davis Langdon’s
responsibility to report on non-construction costs. If the responsibility rested with CBC, it is

unclear who within CBC had responsibility for monitoring and reporting on these costs. We

I Refers to revised budget of £5.6m as we have not been provided with a breakdown of the original £6.3m
budget

2 February 2014 forecast outturn figures.
3 Quantity surveyor, project manager and structural engineer fees
4 Original structural engineer who went out of business, replaced by AECOM

> Mechanical and electrical engineers

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



2.33

2.34

2.35

2.36

2.37

2.38

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageILQElIM PROJECT 11

note that none of the variances in the non-construction costs have been reported throughout the

project to the Project Team, SLT, Cabinet or Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

It was not until February 2014 that the Cabinet were updated of the financial implications of the
project, some three months after the AG&M had re-opened. The agreement to a settlement

figure with ISG was signed by the Executive Sponsor on 4 March 2014.

Recommendations

A summary of our proposed recommendations is set out in Section 8.

The AG&M project was a large value, complex project. The project did not run to time and was

finished just over 12 months from the initial anticipated completion date.

The project encountered unforeseen problems throughout due to issues with the structural

engineers, contractor issues and the complexities of working within two existing structures.

It is apparent that there was a breakdown in communication of both the project timeline and the
varying financial aspects of the project between those working on the project on a daily basis and
the SL'T and members with CBC. The Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee were not
formally updated on either the timescale or financial aspects of the project. Furthermore, the
Project Team and SLT were not updated on any of the concerns over the financial aspects of the

project.

CBC has project management guidelines® in place which provide guidance on how to manage
different types of projects. This includes the requirement for the production of a Project
Initiation Document (PID). The PID for the AG&M project cleatly stated that the project was

to:

2.38.1 report formally every four weeks to the Operational Programmes Board (part of the

Senior Leadership Team (SLT) meetings);
2.38.2 be monitored on a quatterly basis by the SLT; and

2.38.3 be monitored every six months by the Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

¢ The Project management guidelines were last updated in November 2010

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



2.39

2.40

241

2.42

243

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%QVI PROJECT 12

In addition, the PID sets out that the Executive Sponsor and Project Sponsor have direct
responsibility for reporting to the Cabinet, Operational Programmes Board, Overview and

Scrutiny Committee and any fundraising bodies.

CBC therefore had requirements in place for how the project was to be monitored throughout

its lifetime.

Davis Langdon provided comprehensive monthly reports to CBC containing details of both the
project timeline and construction costs. The information contained within these reports
regarding delays to the project and concerns over the financial implications was not fully
communicated to the SL'T or members of the Council. CBC did not produce similar reports for
the non-construction costs and did not have clear allocation of responsibility for monitoring and

reporting of these costs.

With regard to communication within a project, it is recommended that all time delays and
financial variations to a large and complex project should be reported promptly and in full to the
relevant Project Team, SLT, Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings. The full
extent of delays should be explained and the opportunity given to raise questions. This is

addressed in Sections 6 and 7.

In additional to the lack of reporting, we have identified a number of areas throughout our

review which we feel should be addressed by CBC as follows:

2.43.1 the Project Initiation Document should be accurate and contain clear details of the

responsibilities of each proposed team which is to be involved within a project

(paragraph 3.8);

2.43.2 the requirements for attendance at Project Team meetings should be adhered to. If
relevant individuals are unable to attend, an approptiate person should attend in their
place or consideration should be given to rescheduling the meeting to ensure that the

requirements as set out within the PID are adhered to (paragraph 3.12);

2.43.3 if a decision is made not to undertake particular meetings as set out in the PID, this
should be discussed, agreed and formally minuted by those with senior responsibility for
a project. The implications of not undertaking such meetings should be considered and
an appropriate way forward, which ensures the formal updating of all relevant parties,

agreed (paragraph 3.20);

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageILQ@M PROJECT 13

2.43.4 full details of project budgets should be presented to and agreed by the SL'T within the
Council, retained on project files and used for financial management within the Agresso
Financial Management System (FMS). Any decisions made regarding these budgets

should be minuted and actioned appropriately (paragraph 4.14);

2.43.5 external meetings held with potential contractors should be minuted and these minutes

retained within the project files (paragraph 5.6);

2.43.6 the current contract rules should be updated to include the procedure to follow when a

third party undertakes a tender exercise on behalf of the Council (paragraph 5.9);

2.43.7 prior to awarding a contract, the decision should be discussed and agreed at an SLT and
Cabinet meeting or the appropriate delegated authority granted and documented
(paragraph 5.9);

2.43.8 tender acceptance documentation should be signed by all required parties. Copies of the

sighed documentation should be retained securely by the Council (paragraph 5.9);

2.43.9 the project risk register should be updated to include details of financial risk when

financial aspects of a project change (paragraph 5.11 to 5.18);

2.43.10 any mitigating actions outlined within the risk register should be followed or revised

should they no longer be deemed appropriate (paragraph 5.11 to 5.18);

2.43.11 key stages of any project, such as awarding a contract, should be discussed and

documented with Project Team meetings (paragraph 5.23);

2.43.12 consideration of incorporating a formal requirement to have all contract variations

agreed formally in writing with evidence of this being retained (paragraph 7.53 to 7.57);

2.43.13 consideration of thresholds over which the formal requirement to have all contract
amendments agreed formally in writing is applicable and whether other thresholds
should set out the requirement to have certain changes of higher value signed off

formally by more senior members of CBC (paragraph 7.53 to 7.57); and

2.43.14 the actual and projected expenditure to completion should be measured against the

detailed budget. Financial variances should be investigated and promptly reported

(Section 7).
© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%@II PROJECT 14

BACKGROUND

The AG&M project was principally managed from outside CBC by Davis Langdon (part of
AECOM), who were the project architects and quantity surveyors. As part of its role, Davis
Langdon produced monthly project reports (which included a financial report) and hosted
monthly construction progress meetings which representatives from CBC attended (see
paragraph 3.24). The Project Manager advised that they were not aware that Davis Langdon

were providing written reports to the Council.

There was also a team of people from within CBC who were responsible for managing the
project. There was an Executive Sponsor and Project Sponsor from CBC who were responsible
for reporting to the CBC Cabinet, the Social and Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee,
the Operational Programmes Board (part of the SLT meetings) and any funding bodies relating

to the project’.

The Project Sponsor informed us that theit "feve/ of involvement with the AGE*M Redevelopment Project
during 2013-14 was extremely limited" as their focus was on leading the creation of a new
'Charitable Leisure & Culture Trust' for the Council®. The Project Sponsor also stated that
during the first half of 2013, their work was focused on preparing the pre-qualification
questionnaite and subsequent responses for this new Trust’. The Project Sponsor then
informed us via a telephone conversation that it was really from the summer of 2012 that their
role started to become less involved due to the focus on the Charitable Leisure & Culture Trust.
The Project Sponsor stated that as a result they were absent from a number of SLT meetings and
Project Team meetings'® and that the Executive Sponsor had more of a role in leading the

project at this time.

The Senior User stated that they agreed that during the time that the Project Sponsor had less
involvement in the project, the Executive Sponsor took over the responsibility. This was
confirmed in a telephone conversation with the Executive Sponsor which took place prior to
their retirement. However, the Executive Sponsor did state that they only had detailed

involvement in the project in the later stages.

7 Project Initiation Document dated 11 August 2011, page 7
8 Email from Project Sponsor dated 7 August 2014
9 Email from Project Sponsor dated 6 August 2014
10 Email from Project Sponsor dated 6 August 2014

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



3.5

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALP@’Q‘@‘QB"‘" PROJECT 15

It therefore appears that there is a lack of clarity regarding who was managing the project

between the Project Sponsor and Executive Sponsor from the summer of 2012 onwards.

The PID (Exhibit 3) states at paragraph 5.1 that a Project Team was to be established which

consisted of:

3.6.1  Project Sponsor;

3.6.2 Senior Uset;

3.06.3  supplier representatives; and
3.6.4  Project Manager.

Paragraph 5.1 of the PID states that the above individuals were required to meet on a monthly
basis or "as wvaried by agreement'’. Paragraph 5.1 does not list who comprises of supplier
representatives, the organisation chart on Page 7 of the PID identifies a number of roles under
the suppliers block. Our review of the Project Team meeting minutes identified that some but
not all of this 'supplier representatives' group were consistently in attendance at the monthly

Project Team meetings.

The responsibilities of the Project Team or agenda to be discussed at such Project Team
meetings and who is required to attend are not clearly set out within the PID. We note below at
paragraph 3.16 that the Project Team appear to have taken over the responsibilities of the

Project Board.

Recommendation
If a Project Team is set out as a requirement to a project, the responsibilities of such a team and
a basic agenda for what should be discussed at their meetings and required attendees should be

set out within the PID.

The Executive Sponsor was not determined in the PID to be a requirement of the Project Team
meetings. However, the Executive Sponsor did take over the role of the Project Sponsor at the
later stage of the project. The Executive Sponsor and Project Sponsor were also directly
responsible for reporting to the CBC Cabinet, Social and Community Overview and Scrutiny

Committee and the SLT (see paragraph 3.2).

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



3.10

3.11

3.12

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%@VI PROJECT 16

Review of the Project Team minutes shows that the Executive Sponsor and Project Sponsor

were present at the following meetings:

Meeting Date Project Executive
number Sponsor Sponsor
1 4 May 2011 YES NO
2 8 June 2011 YES NO
3 11 July 2011 YES NO
4 10 August 2011 YES NO
5 19 September 2011 YES YES
6 12 October 2011 YES NO
7 9 November 2011 YES YES
8 14 December 2011 NO NO
9 11 January 2012 YES NO
10 8 February 2012 YES NO
11 14 March 2012 YES YES
12 11 April 2012 NO NO
13 9 May 2012 NO NO
14 13 June 2012 YES YES
15 11 July 2012 YES YES
16 8 August 2012 NO YES
17 12 September 2012 YES YES
18 10 October 2012 NO YES
19 14 November 2012 YES YES
20 12 December 2012 YES YES
21 9 January 2013 NO YES
22 13 February 2013 NO NO
23 13 March 2013 YES NO
24 10 April 2013 YES NO
25 8 May 2013 YES NO
26 10 July 2013 NO YES
27 14 August 2013 NO YES

The above table shows that on four occasions, neither the Project Sponsor ot Executive Sponsor
attended the Project Team meeting. The PID stated that it was a requirement for the Project

Sponsor to attend these meetings (paragraph 3.7).

As the AG&M project was a large and complex project, should the Project Sponsor have been
unable to attend, it is in our view that the Executive Sponsor should have attended in their place,
being an equivalent senior figure with direct reporting responsibilities. Had neither the Project
Sponsor nor Executive Sponsor been available for a meeting, consideration should have been

given as to whether the meeting should have proceeded or been re-arranged for another date.

Recommendation
The structure established by CBC for managing the project was appropriate. However, for
meetings to be effective, the requirements set out and agreed within a PID document in relation

to the personnel needed to attend project meetings should be adhered to.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



3.13

3.14

3.15

3.16

3.17

3.18

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageILQEPM PROJECT 17

If certain key individuals are not available, a suitable replacement should attend in their stead. If
this is not possible, consideration should be given to re-atrranging the meeting for a date when
the key individuals are available to ensure that the requirements as set out within the PID are

adhered to.

The PID also states that there was a Project Boatd to be established which was also required to

meet on a monthly basis!!. This included the same individuals as the Project Team but also the:
3.13.1 Cabinet Member; and
3.13.2 Buildings Project Manager.

The PID states that the Project Board will manage the project, including monitoring the business

case, agreeing any changes and signing off the project.

The Project Sponsor stated that the Cabinet Member changed in May 2012!2. This was nine

months after the start of the construction phase.

Our discussions with the Project Manager identified that the Project Board meetings were not
undertaken as the Project Team meetings covered the areas required by the Project Board. The
PID states that the Project Board will consist of the relevant Cabinet Member. The Project
Team does not have a requirement for the Cabinet Member to attend. In the absence of the
Project Board meetings, the Project Manager stated that the Cabinet Member did not attend the

Project Team meetings but was kept up to date by the Project Sponsot.

The Project Sponsor informed us that the process for updating the Cabinet Member was
through a verbal update on the Wellbeing & Culture Portfolio. These meetings were generally
held monthly!3.

The Project Sponsor also stated that the Cabinet Member was part of the AG&M Development
Trust (an external Trust which was set up for fundraising purposes for the AG&M). The Senior
User informed us that Development Trust meetings were held three or four times per year and
the Trust received an update from the Senior User on fundraising progress, the construction

process and the re-opening programme.

11 Project Initiation Document dated 11 August 2011, page 9
12 Email from Project Sponsor dated 6 August 2014
13 Email from Project Sponsor dated 6 August 2014

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



3.19

3.20

3.21

3.22

3.23

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%BVI PROJECT 18

We have not been provided with minutes from the Development Trust meetings.

Although it is noted in the PID that the Cabinet Member was required to be involved in the
project by attending Project Board meetings, the PID states that the responsibility for reporting
to the CBC Cabinet, the Social and Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the
Operational Programmes Board (part of the SLT meetings) and any funding bodies relating to

the project lay with the Executive Sponsor and Project Sponsor.

Recommendation

If a decision is made not to undertake particular meetings as set out in the PID, this should be
discussed, agreed and formally minuted by those with senior responsibility for a project. The
implications of not undertaking such meetings should be considered and an appropriate way

forward, which ensures the formal updating of all relevant parties, agreed.

The PID states that an update on the project was also required to report every four weeks to the
CBC Operational Programmes Board (which formed part of the SL'T meeting) and quarterly to
the SLT. As part of the Council's corporate strategy, the project was also to be tepotted every
six months to the Cabinet and Economy and Business Improvement and Scrutiny Committee!4.
We are informed by the Project Manager that the Economy and Business Improvement and
Scrutiny Committee and the Social and Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee were

disbanded from February 2012 and that a single Overview and Scrutiny Committee was formed.

The Project Manager also informed us that the Operational Programmes Board is part of the
SLT meeting, the project was therefore not reported separately to each but rather formed part of
the update to the Operational Programmes Board which was presented as part of the SLT

meeting.

The Project Manager informed us that they produced update reports to the Operational
Programmes Board based on the information that was discussed during the Project Team
meetings. Prior to an update report being submitted to the Operational Programmes Board, the
Project Sponsor was provided with a copy of the draft minutes electronically. We have been
informed the Project Sponsor would agree the content of these reports either verbally or by

email.

14 Project Initiation Document dated 11 August 2011, page 3

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



3.24

3.25

3.26

3.27

3.28

3.29

3.30

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageILQ@M PROJECT 19

Construction progress meetings

Davis Langdon held monthly construction progress meetings which the Senior User and CBC
Property Officer attended. The Senior User informed us that Davis Langdon produced their
monthly project update reports following these meetings and that copies of these reports would

be circulated to attendees of the construction progress meetings.

Project timeline
Discussions with the Senior User of the project noted that the original decision to redevelop the

AG&M was made sometime in 2004.

Minutes of the Council meeting dated 1 December 2003 state that Councillors agreed to a new
scheme at the AG&M to provide exhibition gallery space and artists' studio. The cost and scope
of such a development is not recorded. It is recorded that 70% of the proceeds from the sale of

a CBC owned building would be allocated towards the project.

Minutes of the Cabinet meeting of 29 March 20006 state at item 12 that a strategic review report
on culture in Cheltenham was discussed. This included the redevelopment of the AG&M. At

this meeting the Cabinet endorsed an outline £4m scheme for the redevelopment of the AG&M.

Minutes of the Cabinet meeting of 17 April 2007 state at item 7 that a report was provided on
the AG&M redevelopment. The report provided to Cabinet states that the project was still
estimated to be a [4m scheme and also set out aims for fundraising for the scheme. Fundraising

targets are not noted in this report.

Minutes of the Cabinet meeting of 15 April 2008 state at item 7 that a further update was
provided on the AG&M redevelopment. The report provided to Cabinet notes that the scheme
was now estimated at an outline £5m, a total of £4m for building costs and £1m for fees, fittings
and closure costs. The report states that a charitable trust had put forward a funding proposal
for a grant payment of £750k and that the proposal is on the condition that CBC commit an
additional £2m to the scheme (in addition to the sale proceeds from the CBC building noted in
paragraph 3.26). The Cabinet approved this decision. Additional fundraising targets or financial

requirements were not addressed.

The Senior User informed us that fundraising began in early 2008 in order to establish funds for

the project.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



3.31

3.32

3.33

3.34

3.35

3.36

3.37

3.38

3.39

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%@II PROJECT 20

Minutes of the Cabinet meeting dated 22 September 2009 included an update report on the
AG&M. This update report states that to date £3.825m had been raised towards the scheme
which equated to "approximately 70% of the funds needed to start construction”. This agrees with the

revised outline of £5m stated in the 15 April 2008 Cabinet meeting.

By October 2010, fundraising had reached £4.528m with an aim to raising a further £750k via a
Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) grant application'. It was reported in the Cabinet meeting of 26
October 2010 that CBC agreed to underwrite the project up to £922k (being a budget of £6.3m
less fundraising to date, less the potential HLF grant). Therefore at this stage, the project budget
had increased from £5m to £6.3m.

The Senior User stated to us that by March 2011 the HLF grant had been awarded and
fundraising had reached a total of [5.278m.

The AG&M closed to the public on 31 March 2011 in order that items could be removed and

put into storage prior to any building works commencing.

In July 2011, the main construction project was awarded to contractors ISG, following a
competitive tender exercise undertaken by Davis Langdon. This is further discussed in Section
5. Construction work began in August 2011 with an original estimated completion date of 4

October 2012.

Due to on-going project delays, the completion date was revised to 28 March 2013. Further

delays arose. This is discussed further in Section 6.

The AG&M, rebranded as "The Wilson', was officially re-opened to the public on 5 October
2013.

Project costs
The Senior User informed us that the original total project cost was budgeted at £6.3m but the

budget was then revised down to £5.6m as set out below.

From discussion with the Senior User, the original budget was said to include the construction

element (for which ISG were responsible), associated professional fees and other allowances.

1> Update on AG&M Development scheme presented to Cabinet — 26 October 2010

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



3.40

3.41

3.42

3.43

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEag@LSElIM PROJECT 21

Following the tender process, ISG anticipated a construction cost of £3.7m. Davis Langdon
advised to implement a [£600k contingency, bringing the construction cost total to [4.3m.
Professional fees and other allowances were estimated at £1.3m. This resulted in the downward

revision of the cost to £5.6m in August 2011 when the contact was awarded to ISG.

In addition to the project costs, a further budget of around £700k was set up for construction of
an on-site café, meeting rooms and the museum shop (Additional Works). This was subjected to
a separate tender exercise and was kept separate from the main project. This was because the

funding was reliant on CBC as fundraising was not available for the commercial spaces.

We have not been instructed to review the Additional Works. Including these works, the

original 'total' budget was £7m!'S, with a revision downwards of expected costs to £6.3m!7.

Project costs are discussed further in Sections 4 and 7.

16 £6,300,000 + £700,000 = £7,000,000
17 £5,600,000 + £700,000 = £6,300,000

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of

This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015
staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%QVI PROJECT 22

INITIAL PROJECT BUDGET

The AG&M had a PID which was first produced by the Project Manager in June 2011 and
finalised in August 2011. It was approved by the Project Sponsor and the Cabinet Member.
Page 6 of the PID sets out the anticipated cost of the project to be £6.3m of which CBC have
agreed to underwrite up to £922k. The PID does not set out the breakdown of the £6.3m
budget.

Discussions with the Senior User noted that the original £6.3m budget had been put forward by
Davis Langdon at some point in 2009/10. We have not seen a copy of anything produced by
Davis Langdon to support this figure of £6.3m. The Senior User informed us that this included
construction costs, professional fees and other allowances but did not include construction of

the commercial spaces as noted in paragraph 3.41.

The Senior User has provided copies of reports from Davis Langdon which set out cost
estimates at various stages of the design process. Extracts from these showing the breakdown of

costs can be found at Exhibit 1.

In summary these show the following:

Stage D Stage D Stage E

Rev A Rev B1 Rev 01

February July December

2009 2009 2009

£'000 £'000 £'000

Subcontractor costs 4,926 4,821 5,226
Professional fees 744 728 788
Allowances 779 531 539
6,449 6,080 6,553

The Senior User has informed us that the costs outlined in the February 2009 report of £6.4m
were subject to anticipated savings which brought the budget down to £6.3m. It appeats that
figure of £6.3m was not revised following the increase in potential costs suggested in the

December 2009 Davis Langdon report.

We have not been provided with documentation to show that the details of the suggested £6.3m
budget, or details of the Davis Langdon cost estimates produced were presented to any meeting

of the SLT within CBC.

The project costs were to be met by the fundraising activities, donations, sale of CBC assets plus

a cash amount underwritten by CBC.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



4.8

4.9

4.10

4.11

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageILB@M PROJECT 23

The Senior User informed us that fundraising commenced in 2008. By 2010, funding
commitments of £4.528m had been achieved's. A report on the AG&M project was presented
to the CBC Cabinet on 26 October 2010. This report set out details of a HLF bid for [750k
which, if successful, would go towards the project. The report also states that the HLF had set
out as the criteria for the bid for funding that CBC secures £5.55m in finances, of which CBC
underwrites £1.022m. The Cabinet minutes also note that since the update report was written a
further £100k had been secured (bringing the total raised to £4.628m) meaning that the amount

to be underwritten by CBC, against the budget of £6.3m, reduced to £922k.

During this Cabinet meeting, five options were presented for different approaches to the

AG&M project. In summary these were:

49.1 Option 1 — to close the AG&M on 1 January 2011 without knowing the outcome of the
HLF bid;

4.9.2  Option 2 — to close the AG&M on 31 March 2011 once the outcome of the HLF bid is

known;

4.9.3 Option 3 — to re-scope the project for a design costing £4.5m to fit in with fundraising

achieved to date;

494 Option 4 — to re-scope the project for a design costing £2.5m to fit in with CBC's

commitment to the project (through asset sales and commitments); or
4.9.5 Option 5 — to abandon the project.

The Cabinet agreed with Option 2. It was also agreed that the Council would underwrite up to a
maximum of £922k being the shortfall between the anticipated project costs and the funding

secured.

Discussion with the Senior User noted that the HLF grant for £750k was successful and was
awarded in March 2011. This brought the total raised to £5.378m with CBC underwriting the
remaining £922k.

18 CBC Cabinet meeting minutes dated 26 October 2010

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



4.12

4.13

4.14

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%@II PROJECT 24

Once the contract was awarded to ISG in July 2011, the total cost of the project was revised
down to [£5.6m. The Project Team did not formally discuss a reduction in the project budget
from £6.3m to £5.6m. The Project Team did consider the impact of the reduction in cost on
grants at the Project Team meeting on 19 September 2011 and an entry was created in the risk
register to address this. Consideration of any potential impact on the grant is outside the scope

of this review.

The reduction in the cost of the project was reported to the SLT in the OPB Prgramme
Highlight Report dated 1 December 2011. The Minutes of the SL'T meeting on 6 December
2011 do not record a discussion about the cost reduction or alterations to the budget but state

""T'he scheme is looking positive — on schedule and on budget. A clerk of works has been appointed".

There was no report of the cost reduction to Cabinet at this time. The cost of £5.6m was
included in a financial budget report to Cabinet dated 8 February 2013. The total budget
included in the document, which sets out budget proposals for 2013/14, is stated to have
originally been £6.3m but the total committed and future spend totals to £5.6m. The Council's
budget for the project remained at £6.3 million including within the Agresso financial

management system.

Recommendation

A project budget was set but details of the basis and composition of the budget should have
been made available to the SL'T within the Council. Such evidence should be retained on the
project files. The detailed budget composition should be reflected in the Agresso financial
management system. Details of all project budgets produced and significant changes in costs
should be presented to, discussed and agreed with the SLT at all stages throughout the design

phase of a project.

Any decisions made regarding variations to these budgets should be minuted and actioned

appropriately.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP

Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



5.1

52

53

5.4

5.5

5.6

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALP@@‘@L@@M PROJECT 25

APPOINTMENT OF CONTRACTOR

The tender process for the appointment of a contractor to the project was dealt with by Davis
Langdon. We have been informed by Davis Langdon that the exercise was undertaken under

OJEU procurement rules. We have not been instructed to review the tender process.

Davis Langdon stated that the tender process commenced with a pre-qualification questionnaire

and, following this exercise, five companies submitted tenders for the AG&M project.

We have been provided with a copy of a tender report prepared by Davis Langdon in July 2011.
The tender report suggested ISG be awarded the contract based on them achieving the highest
scores on a scoring matrix which considered both technical and economic aspects!®. The tender
submitted by ISG estimated construction costs at £3.73m?". Davis Langdon also recommended
a contingency be put in place for £600k for construction and other project cost movements?!.

Fees and other allowances were then budgeted at £1.177m, bringing the total cost to £5.507m as

follows:
£'000
Construction costs 3,730
Contingency 600
Fees and other allowances 1,177
5,507

This 1s resulted in the project cost being revised down to £5.6m.

Davis Langdon sent a letter of intent to CBC dated 14 July 2011 outlining their support for the

contract to be awarded to ISG based on their achieved matrix scores.

Prior to a final decision being made, the Senior User stated that individual meetings were held
between CBC and the three shortlisted contractors. These meetings included the CBC
Procurement Manager who was in place at the time and the Cabinet Member for Culture and

Sport. CBC do not have minutes of these meetings.

19 Davis Langdon tender report dated July 2011, paragraph 1.2
20 Davis Langdon tender report dated July 2011, paragraph 1.1
2l Davis Langdon tender report dated July 2011, paragraph 1.5

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



5.7

5.8

59

5.10

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%BVI PROJECT 26

Recommendation
Where external meetings are held in discussion with potential tender candidates, in order to
ensure a record exists, details of the meeting should be formally minuted and retained within the

project files.

We are informed by the Senior User that following these meetings, and the letter of intent from
Davis Langdon, the Cabinet Member made a decision to award the contract to ISG. We are
informed by the Senior User that this was a verbal decision made by the Cabinet Member and

that the contract award was not discussed or agreed at any meeting of CBC.

Review of CBC's current contract rules showed that the exact requirements of the Council for
the procedure to follow when an external body has undertaken a tender exercise on CBC's

behalf has not been clearly defined.

We are informed by the current CBC Procurement Officer that the current contract rules are
due for review. We were also informed by the curtent CBC Procurement Officer that a 'tender
acceptance form' should have been completed for the awarding of the AG&M project to ISG.
We were informed by a member of the CBC legal department that as Davis Langdon co-
ordinated the tender exercise, they produced a tender acceptance report. We have been
provided with a copy of this report but this has only been signed by a representative from Davis
Langdon and not by any individuals within CBC. The document was required to be signed by

the Senior User, the Project Sponsor and the Cabinet member for Culture and Sport.

Recommendations
The current contract rules should be updated to reflect the process which must be followed if an

external body undertakes a procurement exercise on behalf of CBC.

It is our view that the suggestion for the awarding of any contract should be presented to,
discussed and agreed at an SLT and Cabinet meeting or appropriate delegated authority

discussed and granted. Any decision regarding delegated authority should be documented.

Tender acceptance documentation should be signed by all required parties. Copies of the signed

documentation should be retained by the Council.

On 14 July 2011, the Project Sponsor sent a letter to ISG explaining that they had been awarded

the contract. This confirmed a start date on site of 9 August 2011.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



5.11

5.12

5.13

5.14

5.15

5.16

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageILSEPM PROJECT 27

As the award of the contract does not appear to have been discussed at any meeting of CBC,
communication of the details of the cost risk of the project are not apparent. We have been
provided with a copy of the initial risk register attached to the PID. Resource risk 5.3 notes the
risk of the project being overspent. The proposed action states to "fransfer risk to building
contractor’ and to "manage contract change''. This risk was allocated a risk scotre of 12 (being made

up of an 'impact' score of four and a 'likelihood' score of three which gave it an amber rating.

We have also been provided with two interim risk registers which were produced during the
project. The first interim risk register dated 19 July 2011, states the same resource risk and
proposed action. The risk score is also still allocated as 12. The second interim risk register
dated 14 December 2012 showed that the risk score allocated to risk 5.3 had reduced to nine.
This is because the 'impact' scote had been reduced to three. This second interim risk register
also includes a new tisk at resoutce risk 5.4 which states "7f project costs are incompletely captured and
the project appears to be underspent against the HLE bid, then HLE may retrieve up to 12% of their grant”.
The mitigating action is to "ensure actual and projected costs are fully captured at all stages”. This risk was
allocated a risk score of four (being made up of an 'impact' score of two and a 'likelihood' score

of two which gave it a green rating.

Although this new risk is not directly addressing overspend, it is stating the importance of

capturing all actual and projected costs throughout the project.

We have also been provided with a copy of the final risk register produced as at August 2013

which includes the same information as the second interim risk register.

We were informed by the Project Manager that the project risk register was reviewed on a line by
line basis by the Project Team every quarter and also included as an agenda item at each Project
Team meeting. Review of the monthly Project Team minutes show that any considerations of
the risk register were recorded in the minutes. Any changes to the risk register were also

included in the project update reports prepared for the Operational Programmes Board.

Although the risk register was being reviewed and amended throughout the project, the risks
identified did not directly address where a cost risk lay directly with the Council and where cost

risks could have been allocated to the contractor.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of

This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015
staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



5.17

5.18

5.19

5.20

5.21

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%BVI PROJECT 28

We are informed by Davis Langdon that the contract was a standard JCT 2011 contract which
would have included a section stating where the financial risks of the project lie. Davis Langdon
informed us that the financial risks lies with the contractor provided no changes are made by the
client. The financial risk lies with the client if the client makes changes to the project. As we
have not been provided with evidence of any updates throughout the project to the risk register
regarding financial risk, we cannot asses if CBC were aware of where the financial risk lay

throughout the project.

We have been provided with a copy of the contract. This supports the view of Davis Langdon

with regard to where the financial risks of the project lay.

Recommendation
If financial aspects change throughout a project, the project risk register should be updated as
appropriate outlining where the cost risk lies. This information should then be reported upwards

to SLT and Cabinet through the next available formal update meeting.

Any mitigating actions outlined within the risk register should be followed or revised should they

no longer be deemed appropriate.

Initial Project Team meetings
Copies of the minutes from the monthly Project Team meetings have been provided. Monthly

meetings commenced on 4 May 2011.

With regard to the appointment of a contractor, it is noted that at a meeting on 11 July 2011,
contract tenders were discussed. It was stated that two contractors had been interviewed by the
Executive Sponsor, Cabinet member and the Project Team member responsible for Property.

The minutes state that a decision of who to appoint was due that week (minute item 4.1).

As noted at paragraphs 5.7 and 5.10, the contract was awarded to ISG on 14 July 2011. The
Senior User informed us that this decision was made verbally. We have seen no evidence that
this decision was discussed at a meeting of the Council prior to award. As stated in paragraph

5.9, we have not been provided with a copy of a tender acceptance form which has been signed

by CBC.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEag@LS@M PROJECT 29

522 We note that at the next meeting of the Project Team dated 10 August 2011, the awarding of the
contract to ISG is not minuted. There is therefore no recording of the decision process which
was followed to finally award the contract to ISG, prior to the decision being made. The first
mention of ISG in the minutes is at item 5.1.1 where it is stated that the Senior User had met

ISG on site the previous week.

5.23 Although it is acknowledged that Davis Langdon undertook the tender process, CBC was

ultimately responsible for making the decision of awarding the contract.

Recommendation
Key stages of a capital project, such as the awarding of a contract, should be discussed and
clearly documented within Project Team meetings. The rationale for awarding the contract and

the procedure followed should also be discussed and documented.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%g/I PROJECT 30

PROJECT PROGRESSION AND REPORTING

Initial work plan
Work on site commenced in August 2011. The project was planned to be a 60 week project with

a completion date of 27 September 201222,

Summary of progression of project deadline
We consider below the various deadline extensions imposed on the project. A summary
showing the progression of the project deadline as per the reports of Davis Langdon and

subsequent reporting within CBC is set out at Appendix 1.

Davis Langdon reporting

Davis Langdon provided regular meeting pack updates to CBC from the commencement of the
project. We have been provided with copies of these meetings packs dated from 4 September
2011 to 13 May 2013 (the date of the last report). These meetings packs include progress reports
on the project timeline which were produced by Davis Langdon. The Senior User has
confirmed that they received copies of all these reports. In addition, when the Senior User was
out of the office during November and December 2012, the Project Sponsor informed us that

they recetved a copy of the November 2012 report, but not the December 2012 report.

The Senior User also confirmed that the Property Officer of the project also received copies of
the reports. The Property Officer was part of the supplier representative group and the property

officer attended all but four of the Project Team meetings.

It 1s also noted that the Davis Langdon project manager was present at the Project Team

meetings and had an opportunity to update the Project Team and answer any relevant queries.

Extension of deadline to 18 October 2012

On 4 November 2011, Davis Langdon reported a provisional deadline extension of three weeks.
This was due to delays with the removal of additional asbestos, unknown basements within the
original buildings and a wall which was in poor condition and needed to be removed. Davis
Langdon report that these issues are all client risks and that the cost of rectifying will be down to

CBC. The contingency fund would be used.

22 Davis Langdon progress report dated 4 September 2011

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

6.11

6.12

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALP@@‘@%E]:'M PROJECT 31

Reporting to Project Team

At the Project Team meeting of 9 November 2011 it was reported that there had been a delay of
around two weeks (not three weeks as reported by Davis Langdon) to the project due to the
discovery of asbestos, a crack in a party wall and an unknown basement which needed to be

excavated and filled.

Reporting to SLT

The project update report presented to the ST meeting of 6 December 2011 also notes that
there is a two week extension to the deadline (not three weeks as stated by Davis Langdon). Itis
noted at item 1 of the 6 December 2011 SLT minutes that the project is reported to be "oz
schedule and on budget’”. As a two week delay was included in the project update report, it is

assumed that reference to being 'on schedule' means to the revised deadline.

At the SLT meeting of 3 January 2012, item 2.5 states that the Project Sponsor had advised of a
delay to the project with regard to asbestos. The project update report provided to the SLT does
state a revised deadline of 18 October 2012 (as stated by Davis Langdon in their report of 4
November 2011).

At the next SLT meeting of 31 January 2012, item 1 notes that the project is "on schedule”. 1t is

assumed that as the delay was reported, the reference to 'on schedule' is against the revised

deadline.

Extension of deadline to 8 November 2012

On 3 February 2012, Davis Langdon reported a provisional deadline extension of a further three
weeks. This additional three weeks was their view of an extension, due to delays relating to a
crane towet, drawing submissions and cold weather. The Davis Langdon report states that ISG
were only reporting a two week delay at this stage. It is stated by Davis Langdon that although
these issues were contractor risks, there were also other client risks which had occurred which
could be claimed to have led to the delay such as drawing changes, structural engineer issues and

ICT changes.

It was also reported by Davis Langdon on 3 February 2012 that there had been a critical
downturn in the performance of the structural engineer, Dewhurst Macfarlane. This was due to
the project consultant leaving Dewhurst Macfarlane on 27 January 2012 and they had not been
replaced. The report states that no design queties had been answered since the consultant's
departure and hence the project was proceeding without the structural engineer fulfilling their

role. An urgent resolution to this is also noted in the 'key actions' section of the progtess repott.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



6.13

6.14

6.15

6.16

6.17

6.18

6.19

6.20

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%QVI PROJECT 32

On 7 March 2012, Davis Langdon reported that AECOM has been appointed to replace
Dewhurst Macfarlane as the structural engineers. Davis Langdon report that there is a risk
further delay would be incurred due to this changeover but that AECOM were working to

produce new calculations as required.

Reporting to Project Team
At the Project Team meeting on 8 February 2012, the issues with Dewhurst Macfatlane were
discussed and it was stated that a notice period of two weeks had been served on Dewhurst

Macfarlane for breach of contract.
The Project Team minutes do not make mention of the extended deadline to 8 November 2012.

At the Project Team meeting on 14 March 2012, it was noted that AECOM had replaced

Dewhurst Macfarlane as the new structural engineers.

The Project Team minutes do not make mention of the extended deadline to 8 November 2012.
Item 4.1.2 states thete would possibly be a progtamme delay but "as #o formal notification had been
received yet from 1SG, this cannot be officially reported’’. Whilst it is correct that ISG had not reported
an extension to the deadline, Davis Langdon had recommended that, in their view, there was
further delay to what was officially reported by ISG. It does not appear that this was considered

by the Project Team.

Reporting to SLT
The SLT meeting of 28 February 2012 at item 1 notes that there have been issues with the
concrete pouring but that the exact extent of the delay was yet to be confirmed. There is also

mention of the difficulties faced with the structural engineers.

Structural engineer

The Senior User informed us that the original structural engineers, Dewhurst Macfarlane, went
out of business in early 2012 and the new structural engineer AECOM was appointed by
February 2012. Davis Langdon undertook the procurement exercise to appoint the new

structural engineer.

Davis Langdon informed us that as a new structural engineer was appointed, the drawings and
work of the old structural engineer were not to be fully relied upon. Therefore elements of a
new structural design exercise were undertaken. This changed the structural design from that
initially set out by Dewhurst Macfarlane, upon which the award of the tender was based resulting

in changes to ISG's work.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



6.21

6.22

6.23

6.24

6.25

6.26

6.27

6.28

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALP@’Q‘@%@M PROJECT 33

However, the Senior User informed us that it was their understanding that there was no change
to the structural design initially and that any changes wete as a result of issues which are within
the existing main structures that only became apparent as work progressed. This is not the view

of Davis Langdon.

Project update — 5 April 2012
Davis Langdon reported on 5 April 2012 that the project was expetiencing a "concerning level of

delay" which could "pose a potential risk to the funding committed”.

The report states that as at 29 February 2012, ISG were reporting an eight week delay to the

programme.

The report of Davis Langdon also states that defect notices have been issued in relation to
concrete frames which were poured by a sub-contractor appointed by ISG. Davis Langdon also
note in the April 2012 report that a replacement sub-contractor had been considered by ISG and
that all parties are working towards mitigating the associated time delays. Davis Langdon also
note in the April 2012 report that there are delay risks in relation to the concrete pouring and

that these lie with the contractor as they appointed the sub-contractor.

Davis Langdon also noted in the April 2012 report that an extension of time claim is expected

from ISG due to the delays on the project.

Reporting to Project Team
Minutes of the Project Team meeting dated 11 April 2012 do not include the update from Davis

Langdon with regard to the concerning level of delay and the expected extension of time claim.
Item 4.1 notes that no notification had been received from ISG on the delay to the project.

Item 5.6 is part of the Davis Langdon project manager update. This states that the amount of
time lost due to delays could not be confirmed. This does not agree with details contained
within the formal report of Davis Langdon dated 5 April 2012 where it is stated that ISG are

reporting an eight week delay.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



6.29

6.30

6.31

6.32

6.33

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%@II PROJECT 34

Reporting to SLT

SLT meeting minutes dated 24 April 2012 note that the Project Sponsor updated the SLT on the
delays to the building work. The update report covering the period to 19 April 2012 noted that a
nine week delay was anticipated with a revised potential completion date of 20 December 2012.
The report also states that it is understood that ISG will bear the cost of this particular delay but
confirmation is awaited. There is no mention of potential extension of time claims highlighted
by Davis Langdon. These ate separate from the delays caused by ISG. However, the SLT
minutes do state that CBC are awaiting confirmation that there will be "no costs to bear by the

Council becanse of the delay".

Extension of deadline to 21 December 2012

It is again reported by Davis Langdon on 3 May 2012 that the project was experiencing a
"concerning level of delay” which could "pose a potential risk to the funding committed”. Davis Langdon
reported that a further delay had been incurred due to AECOM (the structural engineer) needing
to carry out additional design works beyond what was defined in the original scope. This was a
result of further analysis and subsequent works on site. It is stated that a fee proposal for this
was being prepared. Davis Langdon also note that they "fee/ it right to bring the risk of increased fees o

the Client's attention”".

Reporting to Project Team
The Project Team minutes dated 9 May 2012 note that it is reported that there is a delay to the
project of around nine weeks with a revised completion date of mid-December 2012. This was

also re-iterated in the project manager update.

There is no detailed record of a discussion at this meeting around the specific cost risks raised by
Davis Langdon but it is noted that some of the contingency fund had been set aside to cover
potential extension of time claims (four weeks at £9,000 per week) and extra works and risk

elements (£219,000).

Reporting to SLT

The SLT meeting minutes dated 22 May 2012 note that there is a delay to the project of "seven
weeks, not nine". The project update teport provided to SLT states that although the delay is nine
weeks, mitigating measures have been identified which may reduce the delay by two weeks. A

revised deadline of 20 December 2012 is then stated.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



6.34

6.35

6.36

6.37

6.38

6.39

6.40

6.41

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALP@@‘@%@M PROJECT 35

Extension of deadline to 31 January 2013

On 6 August 2012, Davis Langdon reported a further delay to the project. This was due to the
on-going delays with the concrete pouring. As at 25 July 2012, ISG were reported to be running
14 and a half weeks behind schedule.

Davis Langdon also report that ISG have submitted a claim for extension of time for five weeks

and that Davis Langdon were analysing this.

Reporting to Project Team
The further extension to the deadline of 31 January 2013 is not included in the minutes of the

Project Team meetings of 8 August 2012 or 12 September 2012.

Reporting to SLT

The SLT meeting minutes of 14 August 2012 state that there is a delay to the building work with
a phased re-occupation planned from October 2012. The project update report presented to
SLT states a deadline of 20 December 2012. This does not agree with what Davis Langdon were
reporting which was a deadline for completion of 31 January 2013. Davis Langdon do not

mention a phased re-occupation.

The SLT meeting minutes of 11 September 2012 note that "overall project progress and the financial
picture is good". It is noted that the project update report provided at this meeting states that the
overall status of the project is 'amber'. The report continues to state the revised deadline as 20

December 2012.

Extension of deadline to 15 February 2013

On 10 September 2012, Davis Langdon reported a further delay due to ISG reporting a later
completion date of 15 February 2013. Davis Langdon note that this provided "/ittle confidence in
the Contractor to accurately report the progress of the works and when they will complete”. Davis Langdon go
on to state that they believe the rate of progress to be unacceptable and that they anticipate that

completion would not take place until March 2013 if further slips in the project are incurred.

Reporting to Project Team
The further extension to the deadline of 15 February 2013 is not included in the minutes of the

Project Team meetings of 12 September 2012 or 10 October 2012.

Reporting to SLT
The further extension to the deadline of 15 February 2013 is not included in the minutes or the

project update reports of the SL'T meetings of 11 September 2012 or 9 October 2012.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



6.42

6.43

6.44

6.45

6.46

6.47

6.48

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%BVI PROJECT 36

Extension of deadline to 28 February 2013
On 8 October 2012, Davis Langdon reported a further delay of two weeks due to ISG stating
that work in relation to ground floor slabs and birdcage scaffolding taking longer than

anticipated.

’

Davis Langdon note that this "further undermines the Contractor's ability to effectively manage the works".

They note again that they do not believe the project will be completed until March 2013.

Reporting to Project Team
The further extension to the deadline of 28 February 2013 is not included in the minutes of the

Project Team meetings of 10 October 2012 or 14 November 2012.

Reporting to SLT

The further extension to the deadline of 28 February 2013 is not included in the minutes of the
SLT meeting of 9 October 2012. The project update report presented to the SLT meeting of 6
November 2012 states that ISG had been unable to provide a date for expected handover of the
site. It is noted that the expected completion date within this update report remains at 20

December 2012 with an allocated 'amber’ status.

Email to Project Sponsor

On 19 November 2012, the Davis Langdon project manager emailed the Project Sponsor
attaching a copy of the latest project report. Within this email it is stated that the project was 22
weeks behind schedule with a projected completion date from ISG of February 2013. The Davis
Langdon project manager states that Davis Langdon believe that completion is more likely to be

at the end of March 2013.

Extension of deadline to 29 March 2013

On 6 December 2012, Davis Langdon teported a further delay based on ISG's revised
programme. Davis Langdon also note that ISG have not reported any further delay but they are
"doubtful as to the accuracy of this given works to critical areas haven't progressed to programme in the month".

Davis Langdon had therefore suggested a completion date of 29 March 2013.

Reporting to Project Team
Project Team minutes dated 12 December 2012 note at item 4.2 that possession of the building

would be given by 31 March 2013.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



6.49

6.50

6.51

6.52

6.53

6.54

6.55

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALP@@‘@%EPM PROJECT 37

Item 4.6 of the minutes state that the Executive Sponsor requested that a note was sent to
Cabinet and SLT explaining the complexities of the project. The minute states that the Project

Sponsor will undertake this. This is addressed below.

Reporting to SLT

The project update report provided to the SL'T meeting of 4 December 2012 stated that the
expected completion date had been revised to 18 February 2013. It is noted that the Davis
Langdon report containing their view of the deadline being 29 March 2013 was produced after
the SL'T meeting had taken place, although Davis Langdon had notified on 8 October 2012 of an
expected completion date of 28 February 2013 (paragraph 6.42).

The SLT meeting of 29 January 2013 notes that the Project Sponsor reported that the last two
months had been challenging with regards to the progress of the project. A slip in the timetable
had meant a revised soft opening date of August 2013. The project update report states a

revised deadline of 31 March 2013.

Reporting to Cabinet
The motion stated above for providing the Cabinet with a update is not included in the minutes

of the Cabinet meetings of 15 January 2013 or 5 February 2013.

Extension of deadline to 26 April 2013
On 8 February 2013, Davis Langdon reported a further delay to 26 April 2013 based on ISG's

revised programme which included works required to rebuild a wall.

Reporting to Project Team
The Project Team meeting of 13 February 2013 notes that full completion would not be
achieved by March 2013 and that some additional works would be carried out during April 2013.

No exact date for a revised completion date is stated.

Reporting to SLT

The SLT meeting minutes of 26 February 2013 note that "there were no real issues to report”. The
project update report stated that ISG had set a revised date for partial handover by 31 March
2013 with a full hand over by the end of April 2013. The expected completion date had been

revised to 30 April 2013 with an allocated 'ambert’ status.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



6.56

6.57

6.58

6.59

6.60

6.61

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%BVI PROJECT 38

Extension of deadline to 28 June 2013

On 13 May 2013, Davis Langdon reported a further delay based on ISG's revised programme
but that partial handover had been offered and agreed with CBC. No exact date for this is
stated. Davis Langdon stated that it was critical that this deadline was met in order to ensure the

new opening date of 5 October 2013.

Reporting to Project Team

The Project Team meeting minutes of 8 May 2013 show that the project was due to be
completed by the end of June 2013 with an opening date of 5 October 2013. It is noted that no
Project Team meeting was undertaken in June 2013. The next meeting was held on 10 July

2013.

Reporting to SLT
The SLT meeting of 23 April 2013 reports the expected opening date of October 2013. The
project update report notes that building work will not be completed until the end of June 2013

with an allocated 'ambet’ status. This is also reported at the SLT meeting of 21 May 2013.

Project updates post May 2013
We have been informed by Davis Langdon that no project update reports were completed after

the May 2013 report (report number 19).

The Senior User informed us that Davis Langdon ceased creating their formal reports from May
2013 which was the time a new Davis Langdon project manager took over the project. The
Senior User informed us that project updates from this time until the completion of the project
were verbal and that the Davis Langdon project manager also gave a verbal update at Project
Team meetings in July and August 2013. Review of the July and August 2013 Project Team

minutes show that the Davis Langdon project manager was in attendance and gave an update.

At the Project Team meeting of 10 July 2013, it is minuted that the Davis Langdon project

manager stated that:

6.61.1 ISG were originally due to complete their build programme by the end of June but that
had not happened. It is reported that work is still ongoing and there was a push to

ensure that access could be granted;
6.61.2 the staircase may not be finished until the third or fourth week of August; and

6.61.3 practical completion should be achieved by the end of September 2013.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



6.62

6.63

6.64

6.65

6.66

6.67

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALP@@‘@%@'M PROJECT 39

There are no financial issues recorded as being contained with the Davis Langdon project
manager update. Howevert, it is noted at item 3 of the minutes that options were to be discussed

regarding options for recovering damages. This is further explained at paragraph 7.82.

At the Project Team meeting of 14 August 2013, it is minuted that the Davis Langdon project

manager stated that:
6.63.1 areas of the AG&M were being handed over on a piece meal basis; and
6.63.2 ISG should finish on site by the end of October.

There are no financial issues recorded as being contained with the Davis Langdon project

manager update.

SLT meetings post May 2013
It is noted that the project update reports presented to SL'T meetings post May 2013 contained

the following information with regard to the completion date of the project:
6.65.1 meeting of 18 June 2013 — building work would not be completed until eatly July 2013;
6.65.2 meeting of 16 July 2013 - building work would not be completed until early July 2013;

6.65.3 meeting of 13 August 2013 — the building would be progressively handed back during
August 2013; and

6.65.4 meeting of 10 September 2013 - the building would be progressively handed back during
August 2013 and re-opening would be on 5 October 2013.

Verbal update meetings between the Senior User and Project Sponsor

We are informed by the Senior User that they held verbal one to one meetings with the Project
Sponsor regarding the progress of the project. These meetings were initially held on a weekly
basis and then monthly from around March/April 2013. The Senior User informed us that
during these verbal meetings aspects of the project timescale would be discussed, however, no

formal record was made of these meetings.

The Project Sponsor confirmed that verbal one to one meetings were held with the Senior User
but that from around the summer of 2012, these were not as focused on the AG&M project due

to the Project Sponsors other commitments regarding the 'Charitable Leisure & Culture Trust'

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



6.68

6.69

6.70

6.71

6.72

6.73

6.74

6.75

6.76

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%@II PROJECT 40

(see paragraphs 3.3 and 3.3). The Project Sponsor informed us that at this time, the Executive
Sponsor had taken over more of the management of the project and that the one to one
meetings with the Senior User were more focused on line manager aspects (as the Project

Sponsor was the Senior User's line manager).

Cabinet reporting
It is noted that none of the information with regard to time delays to the project has been

recorded in the minutes as reported to the Cabinet during the project duration.

Discussion of the final account was presented at the 11 February 2014 meeting. This is

discussed at paragraph 7.101.

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
It is noted that none of the information with regard to time delays to the project has been
recorded in the minutes as reported to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee during the project

duration.

Executive Board
We have been provided with a copy of the Executive Board minutes from 18 July 2013. The

Senior User noted that they had given an update report at this meeting,.

The minutes state that the contractors will not be finished on site until late September 2013 but

that partial possession had been acquired.

Project completion
The Senior User noted that in June 2013 a meeting was held between CBC, Davis Langdon and

ISG and partial possession of the building was agreed so that re-canting could commence.

The Project Team meeting minutes of 10 July 2013 state that completion had not been achieved
by June 2013 as anticipated. There is a note that the internal staircase would not be finished

until the third or fourth week of August 2013.

The Project Team meeting minutes of 14 August 2013 note that all work on site should finish by
September 2013.

ISG agreed a completion date of 30 September 2013 and this was reached. The AG&M then
officially re-opened on 5 October 2013.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



6.77

6.78

6.79

6.80

6.81

6.82

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageILSElIM PROJECT 41

Summary of the reporting of the project timeline
As set out above, the timeline of the project varied significantly throughout the life of the project

and resulted in the AG&M re-opening just over 12 months late.

Updates on the project timeline were regularly provided by Davis Langdon within their monthly
formal reports which clearly set out both what ISG were reporting as being the change in
deadline and also what Davis Langdon's view of this was. This gave a comprehensive evaluation
of the likely timescales of the project up to May 2013, when the last Davis Langdon report was
produced. The Senior User and CBC Property Officer were recipients of the Davis Langdon

reports.

The changes reported by Davis Langdon were not always relayed in a timely manner to the
Project Team or the SLT. They were not reported in any context to the Cabinet or Overview

and Scrutiny Committee.

The project was delayed due to a number of factors beyond the control of CBC. However, if
the exact extent of the time delay had been reported to the Project Team and SLT in a timely
manner it may have allowed individuals to question in more detail the extent of the delay and

report to Cabinet accordingly.

Cabinet and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee were not formally updated on the delays to
the project. Again, had this been undertaken, members would have been fully aware of the
reasons behind the delays to the project and may have had the opportunity to question any

aspects of the project which they saw fit.

It is appreciated that the Davis Langdon project manager was present at the Project Team
meetings but it should not have been the case that reliance was placed on them to verbally
reiterate what was already contained with the formal monthly report that had been prepared by
Davis Langdon prior to the meeting. It is in our view that CBC should have reviewed those
monthly reports and raised questions with the Davis Langdon project manager should the extent

of delays discussed in the Project Team meetings not agree to the formal report.

Recommendations
In line with the requirements set out for reporting within the PID, all time delays to a large and
complex project should be reported promptly and in full at the relevant Project Team and SLT

meetings. The full extent of delays should be fully explained and the opportunity given to raise

questions.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP

Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%QVI PROJECT 42

Project delays should also be reported promptly and in full at the next scheduled Cabinet and

Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings.

It must be ensured that any time revision to a project is communicated to the appropriate

persons immediately.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



7.1

7.2

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageILS@M PROJECT 43

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The original budget for the project? and the final anticipated costs at February 2014 are as

follows:

Budget Actual
Contract works £'000 £'000
ISG 3,730 3,880
Contingency 500 600
Settlement of account - 300

4,230 4,780
Client works

Architect fees - 393
AECOM?* - 365
Dewhurst Macfarlane® - 93
Buro Happold?® - 213
Other project management fees - 99
Professional fees and allowances®’ 752 -

752 1,163
Surveys 20 65
Fixtures, fittings and equipment 255 259
De/re-canting collection 150 211
Project contingency 100 -

525 535

Forecast additional costs

Prolongation fees - 17
Up-lift fees - 100
Re-canting expenditure - 85

- 201
TOTALS 5,507 6,679

Davis Langdon reporting

Davis Langdon provided regular meeting pack updates to CBC from the commencement of the
project. We have been provided with copies of these meeting packs dated from 4 September
2011 to 13 May 2013 (the date of the last report). These meeting packs include financial reports
which were produced by Davis Langdon. The Senior User has confirmed that they received

copies of all these reports. In addition, when the Senior User was out of the office during

2 Davis Langdon financial report number 1, dated September 2011

2+ Quantity surveyot, project manager and structural engineer fees

% QOriginal structural engineer who went out of business, replaced by AECOM
26 Mechanical and electrical engineers

27 £657k professional fees plus £95k fee allowances

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6

7.7

7.8

7.9

7.10

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%Q’_VI PROJECT 44

November and December 2012, the Project Sponsor informed us that they received a copy of

the November 2012 report, but not the December 2012 report.

The Senior User also confirmed that the Property Officer of the project also received copies of
the reports. The Property Officer was part of the supplier representative group and the property

officer attended all but four of the Project Team meetings.

The financial reports are consecutively numbered. All reports, from number 1 to 19, produced

in the above period, have been provided with the exception of financial report number 11.

Discussions with Davis Langdon noted that the financial reports produced by them in relation to

the construction costs are reliant on information provided by the contractor, ISG.

It is noted that the first four financial reports of Davis Langdon (September 2011 to December
2011) include a breakdown of the actual against budgeted cost for the whole project as noted
above in paragraph 7.1. The Client Wotks costs are noted in the Davis Langdon repotrt "are as
advised and confirmed by Cheltenham Borongh Council’. From January 2012, only the construction

costs were included in the financial reports.

The Davis Langdon report referred to below therefore only account for the reporting against the
construction costs from January 2012. After this date other costs were not formally monitored.
There was no clear responsibility within CBC for monitoring and reporting of these costs and no

overruns in these costs were identified by the Project Team.

Summary of financial information
A summary showing the progression of the financial implications highlighted by Davis Langdon

and subsequent reporting within CBC is set out at Appendix 2.

A summary of the financial information contained within the Davis Langdon financial reports is

set out at Appendix 3.

Increase of expected cost by £70,000 — December 2011

The Davis Langdon financial reports show that the total cost of the project was predicted to be
on budget ie [£5.507m (see paragraph 5.3) as at 31 October 2011. The next report dated 13
December 2011, reported an increase in the anticipated outturn cost of £70k to £5.577m. This
was an increase to the total budget, not the utilisation of the contingency fund, as the total

contingency fund of £600k was already included within the £5.507m figure.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



7.11

7.12

7.13

7.14

7.15

7.16

7.17

7.18

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALP@@‘@"‘S@M PROJECT 45

The increase of £70,365 was due to the following:

£
Increase in professional fees 158,365
Increase in survey costs 7,000
Allowance for additional fees (95,000)

70,365

This increase in budget is therefore related to the 'project costs' and not the construction costs.

Reporting to Project Team

The increase in the 'project costs' budget of £70k reported by Davis Langdon is not included in
the minutes of the Project Team meetings of 14 December 2011 or 11 January 2012. Minutes of
the 14 December 2011 Project Team meeting note at section 5.5 that "the contract budget is
unchanged”. This minute is attributed to the Davis Langdon Project Manager update. This does
not agree with the statement recorded in the Davis Langdon project update report which states

that the budget has increased by £70,365.

Reporting to SLT
The increase in budget of £70,000 reported by Davis Langdon is not included in the minutes or
project update report of the SLT meeting of 3 January 2012. Nor is it included in the minutes of

any SL'T meeting throughout the project.

Transfer of 'project contingency' to 'construction contingency'
The financial report of Davis Langdon dated 31 January 2012 states that the construction budget
has increased from £4.230m to £4.330m due a transfer of the £100k project contingency to the

construction budget.

Reporting to Project Team
The transfer of the £100k project contingency reported by Davis Langdon is included in the
Project Team minutes of 8 February 2012.

Reporting to SLT
The transfer of the £100k project contingency reported by Davis Langdon is not included in the
minutes or project update report of the SLT meeting of 28 February 2012. Nor is it recorded in

the minutes or project update reports of any SL'T meeting held throughout the project.

Contingency notification — June 2012
The financial report of Davis Langdon dated June 2012 (report number 9) reported that the

project had utilised 75% of the allocated construction contingency. The report states that this

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



7.19

7.20

7.21

7.22

7.23

7.24

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%BVI PROJECT 46

was 1n excess of the anticipated expenditure at that stage and that if contingency continued to be
spent at that level, the project would use its full contingency in advance of the work being
completed. Davis Langdon do not quantify any additional funds that may be requited should
this have happened. It is then recommended that a strict 'no change' policy is applied with

changes only being permitted where unavoidable.

Reporting to Project Team

The Project Team meeting minutes dated 11 July 2012 show that the figures incurred to date on
the contingency fund were stated (item 4.6). However, the concerns raised by Davis Langdon
about the utilisation of the contingency fund were not highlighted. There is no mention of the
possibility of the contingency being spent in full before completion of the project or the 'no

change' policy.

Reporting to SLT
The SLT meeting minutes of 17 July 2012 state that there are no issues to report with regard to

the AG&M.

Finance update — September 2012

The financial report of Davis Langdon dated September 2012 (report number 12) states that the
construction contingency has reduced by £10k due to significant structural changes occurring on
site. Davis Langdon also stated that costs associated with the changes would continue to
develop as further works were identified. Davis Langdon also report that they believe there to
be construction risks associated with the project and that there is a continued risk in relation to

items that have remained 'unpriced' by ISG.

Reporting to Project Team

The Project Team minutes dated 10 October 2012 state at item 5.4 that the contingency was
discussed. It is also reported that the figures quoted in the contingency are Davis Langdon

estimates as ISG had not provided actual figures.

Reporting to SLT

The SLT minutes or project update report presented on 6 November 2012 do not mention the

issues which Davis Langdon have raised with regard to the un-priced items from ISG.

The report does state that there is uncertainty about the contingency fund given the delays

incurred by ISG but this does not specifically relate to un-priced items.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



7.25

7.26

7.27

7.28

7.29

7.30

7.31

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageILSEPM PROJECT 47

Finance update — November 2012

The financial report of Davis Langdon dated November 2012 (report number 14) notes that
ISG's latest application for payment stated a projected 'final account' figure of £4.3m which
included £200k in relation to losses and expense claims. Davis Langdon have stated that they
have included a figure of £50k for such claims but state that although it is there opinion that ISG
are not entitled to such claims, it needs to be recognised that ISG were reporting that figure

internally and as such is a risk to the project.

Reporting to Project Team

Davis Langdon's views on the £200k loss and expense claims are not included in the minutes of

the Project Team meetings of 12 December 2012 or 9 January 2013.

Reporting to SLT

Davis Langdon's views on the £200k loss and expense claims are not included in the minutes or

project update reports of the SL'T meetings of 4 December 2012 or 29 January 2013.

Increase of expected cost by further £50,722 — February 2013

On 8 February 2013, Davis Langdon reported that the project was overspent by £50,722
compared to the revised budget of £5.577m (which was not reported to the Project Team or
SLT). This figure took into account a 12 week extension of time claim. Davis Langdon note
that the final cost position would not be known until some three months following the

completion date.

The cost manager report included in the 8 February 2013 report is dated January 2013 (report
number 16). This report notes that ISG were anticipating a final account figure of [4.7m, this
was £400k higher than the original £4.3m budget®. ISG are stated to have included a £450k
amount in the [4.7m total which was in relation to loss and expense claims. Davis Langdon

note this is significantly higher than the amounts reported in the previous month.

Davis Langdon also state that although they are of the opinion that ISG are not entitled to such
claims, the cost of these claims remains a risk to the project as ISG were reporting them

internally.

Davis Langdon also note that ISG had only priced 73% of all known change items to date and as
such 27% of the change items are stated at the budget cost and not the actual cost. Davis

Langdon note that there is also a cost risk associated with these items.

28 [3.7m contract price plus £600k contingency

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



7.32

7.33

7.34

7.35

7.36

7.37

7.38

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%BVI PROJECT 48

Reporting to Project Team
The increase to the project budget of £50,772 or the projected final account figure of £4.7m is
not noted in the Project Team minutes of 13 February 2013. Item 5.5 notes that the Davis

Langdon project manager reports a construction budget increase of £15k.

It is also noted that the meeting minutes from 13 March 2013 note at item 5.6 that the Davis

Langdon project manager reported that there were no changes to the project budget.

Reporting to SLT
The SLT meeting minutes of 26 February 2013 note that "there were no real issues to report”. The

project update report contains no details of the financial changes.

Increase of expected cost by £64,390 — March 2013

On 8 March 2013, Davis Langdon reported that the project was currently overspent by £64,390
(compared to the £4.330m? construction budget). Davis Langdon also stated that ISG were
predicting a final account of £5.1m (some £800k above the initial budget). Davis Langdon note
that they did not consider the final account figure to be accurate but state that provisions be put

in place by CBC to cover the amount.

Davis Langdon go on to state that the overspend of £64,390 accounted for a 12 week extension
of time claim but did not include an allowance for work associated with "#he No.57 wa//". This is
highlighted by bold and underlined text within the report. Davis Langdon also state that it is
their opinion that they predict a final cost of between £4.5m and £5.1m given the uncertainty
around cost and the extent of the extension of time claims made by ISG. Again this is

highlighted by bold and underlined text within the report.

The cost manager report included in the project update is dated February 2013 (report number
16). This includes the same detail as noted above. However, it does state that ISG application
for payment dated February 2013 predicted a final account figure of £4.8m. The project update
report includes a higher figure of £5.1m.

Reporting to Project Team
As noted at paragraph 7.33, the Davis Langdon project manager reported to the Project Team
meeting of 13 March 2013 that there had been no changes to the project budget. The increase in

the budget or potential final account figure is not included in the minutes of this meeting.

2 Original budget of £4.230m plus £100k contingency transferred. Total £4.330m (see paragraph 7.15)

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



7.39

7.40

7.41

7.42

7.43

7.44

7.45

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageILS@M PROJECT 49

Reporting to SLT
The SLT meeting minutes for 26 March 2013 state that an update report was noted in the
absence of the Project Sponsor. This update report does not contain any information with

regard to the increase in expected costs.

Correspondence with Project Sponsor
The Senior User emailed the Project Sponsor on 22 March 2013 to inform them of the projected
overspend reported in the March 2013 report. The Senior User notes the overspend of £64,390

and the prediction that the potential final cost could be in the range of £4.4m to £5.1m.

This information is not contained within meeting minutes or project update reports presented to

the SLT from March 2013.

The Project Sponsor has noted, as stated in paragraph 3.3, that during this time their focus was
on leading the creation of a new 'Charitable Leisure & Culture Trust' for the Council and as

such they were absent from a number of SLT and Project Team meetings.

Increase of expected cost by £133,590 — April 2013

On 4 April 2013, Davis Langdon reported that the project was overspent by £133,590 and that
ISG were still predicting a final account of £5.1m. The overspend of £133,590 is stated to
include the costs of the rebuild of the No. 51 wall. Again Davis Langdon state that although
they did not consider the final account figure to be accurate, provisions should be put in place to
cover the amount. Davis Langdon also again state that they predict a final cost of between £4.5

and £5.1m. This is highlighted by bold and underlined text within the report.

The cost manager report included in the project update is dated March 2013 (report number 18).
This includes the same detail as noted above. The cost manager report also notes that 32% of
change items to date were outstanding and as such they had been un-priced by ISG. Davis

Langdon note that there is a cost risk associated with these items.

Reporting to Project Team
The Project Team meeting minutes dated 10 April 2013 do not record that any increase in
budget was discussed or mention given to the projected final account of ISG. This is also the

case in the 8 May 2013 meeting minutes.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



7.46

7.47

7.48

7.49

7.50

7.51

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%@II PROJECT 50

Reporting to SLT
The SLT meeting minutes dated 23 April 2013 and corresponding project update report do not
record that any increase in budget was discussed or mention given to the projected final account

of ISG. This is also the case in the 21 May 2013 meeting minutes and project update report.

Increase of expected cost by £141,886 — May 2013

On 13 May 2013, Davis Langdon reported that the project was overspent by £141,886 and that
ISG were predicting a final account of £5.17m. Again Davis Langdon state that although they
did not consider the final account figure to be accurate, provisions should be put in place to
cover the amount. Davis Langdon also state that they predict a final cost of between [4.5 and

£5.17m. This is highlighted by bold and underlined text within the report.

The cost manager report included in the project update is dated April 2013 (report number 18).
This includes the same detail as noted above. The cost manager report also notes that 35% of
change items to date were outstanding and as such they had been un-priced by ISG. Davis

Langdon note that there is a cost risk associated with these items.

Reporting to Project Team

There was no Project Team meeting held in June 2013. The meeting of 10 July 2013 does not
include a discussion regarding the increase to the budget. This is also the case of the Project
Team meeting dated 14 August 2013. We are informed by the Senior User that Project Team
meetings did not take place after 14 August 2013. Project progress meetings, which had
commenced in June 2013, were held in their place. We have been provided with a copy of the

progress meetings minutes for the following:

Meeting Date

number

1 7 June 2013

2 21 June 2013
5 2 August 2013
6 19 August 2013

We have not been provided with minutes for meetings 3 and 4.

Review of the minutes that have been provided show that no financial information about the

costs of the project were discussed.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



7.52

7.53

7.54

7.55

7.56

7.57

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALPag‘@LﬁE:EM PROJECT 51

Reporting to SLT
The SLT meeting minutes dated 21 May 2013 and corresponding project update report do not
record that any increase in budget was discussed or mention given to the projected final account

of ISG. This is also the case in the 18 June 2013 meeting minutes and project update report.

Project change items
Throughout the project, Davis Langdon were reporting contract variations which included
architects instructions, confirmation of verbal instructions, miscellaneous items, claims and

provisional sums. These can be seen in Appendix 3.

The draft final account paper produced by AECOM dated 28 November 2013 showed the

following:
Overall Of which Of which
adjustment agreed pending
Description Number of £ £ £

changes

Provisional sums 17 (84,517) (84,517) -
Architects instructions 426 782,964 565,712 217,252
Variation log 589 180,022 23,487 156,535
Other cost issues/LE claim 11 848,730 11,144 837,586
1,043 1,727,199 515,826 1,211,373

The Senior User noted that each area of the project was allocated a provisional sum by Davis
Langdon and that if this provisional sum was thought to have been at risk of being exceeded due
to changes required, the Davis Langdon Project Manager would seek authority from CBC to go
ahead with the change. Any changes which were within the provisional sum were not required
to have formal agreement by CBC regarding the cost of the change as the total provisional sum

was not exceeded.

The Senior User also noted that due to the Project Sponsor spending less time on the project
due to their focus on the new Charitable Leisure & Culture Trust, it was agreed between the
Project Sponsor and senior User that the Senior User could authorise contract amendments up
to £10,000. Anything over this amount had to be agreed by the Project Sponsor. We have not

seen documentation to support this agreement.

The Senior User stated that contract amendments were almost always agreed verbally although
some were agreed by email. There was no requirement to retain formal evidence of the

agreement of the contract amendments.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



7.58

7.59

7.60

7.61

7.62

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%QVI PROJECT 52

Recommendations

There was an appropriate mechanism in place for Davis Langdon to manage contract variations
which were within the provisional sums and to obtain approval from CBC for those outside the
provisional sums. However, this was not recorded by CBC and therefore there is no document

trail showing the approvals by CBC of contract variations.

CBC should consider incorporating a formal requitement to have contract variations which
exceed provisional sums agreed formally in writing and the evidence of this should be retained

within the project files.

It should also be considered if a threshold over which this is applicable should be implemented
and whether other thresholds should set out the requirement to have certain changes of higher

value signed off formally by more senior members of CBC.

Correspondence with Project Sponsor

On 17 May 2013, the Davis Langdon project manager emailed the Senior User stating that the
project was forecasted to overspend by [£141,886. However, the email also points out that the
project is currently 23 weeks behind schedule and that ISG are forecasting a total cost of £5.17m
which was an additional £635k more than what had already been reported ie the total overspend

was predicted at £870k.

This email was forwarded by the Senior User to the Project Sponsor on 22 May 2013. The
Senior User points out that the project is overspent by £141,886. The email does not specifically
draw attention to the potential additional £635k of overspend predicted by ISG but it is noted

that the text states "please see the attached email below from [Davis Langdon] on budgets and progress”.

This information was not recorded as reported to the SLT as it is not contained within meeting

minutes or project update reports from May 2013.

The Project Sponsor has noted, as stated in paragraph 3.3, that during this time their focus was
on leading the creation of a new 'Charitable Leisure & Culture Trust' for the Council and as

such they were absent from a number of SLT and Project Team meetings.

Project updates post May 2013
We have been informed by Davis Langdon that no project update reports were completed after

the May 2013 report (report number 19).

30 Original budget of £4.3m compared to predicted final cost of £5.17m

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



7.63

7.64

7.65

7.66

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageIL@@M PROJECT 53

The Senior User informed us that Davis Langdon ceased creating their formal reports from May
2013 which was the time a new Davis Langdon project manager took over the project. The
Senior User informed us that project updates from this time until the completion of the project
were verbal and that the Davis Langdon project manager also gave a verbal update at Project
Team meetings in July and August 2013. Review of the July and August 2013 Project Team
minutes show that the Davis Langdon project manager was in attendance but it 1s not recorded

that any financial information was discussed at these two meetings.

SLT project update reports

At each SLT meeting, a project update report was presented. As part of this report, it is
consistently stated that the "Council has agreed to underwrite any funding gap up to a figure of £922k".
This was based on the difference between the original budget of £6.3m and the secured
fundraising of £5.378m (see paragraph 4.11).

When the project budget was revised down to £5.6m (some £700k less), the amount agreed to
be underwritten by the Council was not revisited. It is in our view that the Cabinet should have
been given the opportunity to discuss whether the agreed underwrite of £922k should have been
revised. This was not the case. Had the Cabinet been given this opportunity, it may have been
the case that the 'agreed' amount to be underwritten was also reduced by the same amount that
the project budget had reduced ie to £222k. Therefore, the reporting of the agreement of the
Council to underwrite £922k, although correct based on the original £6.3m budget, appears to
show that an agreement has been made to support the costs of the project if they were c.£700k
overspent (as the original budget had been reduced from £6.3m to £5.6m). If the Cabinet had
been given the opportunity to discuss the maximum underwrite amount and had deemed that
this should have been revised, this revised figure should have been that which was reported in

the SL'T project update repotts.

It is also noted that the project update reports contained details of the remaining project
contingency fund. This was presented in reports to SL'T at meetings between 22 May 2012 and
23 April 2013. From May to November 2012, the unassigned contingency fund reported to SLT
agreed to that reported by Davis Langdon. From December 2012 to April 2013, the project
report presented to SLT consistently reported that the "unassigned contingency fund stands at £,150%k.
Al unassigned contingency will remain allocated to the project until building works are fully complete & handover
is achieved". However, Davis Langdon were reporting that the contingency fund duting this
period was £nil. They report that it is their opinion that the contingency fund has been "fully

expended” on the project.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



7.67

7.68

7.69

7.70

7.71

7.72

7.73

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%@II PROJECT 54

Although it is acknowledged that the SL'T project update reports state that the unassigned
contingency fund will remain in the project, the statement could have been misleading to the

SLT as it was in fact Davis Langdon's view that no contingency fund remained.

Verbal update meetings between the Senior User and Project Sponsor

We are informed by the Senior User that they held verbal one to one meetings with the Project
Sponsor regarding the progtress of the project. These meetings were initially held on a weekly
basis and then monthly from around March/April 2013. The Senior User informed us that
during these verbal meetings aspects of the financial impact of the project would be discussed.

No formal record was made of these meetings.

The Project Sponsor confirmed that verbal one to one meetings were held with the Senior User
but that from around the summer of 2012 were not as focused on the AG&M project due to the
Project Sponsors other commitments regarding the 'Charitable Leisure & Culture Trust' (see
paragraph 3.3). The Project Sponsor informed us that at this time, the Executive Sponsor had
taken over more of the management of the project and that the one to one meetings with the
Senior User were more focused on line manager aspects (as the Project Sponsor was the Senior

Uset's line managet).

Cabinet reporting
It is noted that none of the information regarding the increase in the project budget has been

recorded as reported to the Cabinet during the project duration.

Discussion of the final account was presented at the 11 February 2014 meeting. This is

discussed at paragraph 7.101.

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
It is noted that none of the information regarding the increase in the project budget has been
recorded in the minutes as reported to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee during the project

duration.

Executive Board
We have been provided with a copy of the Executive board minutes from 18 July 2013. The

Senior User noted that they had given an update report at this meeting.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



7.74

7.75

7.76

777

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageIL@@M PROJECT 55

The minutes state that there was a potential liquidated damages claim of 33 weeks but that there
was a possibility that up to 13 of these 33 weeks could be subject to a counter claim. It is also
reported that the extension of time claim could amount to £160k and there was potential for a
further £100k on top of this. Following completion of the project, the Council did not pursue a

claim against ISG (see paragraph 7.82).

Project outturn briefing report

At a meeting of the Executive Board held on 28 November 2013, it was agreed that AECOM>!
were able to negotiate a settlement figure up to £4.8m for the final account figure for ISG. This
meeting was attended by the Chief Executive, the Executive Sponsor, the initial Project Sponsor

and the Senior User. The meeting was also attended by a Director and Quantity Surveyor from

AECOM.

The Quantity Surveyor noted that they had been able to certify £4.48m of the works but that it

was the opinion of AECOM that a realistic settlement figure was between [4.7m and £4.8m.

A project outturn briefing report dated January 2014, prepared by the Senior User, was
presented to the Cabinet at a meeting of 14 February 2014. This document states that ISG had
provisionally agreed to a settlement figure of £4.78m. We have been provided with a copy of an
unsigned final account agreement letter addressed to ISG from AECOM. This states that the
final sum will be £4.78m (Exhibit 2).

31 Note that at this time, Davis Langdon had merged with AECOM and were referred to collectively as
AECOM

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%B\II PROJECT 56

7.78 Excluding the additional works relating to the café and other commercial spaces, the outturn

report states the following as the project costs:

Davis Budget32 Actual Variance
Langdon
budget
Contract works £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
ISG 3,730 3,730 3,880 150
Contingency 500 600 600 -
Settlement of account - - 300 300
4,230 4,330 4,780 450
Client works

Architect fees - 308 393 85
AECOM® - 206 365 158
Dewhurst Macfarlane®* - 96 93 (3)
Buro Happold® - 191 213 22
Other project management fees - 72 929 27
Professional fees and allowances®® 752 - - -
752 873 1,163 289
Surveys 20 27 65 38
Fixtures, fittings and equipment 255 255 259 4
De/re-canting collection 150 150 211 61
Project contingency 100 - - -
525 432 535 1083

Forecast additional costs
Prolongation fees - - 17 17
Up-lift fees - - 100 100
Re-canting expenditure - - 85 85
- - 201 201
TOTALS 5,507 5,636 6,679 1,044

7.79 It is noted that this differs from the budget breakdown set out in the Davis Langdon financial

report as noted at paragraph 7.1 and we have therefore included this as a comparison.

32 Refers to revised budget of £5.6m as we have not been provided with a breakdown of the £6.3m budget
3 Quantity surveyot, project manager and structural engineer fees

3 Original structural engineer who went out of business, replaced by AECOM

3 Mechanical and electrical engineers

36 £657k professional fees plus £95k fee allowances

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



7.80

7.81

7.82

7.83

7.84

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageIL@EPM PROJECT 57

The funding in place for the project (excluding the works for the café and commercial areas) and

the resultant net shortfall is shown as follows:

Funds

raised

£'000

AG&M Development Trust 1,741
University partnership 60
Friends of AG&M 250
Other contributions 4
LAGBI grant 35
Heritage Lottery Fund 750
AG&M Capital & Reserve 2,459
Development Trust-TBP 100
5,398

Cost of project 6,679
Shortfall 1,281

Variance in construction costs

The reasons for the variances in construction costs are as set out in this Section of the report
(paragraphs 7.15 to 7.52). The settlement of the final account is as noted at paragraphs 7.75 to
7.77.

Potential for claim against ISG

The Senior User informed us that CBC had been advised by Davis Langdon of a potential claim
against ISG for extension of time damages, due to some of the delays encountered being at the
fault of ISG (such as the issues with the concrete pouring set out at paragraphs 6.18 and 6.24).
It was thought that had this been pursued some of the additional spending on the project would
have been recouped, reducing the overall project overspend. However, review of Project Team,
showed that the potential for a claim was not discussed in detail throughout the project. There
was mention in the Project Team meeting of 13 June 2012 that " ISG are at fault for the delay,
CBC are entitled to predefined damages”. Mention of a possible claim was also presented in an update
report to the SLT at their meeting of 19 June 2012 but this was the only occurrence and the

claim was not further discussed.

It is also noted that mention was made of a potential claim at the Executive Board meeting of 18

July 2013 (paragraph 7.73).

The potential for a claim against ISG was not shown as being discussed in the minutes of

Cabinet or Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



7.85

7.86

7.87

7.88

7.89

7.90

7.91

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@J%BVI PROJECT 58

On 28 November 2013, AECOM produced a draft final account paper. This set out that ISG's
current position was that they had incurred a cost £5,457,203 on the project (compared to an
original contract budget of £4.3m (£3.7m plus £600k contingency). It is noted that pending
'claim related items' amount to £837,586. AECOM go on to state that majority of un-agreed

items are contained within these claim related items.

AECOM state that it is their opinion that the likely outcome for the final account figure is
£4.7m being the original contract sum plus agreed variations and allowing a further £454,171 for
pending items and claim related items. In this document, AECOM do not opine on whether

CBC should putsue a claim against ISG for liquidated damages.

On 23 January 2014, a representative from CBC's legal services department emailed the CBC
Chief Executive, Director of Resources and Corporate Governance, Risk and Compliance
Officer providing advice on the perusal of a claim against ISG. The email states that ISG have
already agreed to a figure of £4.78m in full and final settlement of the matter, meaning that ISG

would not pursue a claim for any outstanding amounts.

The legal advice given is that although the Council are in a position to be able to claim for
liquidated damages, pursuing such a claim would be high risk due to the fact that ISG appear to
have a legitimate claim for recovering more costs, should the matter litigate, which would cancel
out any claim made by the Council for liquidated damages. It is noted that the actual quantum
for any potential for the Council to claim liquidated damages is not stated, however, it is

acknowledged that any claim would be lowet, if successful, than ISG's claim.

On 11 February 2014, a report was provided to CBC Cabinet regarding the final account
position with ISG. This report outlined that ISG had provisionally agreed to a figure of £4.78m
in full and final settlement of the matter. The legal advice regarding the pursuit of a claim
against ISG, the likelihood of success and the potential for ISG to also make a claim for

increased costs is outlined within the repott.

The Cabinet agreed that the sum of £4.78m should be put forward to settle the contract sum
with ISG and hence no claims were to be made. Delegated authority was given to the Executive

Sponsor to action this.

The final account agreement for [4.78m, stating that neither party would pursue additional

claims, was signed by the Executive Sponsor on behalf of CBC on 4 March 2014.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



7.92

7.93

7.94

7.95

7.96

7.97

7.98

REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageIL@@M PROJECT 59

Variance in fees®
As noted above at paragraph 7.78, professional fees are stated to be [289k over budget (or
£411k> over budget compated to the original budget set out in the first financial report of Davis

Langdon).

The Senior User informed us that the rise in professional fees was partly as a result of having to
pay for another structural engineer (AECOM) once Dewhurst Macfarlane were taken off the
project. 'The Senior User also informed us that the legal team within CBC are currently
undertaking an exetcise to review if any claim can be made against Dewhurst Macfatlane as there
were a number of areas on the project that were not covered by them initially which AECOM

had to rectify resulting in an increased cost.

The Senior User informed us that another reason for the increase in professional fees was as a
result of the delays to the project which meant that more fees were having to be paid out to the

various parties involved.

As stated in paragraph 7.10, Davis Langdon reported in December 2011 that the overall project
budget had increased by £70,365. This was due to an increase in professional fees. However, as

noted at paragraphs 7.13 and 7.14, this was not reported to the Project Team or SLT.

Review of Project Team, SLT, Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny minutes showed that the total

variance in professional fees was not reported throughout the project.

Other variances®
As noted above at paragraph 7.78, other variances are stated to be £103k over budget (or £10k*
over budget compared to the original budget set out in the first financial report of Davis

Langdon).

The Senior User informed us that the survey cost increase was in relation to the changes made

throughout the project.

37 Includes architect, AECOM, Dewhurst Macfarlane, Buro Happold, other project management fees and
professional fees and allowances

38 £1.163m less £752k
3 Includes sutveys, fixtures and fittings and de/re-canting

0 £535k less £525k

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@JSF@II PROJECT 60

7.99 The Senior User informed us that the fixtures, fittings and de/re-canting increased due to the
pressure on CBC to open the AG&M following the delay in handover of the site by ISG. The
opening was scheduled for 5 October 2013 and this deadline could not be missed. Therefore the

cost of additional curators, professional movers and security personnel increased.

7.100 Review of Project Team, SL'T, Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny minutes showed that these

other variances were not reported throughout the project.

Cabinet meeting 11 February 2014

7.101 In January 2014 an estimated outturn was prepared and presented to Cabinet on 11 February
2014 and Council on 14 February 2014. This report recommended the cabinet support the
underwriting of an additional £360,000 of unbudgeted expenditure. The calculation of this
figure was before the agreement of the final account and all costs had been reported in relation

to the project.

7.102 The minutes of the Cabinet meeting dated 11 February 2014 state that the fundraising and
sponsorship campaign would continue with a view to reducing the funding gap. The Senior
User informed us that they have started working on this campaign with a current target of £380k

to help reduce the funding gap.

7.103 The minutes also note that the Cabinet agreed to the settlement of the sums with ISG and that

the additional shortfall in funding was to be included within the Council's budget.

Final account

7.104 In November 2014 a further analysis was carried out of the total project cost including the
Design Stage and Additional Works (commercial spaces). This report has not dealt with the
Design Stage and Additional Works costs. The analysis determined that there was a further
unbudgeted shortfall on the project of £89,000 relating to either the Main Development or
Additional Works.

7.105 We are advised that the reason for the difference will be subject to further consideration by

internal audit.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageIU?ElIM PROJECT 61

Summary of the reporting of the financial aspects of the project
7.106 As set out above, the construction costs of the project increased towards the end of the project.
Howevert, prior to this, concerns had been raised by Davis Langdon with regard to the use of the

contingency fund and the potential final outturn cost proposed by ISG.

7.107 Updates on construction costs were regulatly given by Davis Langdon within their monthly
formal reports. The later reports cleatly setting out the potential projected costs of ISG. The

Senior User and CBC Property Officer were recipients of these reports.

7.108 The information outlined in the paragraphs above as included in the reports produced by Davis
Langdon was not reported in any context to the Project Team, SL'T, Cabinet or Overview and

Scrutiny Committee.

7.109 Financial information regarding variations in the non-construction costs was also not reported to

the Project Team, SLT, Cabinet or Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

7.110 Project update reports provided at SL'T meetings consistently reported that the Council would
underwrite the costs by £922k, but this was based on a project budget of £6.3m, not the £5.6m

which the project had been revised to.

7.111 The Senior User informed us that CBC had been advised of a potential claim against ISG for
extension of time damages. CBC did not pursue this due to the Cabinet agreeing, following legal
advice, that it would not be of benefit to the Council to do so. However, the overall project
costs were still greater than anticipated. It should have been the case that the total anticipated
costs and any potential claim was reported in full to the relevant parties to make them aware of

the range of values at which the final project costs might have come in at.

7.112 Reliance should not have been placed on the Davis Langdon project manager to verbally
reiterate financial information which was already contained with the formal monthly report that
had been prepared by Davis Langdon prior to the meeting. It is in our view that CBC should
have reviewed those monthly reports and raised questions with the Davis Langdon project
manager should any financial information discussed in the Project Team meetings not agree to

that contained within the formal report.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@JSFQVI PROJECT 62

Recommendations

The actual and projected expenditure to completion should be monitored against the detailed
budget. The responsibility for preparing regular reports should be cleatly allocated within the
Council, unless the role has been passed to an external contractor. In line with the requirements
set out for reporting within the PID, all financial variances to a large and complex project should
be reported promptly and in full to the relevant Project Team, SLT, Cabinet and Overview and
Scrutiny Committee meetings. The full extent of variances should be fully explained and the

opportunity given to raise questions.

A primary control for monitoring the project costs is an effective reporting system for actual and
expected costs. As a potential additional control, CBC should consider how to operate its

purchase order system on capital projects.

It must be ensured that any significant revision to a project budget is communicated to the

appropriate persons immediately.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. Report of
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Grant Thornton UK LLP
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or dated 19 January 2015

staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLERY & MUSEUM PROJECT

RECOMMENDATIONS SUMMARY

Report ref.
37

3.12

Recommendation
A Project Team was established which met on a regular basis.

If a Project Team is set out as a requirement to a project, the
responsibilities of such a team and a basic agenda for what should be
discussed at their meetings and required attendees should be set out
within the PID.

The structure established by CBC for managing the project was
appropriate. However, for meetings to be effective, the requirements
set out and agreed within a PID document in relation to the personnel
needed to attend project meetings should be adhered to.

If certain key individuals are not available, a suitable replacement
should attend in their stead. If this is not possible, consideration
should be given to re-arranging the meeting for a date when the key
individuals are available to ensure that the requirements as set out
within the PID are adhered to.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP
nor any of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

Management response and agreed action
Accept recommendation

There are project management procedures on the
council’s Intranet which identify the thresholds for the
application of project management formality based on cost
and risk and outline requirements for senior sponsorship,
qualified project managers, composition of project boards,
attendance requirements, management of budget,
decisions, risks and issues etc.

Action has already been taken to reinforce the importance
of clear project management processes, clarity of roles
and responsibilities of team members and the application
of guidelines at a meeting of the Senior Leadership Team
and Service Managers on 14th July 2014.

The requirement to include a basic project team meeting
agenda will be incorporated into the standard PID
template.

Accept recommendation

This will be addressed as part of the review of project PID
template / project management guidelines.

Project Sponsors / Managers will remind the project teams
that attendance at meetings is critical.

Agreed timescale

Actioned

Business
Development
Manager
30 April 2015

Business
Development
Manager
30 April 2015

¢/ abed

Actioned

Report of Grant Thornton UK LLP
dated 19 January 2015

63



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLERY & MUSEUM PROJECT

Report ref. Recommendation

3.20 If a decision is made not to undertake particular meetings as set out in
the PID, this should be discussed, agreed and formally minuted by
those with senior responsibility for a project. The implications of not
undertaking such meetings should be considered and an appropriate
way forward, which ensures the formal updating of all relevant parties,
agreed.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Management response and agreed action
Accept recommendation.

A review of project management PID / project
management guidelines is already under consideration by
the CBC project and programme managers to address the
recommendations throughout this report.

The conclusions of the review will be shared with the
council’s partners (for example Ubico and The
Cheltenham Trust)

This recommendation will be addressed as part of the
review of project PID template / project management
guidelines to ensure that a formal reporting mechanism is
put in place including the sharing of project status reports
on large, complex, high-risk projects with Cabinet
Members.

This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP
nor any of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

Agreed timescale

Business
Development
Manager
30 April 2015

/) abed

Report of Grant Thornton UK LLP
dated 19 January 2015

64



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLERY & MUSEUM PROJECT

Report ref.
4.14

5.6

Recommendation

A project budget was set but details of the basis and composition of
the budget should have been made available to the SLT within the
Council. Such evidence should be retained on the project files. The
detailed budget composition should be reflected in the Agresso
financial management system. Details of all project budgets produced
and significant changes in costs should be presented to, discussed
and agreed with the SLT at all stages throughout the design phase of
a project.

Any decisions made regarding variations to these budgets should be
minuted and actioned appropriately.

Where external meetings are held in discussion with potential tender
candidates, in order to ensure a record exists, details of the meeting
should be formally minuted and retained within the project files.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP
nor any of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

Management response and agreed action
Accept recommendation.

As part of review of the project PID template / project
management guidelines, consideration will be given to
improving financial management and reporting including
the potential for the adoption of monthly finance boards for
specific projects.

The CBC standard PID template will be updated to ensure
project budgets are clearly defined with appropriate detail.

The decision log template will be updated to ensure that
budget changes are included.

The suggested requirement to present information to SLT
during the design phase will be extended to cover the
whole life of the project.

Any budget decision outside the remit of the project team
requiring Cabinet / Council approval will be documented in
the project status report to SLT and actioned.

Accept recommendation.
This will be included in the review of the project PID

template / project management guidelines.

GOSS will review the current procurement code /
guidance toolkit to ensure that this is included.

65

Agreed timescale

Business
Development
Manager
30 April 2015

30 April 2015

30 April 2015

Immediate

Business
Development
Manager
30 April 2015

G/ abed

Business partner —
Procurement (GOSS)
30 April 2015

Report of Grant Thornton UK LLP

dated 19 January 2015



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLERY & MUSEUM PROJECT

Report ref. Recommendation

5.9 The current contract rules should be updated to reflect the process
which must be followed if an external body undertakes a procurement
exercise on behalf of CBC.

5.9 It is our view that the suggestion for the awarding of any contract
should be presented to, discussed and agreed at an SLT and Cabinet
meeting or appropriate delegated authority discussed and granted.
Any decision regarding delegated authority should be documented.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Management response and agreed action
Accept recommendation.

The current Contract Rules (23.1) state that:

‘Any consultants used by the Authority shall be appointed in
accordance with these Contract Rules. Where the Authority
uses consultants to act on its behalf in relation to any
procurement, then the Authorised Officer shall ensure that
the consultant carries out any procurement in accordance
with these Contract Rules. No Consultant shall make any
decision on whether to award a contract or who a contract
should be awarded to. The Authorised Officer shall ensure
that the consultant’s performance is monitored.’

GOSS will review the current procurement code / guidance
toolkit to emphasise the procedural requirements for when a
third party undertakes a tender exercise on behalf of the
Council following the production of a GOSS wide
Procurement and Contract Management Strategy’
Refresher training to officers will be rolled out.

Accept recommendation.

Any recommendations for awarding contracts will be
documented in the project status reports to SLT for
discussion.

These requirements will be emphasised in the ‘Revised
Procurement code / guidance toolkit’ and covered in the
refresher training to officers.

The council already strengthened the decision making
process by introducing new requirements to publish
decisions, including those delegated from committees.

This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP
nor any of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

66

Agreed timescale

Authorised Officer

9/ abed

Business partner -
Procurement (GOSS)
30 April 2015

Project Sponsors /
Manager

Business partner -
Procurement
30 April 2015

Actioned

Report of Grant Thornton UK LLP

dated 19 January 2015



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLERY & MUSEUM PROJECT

Report ref. Recommendation

5.9 Tender acceptance documentation should be signed by all required
parties. Copies of the signed documentation should be retained by the
Council.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Management response and agreed action
Accept recommendation.

GOSS Procurement team recommend that for contracts
over £100K in value that the Project Board should also sign
to evidence approval and this be minuted.

These requirements will be emphasised in the ‘Revised
Procurement code / guidance toolkit’ and covered in the
refresher training to officers.

Project Initiation Document (PID) template will be
amended to emphasise the need to include all
responsibilities for ensuring project documentation is in
order.

This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP
nor any of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

Agreed timescale

Business partner -
Procurement
30 April 2015

Business
Development
Manager
30 April 2015

// abed

Report of Grant Thornton UK LLP
dated 19 January 2015

67



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLERY & MUSEUM PROJECT

Report ref. Recommendation

5.11t05.18 If financial aspects change throughout a project, the project risk
register should be updated as appropriate outlining where the cost risk
lies. This information should then be reported upwards to SLT and
Cabinet through the next available formal update meeting.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Management response and agreed action
Accept recommendation.

At the SLT/SM session held on 14 July 2014, senior
managers were reminded of the importance of reviewing
and updating the project risk registers as changes occur.

Financial change, management and reporting through a
project will be a key consideration in the review of project
management guidelines.

The requirement to report to SLT and Cabinet should
apply to large, complex, high risk projects (defined in
CBC'’s Project Management Guidelines) and this will be
reinforced in the revised project PID template / project
management guidelines.

In future, project cost variances and significant changes to
financial risk profiles on large, complex, high-risk projects
will be formally reported to Cabinet as part of the quarterly
budget monitoring reports or sooner if there is an issue
which needs addressing.

This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP
nor any of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

Agreed timescale

Actioned (g
D
~
oo

Business

Development

Manager

30 April 2015

Project Sponsors /
Managers
Immediate

Report of Grant Thornton UK LLP
dated 19 January 2015

68



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLERY & MUSEUM PROJECT

Report ref. Recommendation

5.11t05.18 Any mitigating actions outlined within the risk register should be
followed or revised should they no longer be deemed appropriate.

5.23 Key stages of a capital project, such as the awarding of a contract,

should be discussed and clearly documented within Project Team
meetings. The rationale for awarding the contract and the procedure
followed should also be discussed and documented.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Management response and agreed action
Accept recommendation.

At the SLT/SM session held on 14 July 2014, senior
managers were reminded of the importance of reviewing
and updating the project risk registers including mitigating
actions as changes occur.

Project risk registers will be appended to Operational
Programme board (OPB) reports to SLT.

Risk management refresher training will be rolled out
across the organisation.

Accept recommendation.

The revised project management guidelines will
specifically include a requirement to formally minute the
Contract award procedure and decision at a Project Board
meeting.

This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP
nor any of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

Agreed timescale

Project Sponsors /
Corporate
Governance Officer
Actioned

Actioned

Corporate
Governance Officer
30 April 2015

Business
Development
manager
30 April 2015

6/ abed

Report of Grant Thornton UK LLP

dated 19 January 2015

69



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLERY & MUSEUM PROJECT

Report ref. Recommendation

Section 6 In line with the requirements set out for reporting within the PID, all
time delays to a large and complex project should be reported
promptly and in full at the relevant Project Team and SLT meetings.
The full extent of delays should be fully explained and the opportunity
given to raise questions.

Section 6 Project delays should also be reported promptly and in full at the next
scheduled Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings.

Section 6 It must be ensured that any time revision to a project is communicated
to the appropriate persons immediately.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

Management response and agreed action
Accept recommendation.

Delays to large, complex, high risk projects should be
discussed at project teams and reported to SLT OPB
using the project status update reports. If more prompt
reporting is appropriate Executive Board MUST be
informed.

Copies of the OPB reports will be provided to Cabinet lead
members. The revised project management guidelines will
include this requirement. The project status update report
template will be reviewed to allow for this to be captured.

Where external technical Project Management support is
engaged, the Project Sponsor will consider their
attendance at SLT to provide an account of time delays
and cost overruns.

Accept recommendation.

The review of project management guidelines will consider
how to address the need for formal reporting to Cabinet
and Overview and Scrutiny committee.

Accept recommendation.

The review of project management guidelines will consider
how to include this requirement in the communications /
engagement plan.

This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP
nor any of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

Agreed timescale

Business (g

Development (-D

manager

30 April 2015 (0]
o

Project Sponsors
30 April 2015

Project Sponsors
Immediate

Business
Development
Manager
30 April 2015

Business
Development
Manager
30 April 2015

Report of Grant Thornton UK LLP
dated 19 January 2015

70



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLERY & MUSEUM PROJECT

Report ref.
7.53 t0 7.57

Section 7

Recommendation

There was an appropriate mechanism in place for Davis Langdon to
manage contract variations which were within the provisional sums
and to obtain approval from CBC for those outside the provisional
sums. However, this was not recorded by CBC and therefore there is
no document trail showing the approvals by CBC of contract
variations.

CBC should consider incorporating a formal requirement to have
contract variations which exceed provisional sums agreed formally in
writing and the evidence of this should be retained within the project
files.

It should also be considered if a threshold over which this is applicable
should be implemented and whether other thresholds should set out
the requirement to have certain changes of higher value signed off
formally by more senior members of CBC.

The actual and projected expenditure to completion should be
monitored against the detailed budget. The responsibility for preparing
regular reports should be clearly allocated within the Council, unless
the role has been passed to an external contractor. In line with the
requirements set out for reporting within the PID, all financial variances
to a large and complex project should be reported promptly and in full
to the relevant Project Team, SLT, Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny
Committee meetings. The full extent of variances should be fully
explained and the opportunity given to raise questions.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP
nor any of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

Management response and agreed action
Accept recommendation.

The revised project management guidelines and updated
procurement code will emphasise the need to ensure that
contract variations and formal contract updates using
appropriate templates are formally recorded.

The review of project management guidelines will consider
appropriate recording mechanisms for variations including
threshold values and the use of contingency budgets
which ensure that SLT are made aware of the variances.

Accept Recommendation.

Financial variances on all projects MUST be discussed
and recorded at the Project Board meetings.

Financial variances on large, complex, high risk projects
(as defined in CBC Project Management Guidelines)
should be reported to SLT through the project status
update reports. If more prompt reporting is appropriate
Executive Board MUST be informed.

The revised project management guidelines will
emphasise the need to ensure formal reporting and the
review will consider how to address reporting to Cabinet
and Overview and Scrutiny committee.

71

Agreed timescale

Business
Development
Manager / Business
Partner -
Procurement

30 April 2015

Business
Development
Manager
30 April 2015

T8 abed

Report of Grant Thornton UK LLP

dated 19 January 2015



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLERY & MUSEUM PROJECT

Report ref. Recommendation Management response and agreed action
Section 7 A primary control for monitoring the project costs is an effective Accept recommendation.
reporting system for actual and expected costs. As a potential
additional control, CBC should consider how to operate its purchase SLT /Service managers / project managers will be
order system on capital projects. reminded of the need to utilise Purchase Order
Management (POM) functionality in Agresso
Section 7 It must be ensured that any significant revision to a project budget is Accept recommendation.

communicated to the appropriate persons immediately.
The review of project management guidelines will consider
how to include this requirement in the communications /
engagement plan.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP
nor any of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

Agreed timescale

SLT/SM
31 January 2015

Business
Development
Manager
30 April 2015

28 abed

Report of Grant Thornton UK LLP
dated 19 January 2015

72



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEag@LB@M PROJECT

Gt Tt UK LLP

Grant Thornton UK LLP
19 January 2015

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

73

Report of Grant Thornton UK LLP
dated 19 January 2015



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLERY & MUSEUM PROJECT

REPORTING OF PROJECT PROGRESSION

Report
ref

6.6

6.11

6.22

6.30

6.34

6.39

Date of Davis
Langdon report

04-Nov-11

03-Feb-12

05-Apr-12

03-May-12

06-Aug-12

10-Sep-12

Issue reported

Extension of deadline to
18-Oct-12

Extension of deadline to
08-Nov-12 — this was Davis
Langdon's view due to
issues on site

Reported that there was a
concerning level of delay

Extension of deadline to
21-Dec-12

Extension of deadline to
31-Jan-13

Extension of deadline to
15-Feb-13

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP
nor any of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

Project Team

09-Nov-11 - Delay of two weeks reported

14-03-12 — reported that a possible delay
to programme but that nothing formal had
been received from ISG

11-Apr-12 — reported that no information
received from ISG as to delay

09-May-12 — reported nine week delay to
project with revised completion of mid-
December 2012

Meetings of August and September nothing
reported

Meetings of September and October
nothing reported

SLT

06-Dec-11 — delay of two weeks reported
03-Jan-12 — deadline extended to 18-10-12

28-Feb-12 — reported that there were issues with
concrete pouring but exact extent of delay
unknown

24-Apr-12 — reported that there was a nine week
delay, deadline extended to 20-Dec-12

22-May-12 — minutes state that there was a delay
to the project of seven weeks, not nine weeks.
Project update report states nine weeks with
mitigating measures in place to reduce by two
weeks, deadline of 20-Dec-12

14-Aug-12 — reported that phased re-occupation
from October 2012, deadline of 20-Dec-12
11-Sep-12 — reported that project progress was
good

Meetings of September and October nothing
reported

Appendix 1

.U
Q
Overview &-Q
D

Scrutiny
Committee
Cabinet

Not reported'b

Not reported

Not reported

Not reported

Not reported

Not reported

This Appendix forms an integral part of the report of
Grant Thornton UK LLP dated 19 January 2015



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLERY & MUSEUM PROJECT

Report
ref

6.42

6.47

6.53

6.56

6.65
and

6.74
6.65
and

6.75
6.65

6.65

Date of Davis
Langdon report

08-Oct-12
06-Dec-12
08-Feb-13
13-May-13
n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

Issue reported

Extension of deadline to
28-Feb-13

Extension of deadline to
29-Mar-13 - this was Davis
Langdon's view due to
issues on site

Extension of deadline to
26-Apr-13

Extension of deadline to
28-Jun-13

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP
nor any of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

Project Team

Meetings of October and November
nothing reported

12-Dec-12 — reported that possession of
building granted by 31-Mar-13

13-Feb-13 — reported that full completion
not achieved by March 2013 and some
work will be undertaken in April 2013

08-May-13 — reported that project due to
be completed by end of June 2013

10-Jul-13 — reported that project finished
by third or fourth week of August 2013

14-Aug-13 — reported that all work on site
should finish by September 2013

n/a

n/a

SLT

Meeting of October nothing reported
November meeting states expected completion
date unknown but also states as 20-Dec-12.
Amber status allocated.

29-Jan-13 — reported that there had been a
slippage in the timetable and a revised soft
opening date of August 2013 was suggested.
Revised deadline of 31-Mar-13

26-Feb-13 — reported that there were no real
issues with project.

Partial handover by 31-Mar-13 and expected
deadline 30-Apr-13. Amber status allocated.
23-Apr-13 — reported that expected opening date
is 05-Oct-13 and completion of work in June 2013

21-May-13 — deadline of 31-Mar-13

18-Jun-13 — building work to be completed by
early July 2013

16-Jul-13 - building work to be completed by early
July 2013

13-Aug-13 — building to be progressively handed
back during August 2013

Appendix 1

Overview &
Scrutiny
Committee and
Cabinet

Not reported

Not reported

Not reported

Not reported

n/a -U
Q
n/a Q
D
(0]
n/a U-I
n/a

This Appendix forms an integral part of the report of
Grant Thornton UK LLP dated 19 January 2015



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLERY & MUSEUM PROJECT Appendix 1

6.65 n/a n/a n/a 10-Sep-13 — building to be progressively handed n/a
back during August 2013 with re-opening
05-Oct-13

9g abed

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP

nor any of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else. This Appendix forms an integral part of the report of
Grant Thornton UK LLP dated 19 January 2015



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLERY & MUSEUM PROJECT Appendix 2

REPORTING OF FINANCIAL ASPECT OF CONSTRUCTIONS COSTS PROVIDED BY DAVIS
LANGDON

Report Date of Davis Issue reported Project Team SLT Overview &
ref Langdon report Scrutiny
Committee and
Cabinet
7.10 12-Dec-11 Budget increase of £70k Meetings of December and January Meeting of January nothing reported Not reported
due to increase in nothing reported
professional fees and
surveys
715 31-Jan-12 Transfer of £100k project Reported in meeting of 8 February 2012 Meeting of February nothing reported Not reported
contingency to construction
budget
718 June 2012 Concerns over utilisation of Meeting of July nothing reported Meeting of July nothing reported Not reported

contingency and that could
run out before project

complete _U
7.21 September 2013 Concerns over un-priced 10-Oct-12 - reported that figures quoted in Project update report for November 2012 meeting Not reportecp_)

items from ISG and costs contingency were Davis Langdon states uncertainty about the contingency fund (@)

could continue to develop estimates given the delays incurred by ISG but does not D

as result of further works specifically mention un-priced items

identified (0]

. . _ ~

7.25 November 2012 Noted that ISG had Meetings of December and January Meetings of December and January nothing Not reported

included £200k in final nothing reported reported

account estimate for time
and expense claims

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP

nor any of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else. This Appendix forms an integral part of the report of
Grant Thornton UK LLP dated 19 January 2015



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLERY & MUSEUM PROJECT

Report
ref

7.28

7.35

7.43

7.47

Date of Davis
Langdon report

08-Feb-13

08-Mar-13

04-Apr-13

13-May-13

Issue reported

Project overspent by
£50,722 with final account
of ISG estimated at £4.7m
(£400k higher than budget)

Project overspent by
£64,390 with final account
of ISG estimated at £5.1m
(£800k higher than budget)

Project overspent by
£133,590 with final account
of ISG estimated at £5.1m
(£800k higher than budget)

Project overspent by

£141,886 with final account
of ISG estimated at £5.17m
(£870k higher than budget)

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP
nor any of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

Project Team

13-Feb-13 — project overspend of £50,722
not reported. Stated that Davis Langdon
Project Manager stated cost increased by
£15k

Meeting of March nothing reported

Meetings of April and May nothing reported

No Project Team meeting in June.
Meetings of July and August nothing
reported

SLT

26-Feb-13 — reported that there were no issues in

project

Meeting of March nothing reported

Meetings of April and May nothing reported

Meetings of May and June nothing reported

Appendix 2

Overview &QJ

Scrutiny
Commiﬂee“gu
Cabinet
Not reportedQQ

oo
Not reported

Not reported

Not reported

This Appendix forms an integral part of the report of
Grant Thornton UK LLP dated 19 January 2015



Review of Cheltenham Art Gallery Museum project

Summary of financial information contained within Davis Langdon cost reports

Report no.
Date of financial report

Contract sum
Construction costs

Contract variations

Architect Instructions
Confirmation of Verbal Instructions
Miscellaneous items

Claims

Provisional sums

Construction contingency
Remaining construction contingency

CONSTRUCTION SUB-TOTAL

Project costs
Professional fees

Allowance for additional fees
Allowance for surveys

Allowance for decanting/storing current collection

Allowance for FFE equipment and ICT

Project contingency
Remaining project contingency

OTHER COSTS

Anticipated outturn project cost

Secured funding

Variance

NOTE 1

Appendix 3

Approved 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 1 14 15 16 17 18 19
budget 05-Sep-11 04-Oct-11 31-Oct-11 13-Dec-11 31-Jan-12 06-Mar-12 10-Apr-12 30-Apr-12 01-Jun-12 06-Jul-12 Not provided 05-Sep-12 08-Oct-12 12-Nov-12 11-Dec-12 11-Feb-13 13-Mar-13 04-Apr-13 01-May-13
NOTE 1 NOTE 2

3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 Not provided 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003

3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 -~ 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003 3,730,003

- - 1031 29517 60,747 126881 144,916 172,685 251,596 275,176 324,797 Notprovided 464,104 511,818 535576 567,906 590,696 602,101 628951 636,498

- - 42440 30,940 69,050 168,050 198236 185717 102,749 179,284 161911 - 67409 32394 32394 2,394 2,294 2,29 2,294 2,204

- - - 15,000 - 10,000 - 53500 74,500 - 500 - 2,700 9,400 100,710 78380 19,913 18761 22,111 22,861

- . - - - 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,00 40,000 - 40000 40,000 56,000 56000 130,000 130,000 169,000 169,000

- - (3722)  (3722) (36991) (67,491) (69,180) (69,180) (69,180) (77,441) (77,441) - (104441) (113,941)  (76,680)  (56,680) (29,180)  (25,767)  (25767)  (25767)

B -~ 39749 71,735 92,806 237,440 313,972 382,722 399,665 417,019 449,767 -~ 469,772 479,671 648000 648000 713,723 727,389 796589 804,886

500,000 500,000 460,251 428,265 407,194 362,560 286,028 217,278 200,335 182,981 150,233 Notprovided 178,228 168,329 - - - - - -

500,000 500,000 460,251 428,65 407,194 362,560 286,028 217,278 200,335 182,981 150,233 - 178228 168,329 - - - - - -

4,230,003 4,230,003 4,230,003 4,230,003 4,230,003 4,330,003 4,330,003 4,330,003 4,330,003 4,330,003 4,330,003 - 4,378,003 4,378,003 4,378,003 4,378,003 4,443,726 4,457,392 4,526,592 4,534,889

Overbudget 50,723 64,300 133590 141,886
657,000 657,000 807,949 807,949 815,365
95000 95000 Included Included Included|
20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 27,000
150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000  150,000|
255,000 255,000 255,000 255,000  255,000|
1,177,000 1,177,000 1,232,949 1,232,949 1,247,365
100,000 100,000 44,051 44,051  100,000|

100,000 100,000 44,051 44,051  100,000) Not reported post December 2011

1,277,000 1,277,000 1,277,000 1,277,000 1,347,365|
5,507,003 5,507,003 5,507,003 5,507,003 5,577,368]
6,300,000 6,300,000 6,300,000 6,300,000 6,300,000
(792,997) (792,997) (792,997) (792,997) (722,632)

The construction budget increased by £100,000 due a transfer of budget from the 'project contingency'

NOTE 2

Afinancial report was not provided in the project meeting pack this month

Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any
of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

68 abed

This Appendix forms an integral part of the report
of Grant Thornton UK LLP dated 19 January 2014



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@JggII PROJECT Appendix 4

LIST OF DOCUMENTS PROVIDED

10.
11.
12.
13.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

. This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery &
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or staff
owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

Davis Langdon Project Team Meeting 21 May 2013

Art Gallery & Museum Redevelopment Decision Log — 22 August 2013, 8 April 2013 &
change control process paper

Programme Manager’s report to operational programmes Board and Change Group — 10
April 2011

Programme Highlight Report — 11 April 2011 to 3 November 2011, 2 December 2011 to
22 December 2011, 23 December 2011 to 26 January 2012, 26 January 2012 to 21
February 2012, 22 February 2012 to 20 March 2012, 21 March 2012 to 19 April 2012, 20
April 2012 to 16 May 2012, 20 April 2012 to 16 May 2012, 17 May 2012 to 13 June 2012,
14 June 2012 to 12 July 2012, 13 July 2012 to 8 August 2012, 9 August 2012 to 6
September 2012, 7 September 2012 to 4 October 2012, 4 October 2012 to 1 November
2012, 2 November 2012 to 3 December 2012, 4 December 2012 to 28 January 2013, 29
January 2013 to 21 February 2013, 22 February 2013 to 22 March 2013, 23 March 2013 to
18 April 2013, 18 April 2013 to 15 May 2013, 16 May 2013 to 13 June 2013, 14 June 2013
to 15 July 2013, 10 July 2013 to 8 August 2013, 8 August 2013 to 9 September 2013
Cabinet Briefing Note — January 2012

SLT Minutes — 29 March 2011, 10 May 2011, 12 Apzril 2011, 24 May 2011, 7 June 2011, 21
June 2011, 5 July 2011, 19 July 2011, 16 August 2011, 27 September 2011, 11 October
2011, 8 November 2011, 6 December 2011, 3 January 2012, 31 January 2012, 28 February
2012, 27 March 2012, 24 April 2012, 22 May 2012, 19 June 2012, 17 July 2012, 14 August
2012, 11 September 2012, 9 October 2012, 6 November 2012, 4 December 2012, 29
January 2013, 26 February 2013, 26 March 2013, 23 Apzril 2013, 21 May 2013, 18 June
2013, 16 July 2013, 13 August 2013, 10 September 2013, 8 October 2013

Programme Progress Meeting No 1 — 7 June, No 2 — 21 June, No 5 — 2 August, No 6 19
August

The Wilson — Development Project Outturn Briefing Report — Cabinet 11 February 2014,
Council — 14 February 2014

The Wilson — Development Project Outturn Briefing Report — January 2014

Executive Board Agenda — 28 November 2013

Email from Jane Lillystone to Sonia Phillips re AG&M OPB report dated 22 March 2013
Email from Jane Lillystone to Sonia Phillips re CAG&M PM Report — April 2013

Budget Monitoring Report 2011/12 — position as at February 2012 — Cabinet 17 April
2012, position as at February 2012 — Cabinet 17 April 2012.

This Appendix forms an integral
part of the report of

Grant Thornton UK LLP dated
19 January 2015



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEageILgElIM PROJECT Appendix 4

14.

15.
16.
17.

18.
19.
20.

21.

22.
23.
24.
25.
26.
27.
28.

29.
30.

31.
32.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

. This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery &
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or staff
owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

Programme Managers report to Operational Programmes Board and Change Group — 15
July 2011 to 10 August 2011

General Fund Capital Programme — 19 June 2012 Capital Programme

Davis Langdon — Additional Scopev1.0 — Tender Report — July 2013

AGM Development Scheme Project Team notes and actions — Meeting No 1 4 May 2011,
No 2 8 June 2011, No 3 11 July 2011, No 4 10 August 2011, No 6 12 October 2011, No
7 9 November 2011, No 8 14 December 2011, No 9 11 January 2013, No 10 8 February
2012, No 11 14 March 2012, No 12 11 April 2012, No 13 9 May 2012, No 14 13 June
2012, No 15 11 July 2012, No 16 8 August 2012, No 18 10 October 2012, No 19 14
November 2012, No 20 12 December 2012, No 21 9 January 2013, No 22 13 February
2013, No 23 13 Match 2013, No 24 10 April 2013, No 25 8 May 2013, No 26 10 July
2013, No 27 14 August 2013

Redevelopment Meeting — 12 September 2012

Davis Langdon — Construction Pre- Start Meeting 3 August 2011

Davis Langdon — Construction Progress Meeting — 21 December 2011, 31 August 2011
30 November 2011, 26 January 2012, 29 February 2012, 28 March 2012, 25 April 2012, 30
May 2012, 27 June 2012, 25 July 2012, 29 August 2012, 26 September 2012, 31 October
2012, 28 November 2012, 30 January 2013, 27 February 2013, 27 March 2013, 24 April
2013, 29 May 2013, 16 August 2013

AGM Development Scheme Project Team — Notes and Actions — Reoccupation Meeting
No 1 -1 October 2012

AGM Redevelopment Scheme Project Team meeting — 10 April — Agenda

Programme Highlight Report — 22 February 2013 to 22 March 2013

Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum Development Scheme — Stage D Sign off

Davis Langdon - CAG&M Stage D Cost Plan (Rev B1), Stage E (Rev 02)

Davis Langdon — reconciliation with previous estimate — costs

AECOM letter — 21 August 2014 — Final Account Agreement

Copy of minutes from the Executive Board Meeting on 28 November 2013 and the
decision to settle final account with ISG

Council — 1 December 2003

Social and Community Overview and Scrutiny — 11 July 2011 — Cabinet 26 July 2011 —
Towards a Commissioning Strategy for Leisure and Culture Outcomes — Preliminary
Analysis — July 2011

Cabinet Meeting — 29 March 2006 draft minutes, 17 April 2007 draft minutes,

Buro Happold letter to Jane Lillystone — 2 November 2011 re Cheltenham Art Gallery

This Appendix forms an integral
part of the report of

Grant Thornton UK LLP dated
19 January 2015



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLFRag@JgQVI PROJECT Appendix 4

33.

34.
35.
36.

37.

38.
39.
40.

41.

42.

43.

44,

45.

40.

47.
48.
49.

50.
51.
52.
53.
54.
55.

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

. This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery &
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or staff
owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else.

AECOM letter to Jane Lillystone — 16 February 2012 re Cheltenham Art Gallery and
Museum, Structural Engineering Fee Proposal

The Wilson Cheltenham Art Gallery — Design Team Fees

Development Progress Report — January 2012

Review of the Art Gallery and Museum Project — Project Senior User
Response/Statement August 2014

Email from Jane Lillystone to Robert Williams at Davis Langdon re CAG&M: PM Report
dated 20 November 2012

Cheltenham Borough Council — Notes 18 July 2013

Cabinet Meeting — 15 April 2008 draft minutes

Social and Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee — 7 September 2009, 23
February 2009, 14 January 2009, 20 October 2008, 23 July 2008, 5 June 2008

Cabinet Minutes— 11 February 2014 Minutes, 14 January 2014, 12 November 2013, 17
September 2013, 5 February 2013, 17 July 2012, 19 June 2012, 7 February 2012, 13
December 2011, 26 July 2011, 21 June 2011, 7 December 2010, 26 October 2010
Draft Minutes — Cabinet 27 September 2011, 27 July 2010, 19 April 2011, 21 December
2010

Cabinet — 26 October 2010 — Update on the Art Gallery & Museum Development
Scheme

Cabinet Meeting — Draft Minutes 22 June 2010, 9 February 201022 September 2009, 21
July 2009, 10 February 2009, 24 June 2008, 3 June 2008

Cabinet — 21 September 2009 — Progress Report on the Art Gallery & Museum
Development Scheme — Report of the Cabinet Member for Sport & Culture

Davis Langdon — Cheltenham Borough Council —Progress Report — 1(4 September 2011)
to 17 (13 May 2013)

Davis Langdon — Contract — Volumes 1 to 2 — October 2011

AGM Redevelopment Risk Register 19 July 2011, 14 December 2012 and Final version
Davis Langdon — CAG&M — Levying of Liquidated Damages (LADs) Report — 17 July
2013 and final version

Cheltenham Borough Council letter to ISG Pearce re Letter of Intent — 14 July 2011
Tender Report — July 2011

AECOM letter to ISG re Final Account Agreement — 18 August 2014

Davis Langdon Mid Tender Meeting — 1 June 2011

Davis Langdon — Tender analysis — summary of project cost — potential range

CAG&M Development Scheme — January 2009 — Business Plan — Capital Programme

This Appendix forms an integral
part of the report of

Grant Thornton UK LLP dated
19 January 2015



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEag@Lg@M PROJECT Appendix 4

56.  Building for a New Future: a sustainable development for Cheltenham Borough Council -
Building for a New Future: Development Scheme - Business Plan: Capital Budget -
Building & Design Expenditute / Income

57.  Confidential 6 July 2010 - Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum Development Trust — 6
July 2010 - single agenda meeting to discuss two key milestones

58.  Development Progress Report — January 2013

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. This Appendix forms an integral
. This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art Gallery & part of the report of
Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any of its partners or staff Grant Thornton UK LLP dated

owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, to anyone else. 19 January 2015



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALLB!QQ&J&&VI PROJECT Exhibit 1

Exhibit 1

Extracts of Davis Langdon reports showing the breakdown of
project costs

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. This exhibit forms an integral part of the
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art report of Grant Thornton UK LLP dated
Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any 19 January 2015

of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or
otherwise, to anyone else.



d711 uopbue siaeq

“WUyuod 0} Jualo - Jdwexa | YA 10aloxd sawnssy (Ar)

151500 WUuOd 0} JudI - Ajuo sasuemoly (111}

15904 [BUOISS)0I4 By} O} 000'08 13 JO puadsiano [elusiod ey} SBpNjIXe UB|d 1S0D SIYl 1BY) 810U ases|d *ole uoneoydde Buiuueld snid (918 O-WQAD WelNSu0) Buusien) suswiuiodde [BUORIPPE SSPN|IUI S98) [BUOHIPPE 0} BOUBMO|Y (11}
1SUOIPUOD 18dBW JUBLND 108}0.1 0} BuIpI00OE PaISNIPE Udaq SBY UONB|UI 10} SOUBMO)Y (1)

S8JON
L€ 000°1vS 925 0002109 892'y 0006659 189y 000'v92't £81'v  000°462°6 1509 100{04d Winy 00 pajediopuy je10L
‘uondwaxa LyA Wiyuod oy jualy - papnox3 % papnox3 - papnjox3 ~ papnjox3 - papnjox3 w %SLE @ LVA
1€ 000°LvS 928'e  000'210'9 692y 0000659 189 000'V92'tL E8L'y  000°1L62'6 6002 OF 1€ 81500 10foid |e101 qns
'$1S00 wyuod oy walY (ki)  (000'sHE) €62  000'00S 991 000652 o papnjouj 202 000'sse () LOI ‘luawdinba ‘33344 10} soUBMO|lY
"§1S00 Wluod 0} juBNy - # 88 00005+ 86 000°0S+ = papnjouj 611 000°0S4 () YON08]00 JUBLIND Buiols / Bupueoap 1oj souBMO||Y
*$JS00 WYU0D 0} JualND - NI LI MSIH (9) {000°0t) Sl 000'62 o] 000'GL LE 00004 ¥ 000'S [BAOW] SO}SBQSE S0} BOUBMO||Y
'S}JS00 ULIJUOD 0] JualD - WILI ¥SIH - s 4 000'02 €l 000'02 LE 00004 8 00004 skanins 10} aouBMO||Y
*$1S00 ULIUOD 0} JuslD 8§ 00066 - - ¥9 000'66 ¥L 000'02 29 000'6L () %6} @ S99 [BUONIDPE 0} SOUBMO|IY
"$1S00 WLUOD O} JuslD H§ 00026 80  000'969 €15 000'88L €65 000'09% 96  000'829 %}'Gl @ S04 [eu0ISs8joid
GG¢  000°609 0iL'c  000'129' P56’ 000'V90'% 262'€  000°P9L'Y 6002 DY 18 SIS0 UOINAISUOD {ejoL
"uonejul 018z sjoafoid xapui soud Jspua] (pGL)  (000'292) pS1 000292 “ . z % » 0102 DE 8lIS uo uels 0} uonejyu|
6808 000°298 88  DOO'BSE'Y 1¥6'C  000'¢90'L 262 000°pOL'Y 2)EP JUsLND 1B SIS0 UOHINIISU0Y |ejo] gng
"60°2 480 UO jual) ay) Aq pasiApe sy Ly 000'08 282 000'S6E 60€  000'S.¥ 65€ 00026 00€  000'6.€ %0} Aes *saousbunuog juai|) 10} BoUBMOY
- - - papnjox3 - papnjox3 - papnjox3 - papn(ox3 %2 @ UOI}ONJIISU0d paseyd I0j JOAO BlX3
%8aM/005'2 13 @ awwelBoid UoONISUOD SHOaM ZG PaWNssY 6L 000'¥EL €0€ 000945 €2y 000°0S9 €6  000'EE} 60y  000'81S SWild.d SI0BAHUOY UlB)
€8 000'€S9 2202 000'8vy'E 2.9'C  000'L0}'¥ 680't  000'VES €85'2  000°.92'€ 150D [BjUBWA|T [BJO L
W3 3 2W/3 3 W3 3 W3 3 W/3 3
W GE VID W 005"} VID W GES'L WD W 892 :¥ID W 2E2L YID

- oousiona [ woona peroiday I~ 3coeis W owusianes W pinamen W poloidesea |
AHYWINS LSOO 103r0dd 2

‘00021093 J0 186png paoidde ayj isurebe 000'v013 J0 puadsiapun 150D 108l01d pajedionuy ue ullnsal [im siy) ‘paroidde Ajnj aq sjesodosd Burieauibug enjep aui [le pjnoys pue painoas aq Buipunj [euonippe syl pnoys

Page 95

(101 pue swdinbs ‘344 ‘Buiuesep ‘syiom [eAOWSI SOJSaqse
‘'sABAINS 'SJUBHNSUOD JaYI0 pUB WEa) 8100 8y} J10} S98) [Buoissajoid *a'l) $1S09-uo 193loid snoueA Jo ainjipuadxa pajedionue ay) [|e WIKUod Jual|) ay) ey 1sanbai osje pjnom am ‘sAep jo ajdnod 1xau ay) U aYeUapuUN [[IM Wea |
3yl yoym asiolexg BuusauiBug anfe, ay) o) UoHOUN[UOD U| "UMOPXYESIq Pa|IB}eap 10} 6 UOII8S aas asesld (000'c613) Buljelo) sbuines paynuapl aaey wea | ay) sseooid uone)nsuod ubisap ayl ybnoiy) pue aAoge ay} 0} Jayun4

000253 © 188418 8ousIelD |G “IN 0} 8d03S [BUOHIPPY -

'000°0%3 @ Buip|ing uosse) ybnH ulyim Lgjlen) syei) pue sky ay) o syiom Buipeibdn 3 reuonippy -

‘000'05+3 @ sabueyy Jesn aje -

1000°0123 © 10BAU0D UIBW 3Y) UIYIm SHIOM dwing JBaH 92IN0S PUNO.L) ay) JO UOISN[OU| -

-:$moj|0j Se a1e Buipunj [uOnIPPE 9S8y 0 Paje|al Swa)l ay |

*000'683 @q |Im puadsiano 108(oid pajediopue sy} ‘painsas si Buipuny [euonippe Siy} § "108foid syl uiyim papnjoul aq 0} 000‘2SH3 Jo Bulpuny [euonippe [elualod e S| 918y} PUBISISPUN 8M ‘000 1 #G3 JO PUadsIaA0 8A0qGE 8y} WOl

"Josg 8ouase|D |G “IN 0) 8d0os |eUONIPPE 10} 8SeaIoul 1S02 Josloid pajedionue 000'2S3 SEPNIaUI UBld 1S00) SIUI JBY) 80U OS[e 8SBa|d ‘JusWwaje
Buipjing yoea Joj sasealoul ay) 10} BuiLOSEal pajielop B pue djewiisa snoiadid ay) Ylim UONBIIOU0DI B SBPNJoUl € UONOSS 6002 AINF U panssi sem (g Asy) ueld 1500 q oBBIS 90Ul 000'E.H3 JO JusWaAoW 150 10aloid & s1 8181 )

*000°210'93 4o 189bpng panoiddy ay) 1on0
000° 1S3 S YoIUM '000'ESS 93 1B SPUB)S Ajjuaiing 108(oid wnasniy pue Aisjjen Uy weyusyay) syl 4oj 109 198loid uin] InQO paledionuy [B10] ay) ‘(9 uonoas aas) wea | ubisaq ay Ag pepiroid uonewiojul ubisep ay) uo paseg

AHVIANNNS JALLNO3IXT |

u,© Co—um:ml_ SIAR(] WNISNIN ANY AHITTVO LHY WYHNILTIHO



d11 uopbue sineq

UOAALAD | YA WAIIOD 01 1URND

SIS0 W3 0 JuenD)

"SI0 WIUOD OF UMD

“$1903 |23 01 104D * WAL HSRY

61603 LjUO3 O 1BED) - WAL NS

"31903 WUOA Of 1WBYH "8 Muueid “BuLBIRI ‘INAD U
“SIS60 WAYUCS 0] UMD “IRUMa] § 10 'HB 'SD8 U

ORI 09T 5100k DL 020 JPUS |

2400 VO WP 9 AQ PASIOR SB 000 SEST 10 SIUBMORE PaNT) ® [0 N0F LI %01 U0 POSER
un(ssossed g JIRILOD - INCE U0 ROV SeUNSSY
HORMD0G 213 @ 0wueiB0Id VONINASLDD DKW 2§ POLUNSER U LD PESTY

IEmau Iwod |iews pue om0y RIeusd puR saisitn RUsIU| BURA! 196IS SXART) 15 IN 9f 83038 PasEaIou|
‘Buped puSKe 0 poofl Busitw 1) 63098 PESADIL

Page 96

200nD 8, | Y U0 PISE SAILBMOIR 1500 MINIY

14513) Buriudy 1sideds uj 958000 PuB 149031 SdI 12 LIESWO

THUZI MHLT PRINDAS S(HDES) NHY U PP DuR spRaDan H(¥ES) SAALRD 31 FUOHIDRE :(433) SBIAT) 01 IOMITE P (HES) SO 10 9215 pareacu|
"IHSZ13) dHSD 10 uamsngy|

“Iy¢p3) BN 0] Jaod SR RUOBEEE (493) ¥UB| B0RI0IS M SjgRCd 0 IS POSRALN|

AT wowadid semae) pesea|

{Z3) IO DAL OF SPUIRY 2090 POSLOICW (3] SHURI 1O SARIS 10q Of HRPUEH

[y Bunooy Our] 05 8 pannpe: Iyg3) Builiu Mg 0} Baar POsEIUl |{HEL3) Bese Aeifed singd pan 151 64 Buuooy Bquay

{3453 Bt pocaied Paonga) *14S3) I OF Ystul| USNO® 1RO )11 3) PIING MaL Of JDISEK M 10 UCISSIWO 1340 13) $IM ©f B IS8 (0 VOISSIUO
IN53) DA 10 P U1 800p PATIYD U H(HOET) £000 DROUEIS UOU |0 35N PR (0Y3) SI000 PITEIICE (Y023 SN DM 0 UIISELLO 0} 3P SIEM PIFPALU
VORIE LOEIBIY PUB LORKOUSN] G4} USRI SO IUSWUSQIMIS) AU 10 LW U] | TiRD0) [0 UOSHU

"SPAR WNLIT O] SAPENSTEq $3810 10 Amenb paseaIou|

1531 e jdgoos poanpes '(NSE! Buippna LossRD YBOK 10 1005 § YLON 01 B0/8 00) DAINEO 141X LOMJDG B B) ORI SNIINAT 003 JO J0jSUR: |
93URA 1909 51U C4 90D SHUWES DAIRRLIOS Syl 10} OIS 00K I3 S35 05 ASEAD - LOKIDS SIL LW BINLINLE 1001 10 UOISNIUY

B aus 13} B0 swmoq puncsB o (dep Paseaul (1GE3) sdes opd pue send 0 Uidep pue Liguerb poseo.ou|

40 A AT Litiam st pojy LS 998 0sfy *() 88RIS I papwad adoos pauNG Bul IsuROe 59028 LCHIDUWAP 3 IBEIS PAYRIGD BUI 1O M

“Ixs3)

SSION

() uopbueT sineq

1809 198[0id win g INQ pojedidnuy @101
%S'LL @ LYA
6002 OY 1€ 8150 90014 (910} Gng

000°)162'S

000'992'L

000'080'+ 000'p02'L

o papnpu| . 000'552 papnjoul 000'652 000652 papnou| 000'552 191 ‘juswdinba ‘3944 40} d0UBMOIY
4 papnjou| % 000'0S 4 papnjou| 000°0S1 000°0S4 papnjou] 000'0S1 Bunuesaq 1o} aoUEMO|IY
. - " 000'SH 00004 000G 000'G+ 000°01 000'S I H qQsy 40
s s 2 000'02 000'01 000°04 000°02 00004 000'01 skonng 10} 8dUBMO|IY
000'8 000'c 000'S 000'16 0002} 000" 000°66 000'02 000'62 %6} @ S0} [RUONIPPE O} BOUBMO|IY
00019 000'v2 000°2€ 000'82L 000'2€1L 000165 000882 000091 000'829 %161 @ (Wwea | 8i0D) $894 [BUOISSB|OId

£002 DY 1¥ $3800 UOHONISUOD [BI0 1
0102 DE 01 8ouemoy[e uonzjju|

000'¢9L'Y

000'¢80'%

000’906

000'906 000'v9L't G1Ep JUBLND 1B S1SO0 UOHOMIISUDI (810} GRS

000'08 000'8} 000°€9 000'S6€ 000'6L 000'91€ 000°'6LY 00026 000'64€E %01 ABS 'sajouabuiuod Jualjd 10} 3OUEMO|IY
papniox3 pepnjox3 pepnox3 pepn|ax3 papn|ox3 papnpx3 papn|ox3 pepnjox3 pepn(ox3 u0}joNIISU0I paseyd Joj JBAC BAXT
000'€L 000's2 0008 000'LLS 000804 000'0LY 000059 000°€€} 000'845 (seem gg Aes) swijaid s101081U00 UlRW
000'51E 000'ZEL 0006} gog'zae'e. Moo S ISR
000'GE 000'GE = % - * 000'6E 000'6E - BOIY JUBLULSIQINIAY O SYIOM [BUOLIPDY
(0006} - 1000'6) 000'0€ ® 000'0€ 00012 = 000'12 SHOM [ewsex3
- - - 000°€9 - 000'€9 00069 - 000'€9 S80|MBS [BUIBT
b 3 - - = : = . £ 1 ON 0} S80InIes I8N
000'S 000+ 000'y 00099 000'Eh 000°'€S 00014 00071 00025 UONIBUUOD Ul HIOM SIBpIINg
(000'%} - {000'%) 000'€8 - 000'e8 00064 - 00064 syn
000'2 : 0002 00016 00084 000'€L 000'e6 00081 000°'GL suone|ieisul sienads
{000°2¢) (000" 12) 000"+ 1) 000281 000'95 000924 000'0S+ 000'GE 000'GH+ suone|[eisu| suoned)| 0
000'+ 3 000't 000'6 000°t 000'8 000'0L 000't 000'6 SUONE|[BISU| BAIBI0I
0008 000'9 000'2 00062 0002 000'e2 000'€E 0008 00052 SUONE|[eISU| SBD [BINIEN
{000'22) 000'9 (000'82) 000°65€ 000'S% 000'01€ 000'€€E 000°1S 000282 SuOnE|[RISUl [EOLIOB|3
000°2E 000'2€ - 000°96% 000" ¥4 000'6SE 000'€ES 000'8L} 000°'5S€ uauneal] Jty pue Buneay aoeds ‘UONEB|IUSA
000641 s 000'64+ 000°2¢ 5 000'2€ 00015+ - 00015+ 90In0g 1Ay
00004 000 000'9 000°0S 0008 0002 000'09 000'2} 000'8% suolje|[eisuj Jajepm
000'% 000'2 0002 000'€€ 0006 000'v2 00028 000'tL 00092 suone|[ejsuj [esodsig
{000°1) (000°L) b 000G+ 000G 00004 000'v1 000 000°01 saoue||ddy Aeliues
0002 000'9 (000't) 000581 000'94+ 00069 00028+ 000224 00069 sbumi4 pue sainixiy
{000°2) {000°t) (000'1) 000°'6% 000°94 000'e€ 000'Ly 000'St 000°2€ saysiug Buiied
000'S {000°¢) 000'8 000°'¥6 00022 000'22 000'66 000'64 000'08 saysiulg JoolJ
{000°9%) {0002} (000'6€) 000'66 000's2 000'v2 000'eS 000'84 000'S€ saysiuld |IEMm
000°901 000'€9 000'ct 00028+ 000'¢y 000'8€} 000'882 000204 000184 $100(] PUB SUOHIMEG 'S||BM [BUIBIU|
(000'82) {000'¢2} (000€) 000'¥25 000°'€9 000'19¥% 000'96% 000'8€ 000°'85% $100( PUB SMOPUIM 'SIIBM [BUIBIXT
000°2 - 000'L 000'74E 00004 000'¥0} 000124 000'04 000' 441 sielg
(000'29) {000°6) (000'e8) 000°£02 000'L¥ 000094 000'SpL 000'8€E 000204 jooy
000'se - 000'GE 000'26€ 000'€ 000'68€ 000°22¥ 000'¢ 000'v2¥ swel
000'6¥ % 000'6% 000'vS2 - 000'¥G2 000°€0€ - 000'€0€ aInjonAsqng
000'ce 000'22 000°LL 000'612 000'6L 000°'¥¥L 000262 000'£6 000'6S1 suoniowaq
3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
il jusiuysiqingey  PlIing MeN (TG USRI Pling meN 201 USIYSHKYMNSY  PlING meN
| eoussepit {50 AInp paiep 18 AvH) G obeIS {10 AoY) 3 9bBIS

JLVYINILST SNOIATHd HLIM NOILYITIONOD3d €

NNISNW ANV AYITIVD 1YV WYHNZLT3IHO



4711 uopbue sineq

16} 000°62€
- papnjox3
161 000°62¢

(9) (000'01)

€5 000'16
61 000'2€
yei 000°212
(es1)  (000'192)

8o

&L

9e 000°19
cve 0002y
W3 3
W S0LL VID

83U

Page 97

*WiU0D 0} ual - Jdwaxs | YA 198loid sewnssy (A1)
*$1S00 WIHU0D 0] JudlfD - Ajuo saauemoly (111)

*0)@ uoneoydde Buluueld snid (918 D-NAD "lueyNsuo) Buusle)) sjuswjuiodde [euonippe SapnjoUl S88) [BUOIIPPE JOj B0UBMO|IY (1I)

616'¢ 0000009

= papnjox3
815’ 000°000°9
€62 000'00S
88 000°0S+
o8 000'se
cl 000°02
801 000'969
€51 000°192
0852 000'8YE'Y
2gee 000°G6€
z papnpx3
€0€ 000°91S
910'c  000°Leb'E
W3 3
W G0L'L VWID

16bpng panciddy

£50'y  000'080°0
- pepnjox3
£50'¢ 0000809
0L 000'S5Z
00F  000°0S}
! 000'GH
el 00002
19 000'L6
S8y 000'82L

yIZ’E  000°128'Y

126 000°1L28'Y

€92 000'S6E
- papniox3
G8E  000°LLS
996'z  000'6¥8'C
w3 3
AU 005"} VIO

(1g AsY) q abeis

SUONIPUOD J8xJBWI JUBLIND 108181 0} Bulp10oo. Pajsnipe usaq Sey uone|ju! J0) souBMOllY (1)

S9JON
060'v  000°080°% 850'¢  000'LO0'S 1809 J99]0id winy NG pajedidpuy [810L
s papnox3 - papnjox3 w %S'LL @ LYA
060’ 000°080°s [EBSO'P  000'L00'S 6002 O e 51800 108[0id (€101 qng
P papnjou| L02 000°G5e () 101 luswdinba ‘344 1o} sdUEMO|lY
- papnjou| 22l 000'0G1 (up UON08]|0D JuBLNO Bunols / Buriueosp 10} SOUBMO|IY
LE 000°0} 14 000°S [BAOLLIA] S0JSEQSE J0) SOUBMO||Y
L8 000°0} 8 000°0}4 sAaAns 10} 8OUBMO|IY
€9 000°Z} 09 000'vL ) %6°L @ S99 [RUOIPPE 10} BIUBMO|IY
LIS 000°.E} 08% 000'165 %1'Gl @ S84 [BUOISS8J0)d

6002 Dy 18 S1500 UOHOMISUOD RJ0L

6002 Ot 8IS U0 LG 0] uohejul
o1ep JUBAIND 1B $1865 LUOPINASUOY [B10] GNS

18E'C  000°906 641'c  000'916°C

JEE'E  000°906 6.1'C  000°9L6°E

S62 000'6L 962 000'91LE sa1ouabunuoy Jusi) 10} SOUBMO||Y
- papnjox3 - papnjox3 %g @ UO1oNJSu09 paseyd Joj JOA0 BlIX3
€0v 00080+ 18€ 000'0L¥ %G1 @ dHO PUB Swijaid SI0}0BHUOD U
£€89'2 000'6LL L¥G'2  000'0EL'E 1509 [BJUBWS|T [B10 |
W3 3 dW/3 3
W 892 VID W 2eel vID

JusWYSIInieY

AHYWAINS LSOO 103rodd 2

(000"t 13-) 18 Buines psaibe Ajsnoiraid sy} jo naij ui (000°L3-) st Buines pasodoud juauno syl se (000’ £3-) @ uonnquisip Jemod |lews asijeuoney (1

(000'63-) 1e Buines paaibe A

{000'v23-) @ seords Ai9)eb 0} j04juod AypIWNY Jo [9A9) asifeuoney (y

snoiraid ay} Jo nay| Ul (000'¥3-) S! Buires pasodoid Juaiund ay) se (000'G3-) @ Walshs uonoalep a1y asijeuoney (B

(ejqeAeIyoRUN SE padiew Ajsnojaaid sem ybBnouyye pansiyoe Buiaes) 000’223 @ Bulpjing uosse) ybny o} weisAs Anoas apeifidn o) syiom Nwo (4

(000'213-) ® seoeds Aig|ieb 0} spuig Jnoxoe|q HWO (8
(000'€£3-) @ Buipjing uossen ybnH 0} susa10s pue sdueuS Bulsixe ay) uejay (p
(000'63-) @ preoquajseld yyum aoejdal pue sjoued |lem disnode Jwo (9

(000'¥13-) @ Ajjesauab (sa) Auenb Ba) ;w/093 J0 yYsiuy 100} Yum aoejdal 81810u0d pajeoy; Jepmod HWO (q

(000'13-) @ Aluo doysxiom o} (sejn Ausenb *6°8) zWw/093 J0 ysiuy 100l yum edejdal 81810u00 pajeo|) Jepmod WO (e

-:a1e a|qeAaIyoR JaBuo| Ou Swa) 8y ‘9|qeA3IYdR

186U0| OU 818 000'8,3 Bul[R10} SBUIAES U} PaLLIU0D BABY WES | 8u} $$8001d UONENSUCD UBISep 8y} yUBNoIYL "000'S 3 JO PuUsdsIBpUN UB 81280 [|IM ‘PBIndes Ji ‘yalym 000°'663 Bullelo) sbuines paynusp! arey wes | 8y

'600z A1eniga4 ul panss| sem (v AaY) ueld 1500 g abelg aouis 000°89€3 Aq paonpal sem puadsiano siy] Juswsje Buiping yoee Joj sasealoul ayl 1o}

BuiLoSEal Pajielap B PUB SJBWNSe SNoiAaid BU} YIIM LUONEIOU0Sa) B S3pNjoul € UOIDaS "000'000'93 40 18Bpng paroiddy ayj 1240 000°083 SI YoIUM 000'080'93 18 SPUBIS MOU 150D 198[01d LN INQ pajedionuy [el0 8y

‘oBeUaH YsyBuT pue 3gy0 YiM $S820.d UOIRINSUOD U} JO JNsal B sk sabueyo sajeiodiooul yaiym ‘(g uonoes ui palsy) wea ubiseq eyl Aq 8|qe|ieAe spew uoiewIojul 8y} uodn paseq si ueld 100 q 8belS siyL

Y ) uopbueT sireq

AHVYINNNS 3ALLNO3IXT |

WNASNIN ANV AHITIVD 1HY WYHNELTIHO



d171 uopbue sineq

onduAe |y Wuljuod 0 WeeD

REPNG LGS Of 1D - VB 1900 SNOMAX IN0 SIUIS 00O 0053 Wi PNDaK
790pNq WAL ) JREY

‘310 UEIYAde BULATRK 'SRMLAOIM RUOUFEY
‘d¥NG 310 ‘KO 'S98

URHENL 0)87 $1000)E XBEU SIUC 0PI |

6002 AMNIGR.S PAIRP URY $507) ¥ A8H INO 83018 PRSURLUN PaLNSSY
RINSOR WRDVD 1Ny SoWNsEY

“(B2uri UL vl 03 AE30] BPOM PR SRAIP] 97) Kipuns o o

Page 98

ooy UESOD DOINGS LM UL Ui DESE) Jamod IS IIAE] RUNI0IME PESING) LM SUY| U1 POTIAG) BuiDr) PNl INSUWLBYIID PR UOHNQUITIP AT
WA M 0] PAVAL UOTERSU JHD ‘PIPOT RBIL ORI Pt PosAdl VOB MHLT
oy
‘aRwAEIURS U1 8BRS O] NP POSERIN SMOH
“oammyes 0 06D O] 80D DOTERIIU! LOTRIFIS NS
"B O OM] 1LO3) £\ RUOFPDY
“INGZI-} WAULSNIO) P (073 PG MU O] SIUBMOIR BT} J0 LOSHILIO (31y3-) WWeISAS PASLONONS J0 Noq L1 LSAS SPUI EOUE
“(HZ3) BUTA® DUE 0SRUBIS US o1 Bupos J0uIf 10 oy 1 Oty AN SeUsILY DUIED 10 LOTRSIRUDIR) RXUI0)
“I9a3-] 53604 OF JDALIS 10 1Y LY LU DIROYG BAND (HG3-) Bl 1) LOARZIZ6dS PAONDe! |(4D13-) Burddes MoK 10
“t19-3) Bun D03 Wiy N Uou | (M0ZT-) (941, 18n0o6q) SpRUBE fm IFEN0JT PEINDER
“I3023) useios pazeyl pore itiga} suonamd
U043} 100} dous JABEN (4013} 0L 200 0] SHpRISTEN STERD {(NA3) VIS 9SUQ POSERIIU |SI00p O) Dupes £Q 193i0 inq Bujem RN BUCLS POSERIU|
“(NZZ3] $9pRASN(EQ [99LE PRONEAs P (33} Ifeis BurRol) 08 Ribd) 6L0 IO
) U0 umid S0P “(4£3) iowoned 0U0ls (HE3) TUBHIO0) ‘(HA3) SURI] JOGUN FUE WOMBIIS PRSBAKUL ‘(W61 3) SSIUNIN RIS POSERLU|
(0223} UORIIG A O1 AUNI3NS 0O 10 10;SUB)L (453 19104 1003 Q) (4¥3) 90191 001 08 &N Pasea.IUN Ainibies
51 A/R K00y POPUASSNS ‘(4531 J00() 151 O SLAUCIOD 0} SITIAP VONAEULDI DU (HG3) SIIBW JBBUS R (HGES] SUBEQ O0M H)¥3:) SULNOD 0 0U PN
UHOZI) AHSE 10 UOBOGBANLS BIOYRICq 1RO 73] PO J93 LLON O SWE0Q PUN Panpos ARlis SIS g 0 SSeUML Padnpey
PALLRIOLN SURLIRS LOTRDIR PUT LOTOLRD © 8005

(A0

SOION

¥O) uopbuesireg

1803 1a9fo1d winy InQ paiedionuy [e1oL
%S'LL ® LVA

000'85¢'S 000'080°1 000'1.00'¢

000'860°L

{000°vS¢E) 000860t 000°668'S £00°080°L 000°100'¢ 6002 Dy 18 51600 199014 810} GnG

{000'5te) papniou| {000'6v2) 000°00S papnjou| 000'00S 000'652 papnou| 000'652 19] ‘uewdinba 344 1o} SOUBMOY
= papnjou| ~ 00005+ papnjou 000°0S+ 000'05+ papnjou 00005+ Bunuesaq 10§ 83uemo|jy

s - - 00064 00004 000'S 000'GL 000°0L 000'S [BAOWAY SOJSAQSY JO] BOUEMO||Y

= . o 000°02 000°0} 000'04 000'02 000'0} 00004 skaang Joj souemo|ly
(000°€) (000'1) {000'2) 000'v6 000'81 00092 000'16 000°ZL 0002 %6’} @ $89} [RUONIPPE 10} BIUEMO||Y
{000°s1) (000’1 {000'p1) 000'¥bL 000'6€4 000'509 000822 000'£E} 000165 %151 @ (wee | 8100) $88 [EUOISS3J0I

6002 OF 38 1509 UORINASUOY 8101
0102 DZ 01 82UEMO|[E UOREHU|

000°006

(00021}

{000'2L) 000°906 000'918°E BILP UBLING I8 B1SOY UORONIISUOD [210] GNS

. - . 000°'56€ 00064 000'91€ 000'56€ 000'64 000'91E $810u8BUNU0D JUBID IO} BOUBMO|Y
papnox3 pepnox3 popniox3 papnox3 papnox3 papnjox3 papnjox3 papnjox3 papnjox3 % 2 ® U0lIoNIISu0d paseyd 10j 1010 BIXT
{000'%1} (0o0'2) {oo0'21) 000°16S 000°0L1 000'28v 000245 000'80} 000°0L% %G1 @ dBHO Pue Swi|aid S JOJBIUCD UIeyy

je10L ang

{000°G) - {000's) 000°GE = 000'Ge 000'0€ = 00008 SHIOM [BUIBIXT

- - - 000°'€9 - 000'€9 000'€9 2 000°€9 SOINDS [EWIBIXT
{o00°g4) (000'G1) = 000°GH 000'GH x : - - 1G ON 0} S80I1A8S 3B
(000'6) (000'2) {000°2) 000°'SL 000'S} 000'09 000'99 000°El 000°€S UOJI93ULOY U] HIOM Siop|ing
{000°2) - (0002) 000'58 - 000'G8 000'c8 - 000°'e8 sun
{o00°2) 000'€ 1000's) 000°€6 000'S} 000'8Z 00016 000'8} 000'€L suone((eisuj isijeadg
0002 000'% {000°2) 00008+ 00025 000'821 00028+ 00095 000°92+ SUOJIE|[BISU] SUOHEDIUNWILIOY
{ooo's) - (oc0's) 00004 000'} 000'6 000'6 000'L 000'8 SUONE|[BISU| BAIDBI0IE

- - - 00052 0002 000'€2 000's2 000'2 000'€2 suonej[eIsu| sen [einjeN
000" 000'S (000°1) 000'15€ 000°0F 000'11€ 000'6SE 000'G¥ 000°01E suone|[eisu| [edu10a|3
0002 000'€ (0001 000'v6Y 000'8E4 000'95€ 000'96% 000174 000656 juawyeas sy pue BupesH aoeds ‘uoneliuan

- e . 000°'2€ B 000'2€ 00026 = 000°2¢ 291n0G 1o
000'4 000°L : 00067 0002 0002y 00008 000'8 000'2¥ suolie|eisuj Ja1em
0002 000't 000'+ 000°1€ 000'8 000'€2 000'ce 000'6 00042 suonejjeisul [esodsiq
000t 000't = 00074 000 000'01 000'GH 000'S 00004 saoue|ddy Aieyues
{000'87} (000'se} (000'€2) 000'€€2 000'4¥1 000'26 000681 000'94 4 000'69 sBumi4 pue sainixi4
{000'2) - (000'2) 000'9S 000'94 0000 000'6¥ 000'91 000'€E saysiul4 Buijie)
(000's2) 000t (000'62) 000'614 000'84 00010} 000'v6 00022 000'2L S8Ys|ul4 J00]4
{000'62} {000°01) (000'61) 000'821 000'GE 000'€6 000'66 000'52 000'vL saysiild IIEM
00062 000°2 000'8} 00025+ 00028 000024 000'281 000'vp 000'8€E} 5100 PUE SUOHINEJ ‘S|[EM, [BUIBI|
000°8} 0000 000'8 000'90S 000'eS 000'€S¥ 000'%2S 000'€9 000'19% $100Q PUB SMOPUIM 'S|IEM [BWaIX3
(0o00'¢2) - (000°£2) 000'¥1 00004 000°1€4 000744 000'0+ 000'¥04 sielg
00092 - 000'92 000' 184 000'L% 000'v€4 000'202 000'L¥ 000'094 jooy
000'61 - 000'61 000626 000'e 000°0LE 000°26€ 000'¢ 000'68€ swesd
(000'v2} - (000'¥2) 000'842 = 000'842 000'¥52 > 000'¥5e aInpnisgng

- - - 000'612 00062 000°¥¥1 000612 000'GZ 000'v¥ 4 suonjowsq

3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

WBWYSKUNIOY

JUBWHISIGINAY  PInE MeN PIiNg MmN

doUBIHG

JUBUIYSIENIEY

PING MaN
{80 Aerugad pojep y Aoy) g abeis

[©jo)
(60 Ap pajep |g asg) g abels

JLYNILST SNOIATHd HLIM NOILVITIONOO3d €

WNISNN ANV AHITIVO LYY WYHNILTIHO



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALFEa_W@gJM PROJECT Exhibit 2

Exhibit 2

Unsigned final account agreement letter addressed to ISG from
AECOM

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art
Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any

of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or
otherwise, to anyone else.

This exhibit forms an integral part of the
report of Grant Thornton UK LLP dated
19 January 2015



= AECOM +44 (0) 117 9277832 tel
“ 284 M Page 1@6cnor. Portwall Place +44 (0) 117 9251350  fax
Portwall Lane

Bristol BS1 6NA
www.aecom.com

21 August 2014

SOC/AL

Rob Martin / Jeremy Gorman

ISG

Parklands,
Hambrook Lane,
Stoke Gifford,

Bristol

BS34 8QU

Dear Rob / Jeremy,

Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum | Final Account Agreement

This letter represents an agreement between the Employer and the Contractor to vary the Contract in
order to compromise by full and final settlement all direct or indirect loss and/or expense costs, delays and
claims actual or potential in respect of the period between the commencement of the Contract.

The following Enclosures are attached hereto:

Appendix A: Final Account Agreement Report dated 02 December 2013.

Notwithstanding the position described above, in consideration of the benefits and obligations passing
between the parties in accordance with the contract, the Employer and the Contractor have agreed to the

following terms of settlement in respect of all delays between the commencement of the Contract and the
date of this letter:

1

The Employer shall pay to the Contractor the sum of £4,780,000 for full and final settlement of the
Final Account as discussed above;

The Employer shall not pursue Liquidated Damages; and

The Contractor shall pursue no claim for an extension of time or loss and expense or otherwise by
way of a relevant event in respect of any delay to the Contract or Subcontract;

The Employer signifies his agreement to these terms by the issue of this Letter.

(Signed for the Contractor) (Date)

Yours sincerely

Andrew Langmaid
Director
AECOM

Enc. Appendix A: Final Account Agreement Report dated 02 December 2013.

AECOM Professional Services LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in
England and Wales with registered number OC306911. A list of members- names is
available for inspection at MidCity Place, 71 High Holborn, London WC1V 6QS, the
firm's pnincipal place of business and registered office. Regulated by the RICS



REVIEW OF CHELTENHAM ART GALE%Q%IU@QJJT PROJECT Exhibit 3

Exhibit 3

Redacted Cheltenham Art Gallery and Museum Redevelopment
- Project Initiation Document (PID)

© Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved. This exhibit forms an integral part of the
This report was prepared solely for CBC for the Cheltenham Art report of Grant Thornton UK LLP dated
Gallery & Museum review. Neither Grant Thornton UK LLP nor any 19 January 2015

of its partners or staff owe any duties, whether in contract, tort or
otherwise, to anyone else.



Page 102

ooy & o)

heritage fi T A

lotteryfund CHELTENHAM

b ART GALLERY & MUSEUM
CHELTENHAM Sut{chLInErs\.JMuﬁm LOTTERY FUNDED DEVELOPMENT TRUST

BOROUGH COUNCIL

Art Gallery and Museum
Redevelopment

PROJECT INITIATION DOCUMENT

Author REDACTED, Project Manager

Owner REDACTED, Project Sponsor

DOCUMENT HISTORY

Document Location: S:\Special Projects\AGM redevelopment Project\Start Up and
Closure\AG&M Project Initiation Document.doc

Version Version Date Summary of Changes

Number
0.1 June 2011 First draft
0.2 June 2011 Second draft
0.3 4 July 2011 Third draft
0.4 7 July 2011 Fourth draft
0.5 14 July 2011 Fifth draft
0.6 19 July 2011 Sixth draft following SLT review
0.7 2 August 2011 | Following further suggestions from REDACTED
0.8 11 August 2011 | Changes following project team meeting including definitions

of construction roles

This document is to be approved by:

Name Role Version approved
REDACTED Project Sponsor 0.4
REDACTED Cabinet Member for Sport and Culture 0.6
REDACTED Heritage Lottery Fund

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document

Version 0.8 - Page 1 of 17




Page 103
1 Project Background

Cheltenham Art Gallery and Museum (AG&M) was established between 1898
(gallery) and 1907 (museum) and now holds several outstanding collections

(many of which were given by local people); including a nationally designated
Arts and Crafts Movement collection, much of which relates to the Cotswolds.

In April 2005 Cheltenham Borough Council (CBC) Cabinet commissioned a
major strategic review report on culture in Cheltenham (the ‘Pratley’ report) to
ensure its future health and sustainable development. The report was
approved by Cabinet in March 2006 — outlining the major conclusions and the
Council actions to be taken as a result of the findings, which included outline
proposals for the construction and refurbishment costs of £4m, as part of a
development scheme at the AG&M.

Since the review, progress on the scheme has been steadily maintained, and
in June 2007, a two-stage RIBA Open Design Competition was launched. A
total of 77 international entries were received, and, following two stages of
public consultation, shortlisting and views from an expert Advisory Panel and
the Competition Jury Panel, the architects, Berman Guedes Stretton were
appointed.

Fundraising continued throughout 2008, 2009 and 2010 and, in October 2010,
the cabinet agreed to delay the scheme until the outcome of a bid to the
Heritage Lottery Fund was known and to underwrite the additional funding
requirement. Following HLF confirmation of funding, the AG&M closed its
doors to the public on 31 March and decanting started on 1 April.

This project initiation document defines the work needed to redevelop the
AG&M and bring it back into operation.

2 Project Definition

2.1 Project Objectives
The objective of the project is the redevelopment and reopening of the
Cheltenham Art Gallery and Museum to provide, as specified in the agreed
design:
e adedicated picture gallery
o centralised storage and workshop areas
¢ public archive and other study facilities
o flexible temporary exhibition galleries
¢ dedicated spaces for schools and other learning projects (formal and
informal learning), outreach services and arts development programmes
e ground floor café / bistro and separate retail outlet
e ground floor reception and informal display areas
e a pedestrian link between Clarence Street and Chester Walk
to be fully open not later than April 2013.

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document
Version 0.8 - Page 2 of 17



The project makes a substarﬁiglqgt%t())u%on to CBC’s corporate objective of

enhancing the provision of arts and culture

CBC’s commitment to the project is reflected in its identification as an action
on its five year strategy framework.

2.2 Approach
The project will be managed according to PRINCEZ2 standards supported by
CBC’s own in-house guidelines for resource management, reporting etc.

The project will report formally every four weeks, along with other major
corporate programmes and projects (currently six in number), directly to
CBC’s Operational Programmes Board, made up of its Senior Leadership
Team and programme managers.

Additionally CBC’s corporate strategy, which includes this project, is
monitored

quarterly by the Senior Leadership Team

every six months by the council’s Economy and Business
Improvement Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the council’s
Cabinet.

2.3 Project deliverables
The main deliverables of the project will be:

1.

N o

9.

The redeveloped and refurbished building. It is the responsibility of the
appointed building contractors to deliver the building according to the
agreed plans.

Completion of the organisational re-structures and appointment of new
teams including the merger of the AG&M Visitor Services team with
the Tourist Information Centre’s team.

. The completion of the re-canting and fitting-out programmes and the

re-opening of the building to the public.

The relocation of the Tourist Information Centre within the new ground
floor reception area

Operational procedures — including the revised Normal Operating Plan
/ Emergency Action Plan and completion of the 10-year Management
& Maintenance Manual

Staff fully trained in the operation of the redeveloped building.
Agreements with partners, tenants and suppliers of services
Awareness of the redevelopment and relaunch (including rebranding)
throughout the community and other stakeholders.

Completion of the Evaluation Report with reference to the completion
of the project and the Activity programme

10. Financial statements of funds raised and their application.
11. Installed and tested technology

2.4 Scope and Boundaries

Within Scope

As described above

Outside Scope

Physical integration with the Library building

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document
Version 0.8 - Page 3 of 17



e AG&M Programme taﬁr%%%c:(la'gl?ring the shutdown of the main site
e Re-decoration of the third floor offices (1989 building)

o Refurbishment of the events space on the first floor (current meeting
room)

2.5 Constraints
The project’s constraints are:
e The building must be fully open by April 2013 when it will host the
Maijor National Portrait Gallery Exhibition
e The project must meet HLF funding conditions:
o A project execution plan by the end of July, which sets out the
clear objectives / deliverables, before HLF allow work to start.
o A full partnership agreement in place before the end of
December 2011 with the University of Gloucestershire
(Summerfield gallery) and Gloucestershire Guild of Craftsman
(retail shop)
e CBC’s support for the underwriting of any funding shortfall after
October 2010 must not exceed £922K
e The Art Gallery and Museum must be able to maintain a programme
of educational and outreach services during the period when the main
building is closed.

2.6 Dependencies
Other CBC projects are potentially dependent upon the redevelopment:

e Leisure and Culture Review — the review reports to Cabinet in July
2011 on the leisure and culture needs of the community and will
recommend that a business case is developed, by April 2012, to
propose the most appropriate delivery arrangement for the AG&M
which

o delivers the outcomes and measures of success required by
the Heritage Lottery Fund,;

o meets the requirements of the HLF special conditions;

o creates an opportunity to secure wider economic and creative
growth as well as the regeneration potential that a cultural
quarter presents for the town; and

o reduces the ongoing AG&M operational subsidy (based on an
appropriate business case)

and that, as part of this process, there is engagement with all relevant
partners and stakeholders to ensure that options and outcomes are
fully identified, assessed and consulted upon.

e Cheltenham Development Task Force — the task force is delivering a
revitalised urban environment and is developing ideas and plans for
the areas around the AG&M - Cheltenham’s Cultural Quarter.

The dependencies will be monitored by the programmes / projects
themselves and the council’s Operational Programmes Board (see section 2.2
above)

3 Assumptions
None identified at present

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document
Version 0.8 - Page 4 of 17



Page 106

4 Initial Business Case

4.1 Benefits
The anticipated benefits of the project are:

Transform the AG&M enabling it to attract national and international
touring collections
Increase (physical) visitor figures from around 74,000 per year to
115,000 per year.
More diverse audiences introduced to, and participating in heritage,
specifically by targeting six key groups
o Young people aged 16-25
o Students
o People from under-represented groups (including culturally
diverse / socio-economic disadvantaged families)
o Locals (from Cheltenham, Gloucester, Gloucestershire)
o Teachers and school groups
o Day visits (e.g. tourists from counties surrounding
Gloucestershire, South West and adjoining regions, and
visitors from the wider UK and overseas)
including doubling the percentage of visitors from under-represented
groups
Contribute to the long-term sustainability of Cheltenham’s cultural
offer, working with cultural partners and providers such as the
University of Gloucestershire and the Gloucestershire Guild of
Craftsmen
Increase visitor engagement, participation, learning and enjoyment
Engage more people in training opportunities
Increase access to the site and the surrounding area
Engage more people in a range of voluntary activities and more
diverse volunteers
Make a major contribution to CBC’s target outcome of using arts and
culture to strengthen communities, strengthen the economy and
enhance and protect our environment.
As a result of the increased space, a greater proportion of the
collections will be on show at any one time.
Provide a first step in the development of a Cheltenham Cultural
Quarter including the area around St Mary’s Church by encouraging
the use of facilities by diverse organisations and by opening up access
to the churchyard
A new base for the Tourist Information Centre making the service fully
accessible for all its users and adding value through the café and retail
outlet leading to an improved service at lower cost.
AG&M operational subsidy reduction of £50K p.a. from 2013/4

Overall responsibility for realising benefits rests with the Museum, Arts and
Tourism Manager supported by the Director — Wellbeing and Culture.

Responsibility for checking that the project is on track to deliver benefits rests
with the project board during the lifetime of the project.

A plan for benefits realisation will be developed during the project and all
outstanding responsibilities and actions arising from it will be assigned during
project closure.

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document
Version 0.8 - Page 5 of 17



Page 107
4.2 Costs
The anticipated capital cost of the redevelopment is £6.3M. £5.38M has been
raised so far (May 2011).

Capital costs are met by a number of organisations and individuals including:
e Cheltenham Art Gallery & Museum Development Trust

Heritage Lottery Funding

Summerfield Charitable Trust

Friends of Cheltenham Art Gallery and Museum

The Monument Trust

Foyle Foundation

Garfield Weston Foundation

Wolfson Foundation

Cheltenham Borough Council

Fundraising efforts are continuing to cover the outstanding costs, CBC has
agreed to underwrite any shortfall up to £922K.

The internal staff costs of the project are estimated as between 4 and 6
person years and are set out in more detail in section 8.2 below.

The anticipated ongoing costs are included in the council’s Medium Term
Financial Strategy.

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document
Version 0.8 - Page 6 of 17



] o Page 108
5 Project Organisation

Main Stakeholders
: Operational
Fund|ng Soc & Comm CBC Programmes
bodies(see Overview & Cabinet Board
section 4.2) Scrutiny
: Committee E E
i Executive Sponsor / Sponsor
| Project
i Support
A I I |
Senior Project Project Suppliers
User Manager Assurance
Design Buildings Procurement
Team Project Legal
Manager Finance
Human Resources
Audit
Building (F;gorg?nrijnications
Contractors ICT
Health and Safety
Project Team

The diagram above shows the structure of the project team and its
relationship to the main stakeholders. A full list of stakeholders is included in
section 6 below.

The responsibilities of project team roles are set out at length in CBC’s online
project management guide and the PRINCE2 methodology. The notes below
are intended to summarise the most important aspects.

Role Role holder Summary of Responsibilities

Executive REDACTED Ensures support from the council’s

Sponsor executive board and represents the project
at that level.

Sponsor REDACTED Ensuring the success of the project — that it

meets its objectives and that its
deliverables allow the projected benefits to
be achieved. Represents the project at
senior leadership team level (including
reporting to the Operational Programmes

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document
Version 0.8 - Page 7 of 17



O

Role

Q]

Role hol

age 109
erv

“Suimmary of Responsibilities

Board) and gains commitment from major
stakeholders and participants.

Senior User

REDACTED

Ensuring that what is delivered meets the
needs of its users (community, customers,
tenants and staff).

Overall responsibility for delivering project
benefits.

Liaises with fundraising bodies and cabinet
member, the Buildings Project Manager,
the Design Team (architects, QS, M&E,
structural engineers) and CDM Co-ordinator

Architect

REDACTED

Coordination of the design team.

Overall responsibility for the delivery of the
design.

Prepare information for and liaise with
statutory authorities.

Achieve sign off from statutory authorities
Administer the building contract.

Design Team

REDACTED

Prepare design of the elements of the
building.

Prepare specifications and design
drawings.

Inspection of the built works

Buildings Project
Manager

REDACTED

Ensuring the redevelopment and
refurbishment of the building within budget,
time and quality targets.

Clerk of Works

REDACTED

Represent the interests of the client with
regards to ensuring quality of both materials
and workmanship standards

Project Manager

REDACTED

Ensures all deliverables meet budget, time
and quality targets.

Legal Support
(contracts)

REDACTED

Ensures the legal requirements of the
building and professional fees contracts are
met.

Legal Support
(except
contracts)

REDACTED

Ensures the legal requirements for grants /
leases / tenants are met. Provides legal
input to cabinet reports.

Procurement

REDACTED

Ensures procurements undertaken by the
project are conducted according to
professional and corporate standards.

Finance

REDACTED

Ensures adequate management of project
spend and drawdown of funds.

Human
Resources

REDACTED

Deals with staff issues including
restructures, training and employee
relations issues.

Audit

REDACTED

Provide an independent overview of the
project assurance arrangements and to

offer advice on controls in support of the
effective management of project risk

Property

REDACTED

Provides technical expertise to support the
selection of building contractors, and
monitor the delivery of the contract.
Advises the Senior User on building issues
including acceptance of the finished build.

Property

REDACTED

Sources temporary
premises/accommodation for use by the
AGM while the present facility is closed

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document
Version 0.8 - Page 8 of 17




PAa

a 110

Role

/al
Role holde® ™

1"Summary of Responsibilities

including administration and coordination
between all parties

Communications | REDACTED Manages and co-ordinates execution of the
project’'s communication plan.

ICT REDACTED Delivers voice and data services to the
redeveloped building. Supports the decant
and provision of temporary technology
facilities during the build.

Health and REDACTED Provides advice on health and safety

Safety issues.

Project Support | REDACTED Organises meetings, takes minutes,

manages project documentation.

5.1 Project Team

Will consist of the sponsor, senior user, supplier representatives and project
manager and will meet monthly or as varied by agreement.

5.2 Project Board

The project board consists of:

Cabinet Member
Project Sponsor
Senior User

Buildings Project Manager (during the building phase of the project)
Project Manager

and will meet monthly.

The main focus of the board will be to provide overall direction and
management including monitoring the business case and agreeing any
changes, approving any exception plans, approving major changes and
signing-off the project. Its role is described in more detail in PRINCE2
documentation and CBC'’s in-house guidelines.

6 Project Stakeholders and Communication Plan
The main stakeholders are:
e Funding Bodies
o Heritage Lottery Fund - main contact point within HLF is
REDACTED

O O O O O O O

AG&M Development Trust,

Summerfield Charitable Trust

Friends of Cheltenham Art Gallery and Museum
The Monument Trust
Foyle Foundation
Garfield Weston Foundation
Wolfson Foundation

e REDACTED, Cabinet Member for Sport and Culture

e CBC Members and member bodies, overview and scrutiny is provided
by the Social and Community Committee

e Gloucestershire University

e Gloucestershire Guild of Craftsman

e Cheltenham Library — neighbours of the AG&M, their staff have
restricted access to the AG&M building.

e CBC Employees, especially those in the AG&M and the TIC

e Unions

e CBC Senior Leadership Team / Operational Programmes Board

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document
Version 0.8 - Page 9 of 17




The project’'s communication IE))IQrgs%ts:.l'c:nlu;l'the approach for engaging with
and informing these groups in order to ensure that all are aware of the new
scheme and to maximise support for its objectives.

7 Quality Plan

7.1 Quality Standards
The redeveloped and refurbished building must meet the following quality
standards:
e High standards for display facilities
e High environmental standards
e Use natural and reclaimed materials wherever possible

The building work must comply with health and safety standards.
Project management and procurement standards will be those used by
Cheltenham Borough Council, adapted as necessary for use by external

suppliers and stakeholders.

The selection of suppliers will take account of their quality management
approach.

8 Initial Project Plan

8.1 Main Milestones

Milestone Date

Launch phase 3 fundraising 25 May 2011
Return of building tenders 20 June 2011
Appointment of building contractor 26 July 2011
Mobilisation on site 11 August 2011
Begin rebuild — start of demolitions etc. 1 September 2011

Partnership agreement in place with Gloucestershire 31 December 2011
University and Gloucestershire Guild of Craftsmen

Complete rebuild October 2012

Re-open for in-house shows February — April
2013

Major National Portrait Gallery Exhibition September 2013

8.2 Resource Requirements

Indicative estimates of effort required to deliver this project are presented in
the table below:

Person or Group Effort (range during period of
involvement)

REDACTED 1.5 — 2 days per month

REDACTED 17 d / mth (including delivery of touring
programme during shutdown)

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document
Version 0.8 - Page 10 of 17



na 112

)
AG&M Collections Manager 1 ¥3°d7mfh (including delivery of touring
programme during shutdown)
AG&M Exhibitions and 15 d / mth (including delivery of touring
Education Manager programme during shutdown)
Project Manager 1-6d/mth
Legal 1.5d/ mth
Procurement 2 d/ mth (June / July 2011)
3 d/ mth (Aug 2012 — Apr 2013)
Finance 1d/mth
Human Resources (incl 1d/mth
Health & Safety)
Audit 1d/ mth
Property 2.5d/ mth
Communications 1d/mth
ICT Generally about 0.5 d / mth with peaks at
beginning and end of project
Project Support 1d/ mth

Estimates of future internal resource needs will be reassessed at least
monthly and will be included in the quarterly corporate resource planning
process which is intended to ensure adequate resources are available to
CBC’s maijor corporate programmes and projects.

8.3 Schedule
A summary schedule is included in Appendix A.

9 Change Control
Key deliverables will be placed under formal change control once agreed so
that the impact of any significant changes to them can be properly assessed.
These are likely to include:

Architects specifications

Building plans

Project plans

Project Initiation Document

Definition of formal change control procedures is the responsibility of the
project manager.

10 Risk Management
A register of all project risks will be maintained by the project manager and
kept under review by the project sponsor, board and team, ‘Risk’ will be a
mandatory item on the agenda of every project board meeting.

The Building Project Manager will be responsible for maintaining a register of
all risks relating to building construction and informing the Project Manager of
any which potentially impact the completion of buildings work to time, cost,
and quality standards.

The initial risk register is included as appendix 2 to this document. The
current version of the register can always be found here.

11 Project Documentation

Projects will be stored electronically at s:\Special Projects\AGM
redevelopment Project according to CBC’s project management standards.

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document
Version 0.8 - Page 11 of 17



Page 113
12 Project Reporting

The project sponsor will provide a Status Report monthly to the Project
Board and to the Operational Programmes Board.

REDACTED attends and reports on regular meetings with the Development
Trust and the Development Trust Funding Sub-group (a minimum of four
meetings are held per year - but additional meetings are held as and when
required). Regular monthly updates are also submitted to HLF and the other
key funding stakeholders.

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document
Version 0.8 - Page 12 of 17



Appendix 1 — Outline Project Schedule

D Task Name Start | Finish 012 i3
Q4 Q1 | Q4 a1 Q4

Oct [ Nov [ Dec | Jan [Feb [ Mar | Apr [ May [ Jun | Jul [Aug |Sep | Oct [Nov [Dec | Jan [Feb [ Mar | Apr [May [Jun | Jul | Aug [Sep | Oct [Nov

1 INITIATE 310311 19/0811

2 v Mobilise team and define project 310311 140711

3 v Agree definition with SLT 140711 200711

4 v Agree definition with Cabinet Member 210711 250711

5 Agree definition with Heritage Lottery Fund 260711 19/08111

] + DECANT 310311 2207111

7 v AG3M Closure 310311 3103411

8 v Move collections out of AGEM 310311 230611

9 v Move staff out of AGEM 310311 220711

10 PROCURE BUILDING CONTRACTOR 2000611 10/08/11

1" v Receive completed tenders 20008111 20/06/11

12 | /| Evaluatetenders and agree appoirtment 200611 1500711

13 | /| Appoint contractor 260711 261071

14 Contractor mobiises 270711 10108111

15 BUILD (plan to be detailed by buiding contractors) 110811 311012 v

16 Cortractor mokilises on site 11081 01/09/1

17 Rebuid 010911 311012

18 FUNDRAISE 2500511 3010313 :

19 | /| Launch phase 3 fundraising 2505A1 | 2500511 !

20 Phase 3 fundraising 2505A1 301212

21 Produce statement of funds raised and their appication 3012112 3000313 |

2 AGREE PARTHERS AND SUPPLIERS 010611 011012 : v

235 | [ Putagreements in place with university and guild 0106A1 | 311211

24 | [ Putagreements in place with other suppliers and partners 02004112 2910912 | T

25 | [ Putagreementsin place for use of caté space 020112 011012 e

2 RESTRUCTURE 310311 250912 : v

27 | /| Agres new front of house structure and fil posttions 31031 2900611 !

28 | [ Agres new operational structure 010911 2710612

29 Implement nevv operational structure 2710612 2510912

30 RETRAIN 01/06/12  30/0513 L 4

31 et Wiite / revise procedures 010612 300812 = = 3

32 Train staff in new procedures 30/08M12 26/0213

33 Test /revise new procedures 26/08M12 300513

34 RE-OCCUPY 020812 28/0213

35 Put new operating contracts in place 020812 311012

36 Fit out building, re-cant and re-occupy 3M0M2 28/0213

37 Install data and communication services 311012 280213

38 RE-OPEN 28/0213  30/0913

39 Move to normal operating 28/0213  26/0913

40 Re-open for in-house exhibitions 280213 29/0413

41 jec] Hational Portrait Gallery Exhibition 02/08A13 300913

42 MANAGE AND COMMUNICATE CHANGE 310311 280913

43 Manage change project 310311 28/0913

44 Communicate and engage 310311 28/0913

45 = Update business plan and develop inttial plan for benefits realisation 010811 310112

(5 COMPLETE 29004113 30/09/13

a7 Review project and complete evaluation report 2904113 26109113

(3 Agree ownership of outstanding issues and benefits realisation 28M07N3 | 2610913

43 Complete project 300913 3010913 73009

50

51 RELATED PROJECTS 3110311 3110513 v

52 Leisure and Culture Commissioning Review 2610771 30/0412 v

53 | Cakinet agrees recommendations 2607A1 261071

sa | [ Cakinet agrees delivery arrangemert for AGaM 3004112 30104112 * 3004

55 Cheltenham Development Task Force (details to be added) 31031 3100543 : :

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document

Version 0.8 - Page 13 of 17

¥ TT abed



Appendix 2 — Initial Risk Register

Art Gallery and Museum Redevelopment Risk Register

Risk

score

Impact and likelihood

Managing risk

- Risk Description Risk 3 3 _ Proposed Action Dead On Responsible
o owner L | Bl glo|® -line | Target officer
S |8 £|l¢g | € for
% o 2‘ 3 8|85
é’ o =| x " o dead-
[=] = line?
Building (Redevelopment and Refit) Risks

1.1 If health and safety standards are REDACTE Jun- 4 2 8 Reduce  Ensure contractors appointed are competent for ~ Apr- Yes REDACTED
not adhered to during the life of the D 11 the task, have a proven track record of safe 13
project this may result in working practices with a relevant health & safety
prosecution by the enforcing management system in place e.g. suitable and
authority. sufficient risk assessments and method

statements

1.2  If archaeological finds are made, REDACTE Oct- 4 3 12 Accept  Monitor archaeological assessment. Aug- Yes Buildings
construction may be delayed and D 10 Replan project if necessary. 12 Project
hence the re-opening deadline Manager /
may not be met. Clerk of

Works

1.3  If bad weather delays the building REDACTE Oct- 3 3 9 Reduce  Build time contingency into the building plan. Sep- Yes Buildings
programme then the re-opening D 10 Replan if necessary 11 Project
deadline may not be met Manager

1.4  If vandalism delays the building REDACTE Oct- 3 2 6 Reduce  Build time / finance contingency into the building  Sep- Yes Buildings
programme then the re-opening D 10 plan 11 Project
deadline may not be met and costs Ensure that the construction site is secure. Manager
may increase due to work needing -U
to be repeated.

1.5  If structural problems are REDACTE Oct- 4 2 8 Reduce  Build time / finance contingency into the building  Sep- Yes Archjegt /
discovered in the existing buildings D 10 plan 11 Buil S
then the re-opening deadline may Ensure that all surveys carried out are thorough. Pro]
not be met and costs may Manf.g.ar
increase.

1.6  If the building is not of an adequate REDACTE Oct- 4 2 8 Reduce  Establish quality as a major criterion for tender Com- Yes REDAFFD
standard then time delays or cost D 10 evaluation. plete
overruns may take place and / or Transfer risk to building contractor. Buildings
the building may not be able to Ensure responsibilities for managing quality are Aug Project
deliver the benefits sought. clear and that any defects are identified as soon 2012 Manager

as possible.
Include contingency in project budget.

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document
Version 0.8 - Page 14 of 17




Appendix 2 — Initial Risk Register

Art Gallery and Museum Redevelopment Risk Register

Risk score

Impact and likelihood

Managing risk

- Risk Description Risk 3 3 _ Proposed Action Dead On Responsible
o owner L | Bl glo|® -line | Target officﬁ
S 8| £|l¢g | € for
X o =| § c
= 2 | E|Llo |8 dead- Q
a 3 line? «Q
1.7  If an excellent BREEAM rating is REDACTE Oct- 2 3 6 Reduce  Monitor throughout the assessment period. ? ? Archifdét /
not achieved, then the project may D 10 Identify any measures or resources that can Servj
not meet the Local Authority target. assist in achieving the desired rating. Engipﬁr
Public Perception / Awareness Risks (@))
21 If there is a poor public response REDACTE Oct- 3 3 9 Reduce Effective marketing — including market research,  On- Yes REDACTED
to the outreach programme whilst D 10 consultation and understanding of audiences going
the building is shut down and / or through continued focus groups — linking into
the exhibitions / events the Audience Development Programme.
programme and new areas within
the development / new extension
then projected income and / or
visitor numbers may not be
reached.
2.2  If awareness drops whilst the REDACTE Oct- 3 3 9 Accept  Maintain presence through events at other Aug- Yes REDACTED
building is being redeveloped, D 10 locations including outreach. 12
future numbers of visitors may Maintain interest through the website, local
reduce. newspaper and other media.
Stakeholder Risks
3.1 [Ifitis not possible to attract REDACTE Oct- 3 3 9 Reduce Ensure that an effective fundraising strategy is On- Yes REDACTED
sponsorship for the main D 10 in place. going
exhibitions programme in the new Include a contingency to explore other
building then the artistic additional income streams
objectives may not be met.
3.2  If later phases of fundraising are REDACTE Oct- 4 3 12 Reduce Plan and execute fundraising campaign Dec- Yes REDACTED
not completely successful then D 10 11
CBC will have to meet the gap
3.3 If there is a change to the ruling REDACTE Oct- 2 3 6 Reduce  Continue to ensure that cross-party support for Jun- Yes REDACTED
party in Cheltenham then support D 10 the scheme exists. 12

for the redevelopment may
reduce leading to changes in
future funding

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document
Version 0.8 - Page 15 of 17




Appendix 2 — Initial Risk Register

Art Gallery and Museum Redevelopment Risk Register

Risk score

Impact and likelihood

Managing risk

- Risk Description Risk 3 3 _ Proposed Action Dead On Responsible
o owner L | Bl glo|® -line | Target officer
S |8 £|l¢g | € for
% o 2‘ 3 8|85
é’ o =| x " o dead-
[=] = line?
3.4  If agreement with HLF is not REDACTE Oct- 0 Reduce  Work with HLF to build reasonable flexibility into  Com- REDACTED
appropriately structured, it may D 10 arrangements, taking account of the outcome of  plete
not be possible for CBC to meet future commissioning activity.
changing future requirements.
Project Organisation Risks
4.1 If the AGM scheme is not REDACTE Oct- 3 4 12 Reduce PutPrince2 project management controls and Com- Yes REDACTED
effectively project managed, the D 10 CBC project manager in place. plete
scheme may not be delivered Appoint a dedicated buildings project manager. Aug
within budget, quality or 08
timescale.
Resource Risks
5.1 If key CBC resource is not REDACTE Jun- 4 4 16 Reduce Identify major areas of risk and plan Apr- Yes REDACTED
sufficiently available, e.g. as the D 11 accordingly. 13
result of resource contention with Use the corporate resource management
other major projects or business process to identify and deal with contention.
as usual, the project may not Use Operational Programmes Board to set
meet its objectives priorities if necessary.
5.2 If CBC (and/ or other partners)is REDACTE Oct- 3 3 9 Reduce  Ensure projected costs are budgeted for. On- Yes REDACTED
unable to adequately subsidise D 10 going 'U
the operational costs of the Maximise operating efficiency. ditto Q
service following redevelopment, Identify and deliver additional income streams. ditto o)
as set out in the MTFS, then the Culture and Leisure Review to recommend the April
community and artistic benefits of most appropriate delivery models 2012 @
the project will not be met. =
5.3  If project costs increase then the REDACTE Oct- 4 3 12 Reduce Establish cost as a major criterion for tender Com- REDAGIED
business case for the project will D 10 evaluation. plete ~

be reduced and / or more
fundraising may be required.

Transfer risk to building contractor.
Manage contract change

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document
Version 0.8 - Page 16 of 17




Appendix 2 — Initial Risk Register

Art Gallery and Museum Redevelopment Risk Register

Risk score

Impact and likelihood

Managing risk

- Risk Description Risk 3 3 _ Proposed Action Dead On Responsible
o owner L | Bl glo|® -line | Target officﬁ
S 8| £|l¢g | € for
X o =| § c
= 2 | E|Llo |8 dead- Q
a 3 line? «Q
Related Project Risks 9%
6.1 If the Culture and Leisure Review = REDACTE May- 4 3 12 Reduce Liaise closely with the review. On- Yes REDA D
investigates and / or recommends D 11 Adopt a staged process to the review. going dit
changes to the target outcomes Ensure that the design of the review takes to dit
and / or delivery model for the account of the needs of the redevelopment. end
AG&M then this may impact the Ensure any relevant business case produced by of ditto
services ability to deliver benefit the review takes into account the impact on the proj-
service. ect

through the redevelopment (e.g.
by absorbing resource)

AG&M Development Scheme - Project Initiation Document
Version 0.8 - Page 17 of 17




Page 119

o Grant Thornton

www.grant-thornton.co.uk
© 2015 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

"Grant Thornton" means Grant Thornton UK LLP, a limited liability partnership.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm within Grant Thornton International Ltd (‘Grant Thornton
International'). Grant Thornton International and the member firms ate not a worldwide partnership.
Services are delivered by the member firms independently.



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 121
AuditCotswolds

1C

Audit Brief

Audit Review of key issues arising from the Grant Thornton Art Gallery & Museum Report
Client Cheltenham Borough Council (Andrew North - Chief Executive Officer)

Auditor(s) Robert Milford

Start Date 29" January 2015

Duration 10 audit days

Introduction

We are conducting a review of the key issues identified in the Grant Thornton Art Gallery and Museum
Report presented to Audit Committee on the 29" January 2015. This work has been requested by the
Corporate Governance Group and is sponsored by the Chief Executive Officer.

This brief is being presented to the Audit Committee to seek their endorsement of this work. This is an
additional piece of reactive work outside of the Audit Plan as approved in March 2014 by the Audit
Committee.

Audit Objective & Scope

Objectives

Listed below are themes arising from the Grant Thornton report, from which questions to determine
‘why’ actions happened / did not happen can be asked — the outcome being to summarise the
responses in a report that will allow an assessment of the extent to which expected or required
processes and controls were followed and complied with.

There are two elements identified in the GT report [time line and financial position] that demonstrates an
overarching theme of:
1) A consistent indication of reporting of inaccurate, untimely, misleading or incomplete
information to various monitoring / stakeholder groups

2) A consistent indication of lack of reporting to Member level monitoring / stakeholder groups
Both of these points are significant factors in the indicated lack of awareness and challenge to the
project timeline and financial positions, by groups to which the key project officers reported to. Without
the awareness and therefore challenge to these two elements, as Grant Thornton indicate, CBC is
unable to take appropriate action/decisions. As a result, some actions may have been without
appropriate authority or possibly avoided.

Sub themes arising from the report are in relation to:
i.Project structure (hierarchy, roles and accountability)
ii.Authorisation and delegation
iii. Third party external use and control
iv.Competency and skills

v.Pressures and priorities

vi.Record documentation, maintenance and retention




Page 122
AuditCotswolds

1C

Audit Brief

vii.Use offormal and informal communications — (verbal updates)

viii.Risk management — during the project
ix.Budget management —including the use of reporting by exception and POM
x.Gate reviews / milestones
xi.changes in roles and processes e.g. project sponsor, reporting from Davis Langdon,

All of the above themes and sub themes pose the question ‘Why’, as in, why did this happen or not
happen.

The purpose of this internal audit review is to ask relevant questions of officers and Members to
determine the Why.

Scope

These themes will be covered using questions delivered through the use of semi-structured face to face
interviews, conducted by Internal Audit supported by Human Resources. The transcript of the interviews
will be summarised, checked for accuracy with the individuals and compared / contrasted with the Grant
Thornton report and CBC policy/procedures and provide more detail on why certain action were or were
not taken. The results of this will be reported back to the Corporate Governance Group, before being
reported back to this committee. It is not anticipated that any recommendations will flow from this report,
merely a summary of the why question results.

Note: not all involved may now be available for interview as some have left the employment of this
organisation. However, Corporate Governance Group has considered this issue and is seeking
appropriate cooporation from individuals and organisations involved.

Reporting

Main contacts for the audit review of the Art Gallery and Museum report are:

Andrew North (Chief Executive Officer)
Corporate Governance Group Officers

A draft report will be produced for the client to check for accuracy and provide a management response.
Individuals interviewed will also have the opportunity to check accuracy of elements arising from their
interviews.

As this is likely to discuss personal or confidential information due consideration will be given to how any
final report will be made available to the Audit Committee. This may include the use of summarised
findings or a private meeting. This will be discussed with One Legal and the Chair of the Audit
Committee prior to finalisation of the report.

Requested circulation:
Audit Committee

Information for Client




Page 123
AuditCotswolds

Audit Brief

1C

Auditor contact details: Robert Milford - Head of Audit Cotswolds.

email Robert.milford@cheltenham.gov.uk

Audit brief agreed
with
Chief Executive:

Audit brief agreed
with
Audit Committee:

Confirmation of Audit Brief agreement — email from the relevant manager or his/her signature of agreement

Approved by Audit
Management:

Date:

Date:

Date:




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	4 Update on audit work in relation to the Wilson Art Gallery and Museum Extension Project
	2015_01_29_AUD_Appendix_2_Grant_Thornton_AG&M_Report
	2015_01_29_AUD_Appendix_3_Internal_Audit_Scoping_Document


